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Characteristics of GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange”)
RG22 R AW (TB%2 AT ]) GEM B % &

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of RMH Holdings
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

E ¥ B

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors, | would like to present
to you the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

REVIEW

During 2022, the Company experienced extremely turbulent market
conditions in its own course of development, with significant structural
transformation in both management and business.

Firstly, in terms of corporate governance, the members of the Board and
management witnessed major shakeups during the year. Due to the
personnel movement, material differences arose within the Board in
internal management, resource allocation, and business direction. As of
the end of the reporting period, the members of the Board remained
unable to reach a consensus on many important issues. In order to review
whether the Company has met the requirements of the Listing Rules of
the GEM and other regulations in terms of corporate governance, the
Company has appointed an independent internal control auditor to review
the effectiveness of our internal control, with the view to achieving further
improvement in corporate governance.

As for business operations, due to severe lack of liquidity, serious flaws in
the business model, and poor management, the Company’s three major
subsidiaries in Singapore were placed under interim judicial management
by the High Court of Singapore in November 2022, while one was in the
provisional liquidation, causing the Company to lose control over them. In
this regard, the assets and businesses of these relevant subsidiaries have
been stripped from the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
2022. The total assets stripped was S$11,739,000, accounting for
48.64% of the Group’s total assets, while the total revenue of the stripped
subsidiaries was approximately S$10,601,000, accounting for 69.03% of
the Group’s annual total revenue. After the above-mentioned asset and
business stripping, the Group’s consolidated business revenue as of 31
December 2022 was S$4,241,000, with a consolidated loss for the year
attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
5%$18,649,000.
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Chairman’s Statement

B

As a result of loss of control over its major subsidiaries in Singapore, the
Company was left to implement a transformation strategy for its core
business operations. The Company shifted from the provision of
dermatological treatment, aesthetic dermatology and related product
sales in various clinics in Singapore to the provision of dental services
focused on dental implants by its subsidiaries in mainland China as our
new core business operations. The Company considered that this
strategic transformation was in the best interests of its shareholders. In
fact, the Company has begun with its dental service deployment since the
end of 2021, and has been actively cultivating and advancing this
business as a new growth engine since the first half of 2022. As of the
end of this reporting period, the Company already contracted over 40
points of sales in mainland China, and set up a direct-operating dental
clinic in Zhongshan, Guangdong, mainly providing dental implant services.
As of 31 December 2022, the total revenue from dental services
amounted to approximately S$915,000, and the net loss attributable to
this single business for accounting purposes was approximately
5$$189,000.

OUTLOOK

The Company will continue to adjust its human resources allocation and
improve its corporate governance, including but not limited to, (1)
strengthen the management restructure by supplementing appropriate
personnel into the Board and management to meet the Company’s
requirements for its business transformation and development plan; (2)
review and improve the corporate governance, including further
improvement in internal control systems, more compliance training, and
introduction of compliance checks and supervision measures.

The Company will focus its resources on developing its core business
operations, and has identified the mainland China as its primary business
area, with dental services focused on dental implant as our core business
operations in the future. In line with the development plans and business
objectives formulated for the next two years, the Company will
concentrate its available internal and external resources on this core
business operation. The Company considers that the experience gained
from exploring dental services over the past year and the data derived
from the rapidly expanding business outlets indicate the feasibility and
effectiveness of its existing business model. The vast population base and
aging phenomenon in mainland China provide the Company with
tremendous market potential for its development plan. The Company
believes that its business objectives are achievable due to the correctness
of its new strategic transformation, and the pragmatism in its development
plan and blueprint.
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Chairman’s Statement
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We will proactively and properly address debt issues and other issues
historically left unresolved. As the relevant Singaporean subsidiaries,
which were originally the major business entities of the Company,
gradually entered bankruptcy proceedings and judicial management, the
business and assets of the said subsidiaries should be stripped from the
Company and its financial statements, resulting in their increasingly
noticeable claims for debts against the various related companies retained
by the Group. The Company will remain in a positive position to exercise
caution in our negotiations and consultations with the creditors, to
safeguard the Company’s rights and interests to the fullest extent, and to
minimize the impact of existing debts on the Company’s current business
operations. In addition, the Company will consider streamlining existing
non-core businesses and assets, so as to reduce the consumption or
erosion by unproductive assets and businesses of our existing resources,
while striving to improve the efficiency of asset utilization and reduce our
operating costs. These efforts aim to create the greatest value for the
Company and its shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to all of our shareholders, customers and business
partners for their continuous support. | would also like to express my
heartfelt appreciation to our management and professional colleagues for
their cohesive teamwork and valuable contribution to the Group.

Yang Zhangxin
Co-Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Company is principally engaged in: (1) the provision of aesthetic
dermatology and treatment services through our subsidiaries in
Singapore, which was originally the core business of the Group
(“Singapore Businesses”); (2) the trading of healthcare and wellness
products and nutritional supplements in Hong Kong (“Trading Business”);
and (3) the provision of dental implant and oral healthcare-related medical
services and sales of related products through our subsidiaries in
mainland China (“Dental Business”).

During 2022, however, there was a significant business restructure
throughout the Group. Prior to October 2022, the Group’s revenue was
mainly derived from four subsidiaries in Singapore, namely Dermatology &
Surgery Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd, Dermatology & Surgery Clinic Pte Ltd,
Dermatology & Surgery Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd and RMH Family Clinic
Pte Ltd (collectively referred to as the “Relevant Subsidiaries”). As of 30
September 2022, based on the consolidated financial statements for the
third quarter, the Singapore Businesses accounted for 69.03% of the
Group’s total revenue.

Following October 2022, the Relevant Subsidiaries in Singapore were
unable to pay their due debts due to insufficient liquidity. They
successively applied to the High Court of Singapore for judicial
intervention, including a series of legal proceedings, such as moratorium
hearing, voluntary liquidation, and interim judicial management. As of 31
December 2022, one of the Relevant Subsidiaries in Singapore was
subject to the liquidation proceedings, and the other three were subject
to interim judicial management.

According to the Singaporean laws, the Company has lost control over
these companies, regardless of liquidation or judicial management.
Therefore, in the consolidated financial statements for 2022, the assets
and business operations of the Relevant Subsidiaries in Singapore have
been removed from the scope of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Although the divestment of these assets and business
operations has had a significant adverse impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year, the Group does not
believes this one-off impact will affect the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in future years.
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As of 31 December 2022,

—  the consolidated financial statements for 2022 show: revenue was
S$4,241,000 and loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company was S$18,649,000

—  the data of the stripped subsidiaries in Singapore in 2022:

Total assets of the Group were S$12,396,000, and the stripped
assets were S$11,739,000, accounting for 48.64% of the total
assets of the Group

Total revenue of the Group was S$4,755,000, and revenue of the
stripped assets was S$9,656,000, accounting for 67.0% of the
total revenue of the Group

Total loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company of
the Group was S$18,649,000, and total loss of the stripped assets
(arising from discontinued operations) was $$5,530,000,
accounting for 29.65% of the total loss of the Group

Following divestment of the Singaporean Businesses, the Company has
two remaining business segments:

The Trading Business saw a significant increase during the year. As of 31
December 2022, the trading amount of healthcare products, nutritional
supplements, and other related aesthetics products increased from
approximately S$199,000 in 2021 to $$3,314,000, representing an
increase of 1,565.33%.

The Dental Business also witnessed rapid growth during the year. In fact,
the Company began to with new business deployment at the beginning of
2022 by registering an operating company (“Operating Company”) in
Zhongshan, Guangdong Province, which commenced business
operations with operating income generated in June. As of the end of
2022, the Operating Company contracted approximately 45 valid
cooperation outlets and established 1 direct dental clinic in mainland
China, specializing in dental implants and dental medical services. As of
31 December 2022, the Operating Company engaged in the new dental
implant business achieved sales of S$1,039,000. Given that the business
is in its initial stage, the net profit performance of the segment was
recorded as in slight deficit with actual losses of S$189,000.
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During the strategical transformation of our core business operations, the
Company upheld the principle of prudence and reviewed the substantial
capital investment into a medical imaging center in Hong Kong (the
“Project”) during the year. The Project involved transactions such as the
purchase of an MRI equipment (Siemens Healthineers MAGNETOM
Lumina) from Siemens for HKD 19.88 million and the purchase of
equipment (GE Revolution CT System with LOGIQ S8 Ultrasound) from
GE for HKD 11.8 million. In absence of sufficient information and
justifications to support the Project, the Board of the Company for the
time being terminated the financial support for the Project.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Company’s core business operations will shift to dental implant
services. To this end, the Company has developed a two-year business
development plan and operational objectives, under which we will strive
to contract a cumulative total of at least 530 dental implant service outlets
(based on standard stores) by the end of 2023, and complete no less
than 19,000 dental implants, with sales revenue of no less than RMB97.4
million and gross profit of RMB18.7 million.

The Company believes that there is a huge market for dental implant
services in mainland China. The exploration of dental services over the
past year and the data derived from the rapidly expanding business
outlets indicate the feasibility and effectiveness of the existing business
model of the Company. The vast population base and aging phenomenon
in mainland China provide the Company with tremendous market
potential for its development plan.

The Company will actively concentrate major resources to support and
promote the continuous development of dental services under practicable
conditions, and strive to complete the Company’s established business
development plan and operational objectives.

The Group will continue to adopt and maintain a prudent and proactive
investment strategy, keep close track of its operational performance to
bring the greatest results and value to the Company’s shareholders.
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Report of the Directors
HRFHRE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under Cayman Companies Law
on 22 March 2017. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange since 13 October 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Particulars of
principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 37 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group is
mainly engaged in three types of business, 1) providing dermatology
aesthetic and treatment services, 2) providing dental care and dental
implantation services, and 3) trading health and health products and
nutritional supplements. Due to the occurrence of liquidation and judicial
management to the Group’s Singapore subsidiaries during 2022, the
nature of the Group’s main business changed significantly in the fourth
quarter of past year. The core business of the Group has changed from
providing dermatology aesthetic and treatment services to providing
dental care and dental implant services and trading business.

Details of the business review for the year ended 31 December 2022,
including a fair review of the Group’s business, principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business are set out in the Chairman’s
statement and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 9 of
this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Dividend Distribution Policy of the Company establishes the principles
to ascertain amounts that can be distributed to the Shareholders as
dividend by the Company. Subject to the applicable law and its Articles of
Association, the Company’s dividend payout will be determined based on
available financial resources, investment requirements and taking into
account optimal shareholders return.
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While determining the nature and quantum of dividend payout, the Board
would take into account the following factors, inter alia:

° Cash flow position of the Company

° Earnings stability

° Long term investments

° Future cash requirements for development

o Economic environment

° Industry outlook for the future years

° Changes in the Government policies, industry specific rulings &

regulatory provisions

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 211 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it engages. The Group strives to improve the
efficient use of the natural resources, including electricity, water and
paper. The Group aims to develop energy saving culture. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and employment.

Details regarding to the Group’s environmental, social and governance
report can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
set out on pages 43 to 91 of this report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CLIENTS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends on
the support from its key stakeholders, including employees, clients,
suppliers, banks, regulators and the Shareholders. During the year ended
31 December 2022, there were no material and significant disputes
between the Group and its key stakeholders. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each
of its key stakeholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four years is set out on page 212 of this report. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 100
to 101 of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, in the opinion of the Directors, no reserves of
the Company available for distribution to shareholders under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group other borrowings amounting to
approximately S$182,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of
the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31
December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2022 were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them, or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (Co-Chairman)
(re-designated as Executive Director on 31 January 2023)
Mr. He Weiqing (appointed on 10 January 2022
and resigned on 21 February 2023)
Mr. Liu Yang (ceased on 10 January 2022)
Dr. Seow Swee How (resigned on 10 January 2022)
Mr. Lee Chung Shun (appointed on 7 September 2022)
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong
Mr. Cui Han (Co-Chairman) (appointed on 21 February 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Wu Xiaoxia (resigned on 26 September 2022)
Mr. Yang Zhangxin
(re-designated as Executive Director on 31 January 2023)
Mr. Loke Wai Ming
Mr. Luo Honghui (appointed on 7 September 2022)
Ms. Li Yin Fai (appointed on 16 September 2022)
Mr. Liu Fei (appointed on 31 January 2023)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. Lee Chung Shun, Mr. Cui
Han, Mr. Yang Zhangxin, Ms. Li Yin Fai and Mr. Luo Honghui, Mr. Liu Fei
and Dr. Loh Teck Hiong will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and meet the independent guidelines
of Rules 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three (3) years commencing from the
date of the Listing and continuing thereafter until terminated by either
party by giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with our Company. Each letter of appointment is for an
initial term of two to three year unless terminated by either party giving at
least one month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group.

We have established a remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and
other remuneration related matters, including benefits in kind and other
compensation payable to the Directors and senior management, after
consultation with the chairman and/or chief executive officer.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding Company,
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company or his connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole and any part of the
Company’s business were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2022.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Other than payments to the Central Provident Fund in Singapore and a
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, the Group has not
operated any other retirement benefit schemes for its employees.
Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force during the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.

EEEM
EFRSANBEAGEGREIE - KBS
BHARAREFELSREFBY  BERR
RAAEEZ EEMETE -

BATEIRIEGEM £ TR AU AR E R LA A T
WERR(HMERR)) - HHEALHIEH
RREBWIMR LOTRERE - RAFUE
FRAMFI S MO ED (DI EER SR
FRENEMENREMEN)  EAEFE(E
i -

BEERAERREZRESHFALTNGMHFBHRE
F2022F 12 A31 H It FEFAMIEREKRMES -

EERGHNER
REZE2022F 12 431 B ILFE AL FAER
B ARAESNERETEYEA R EE
RARR - HERATF] - SKENB AT
AEEEBBEANRS ZHRANTHES
Rz o

EEEX
NEFENEZE2022F12 A31 B I EE RN ELT
TR FESREBRTMES B EBNEER
THREBEX (EEALIBRIN) -

BARBEREE

BrRF MR RABEEREEEBESTENK
N REEWEAEEBLETMEMEBRKER
8- BERREFGENFBHNEZE2022
F12 A1 BLEFELRE Y ERRMES -

BETREMRX
HE2022F12A31BIEFE E—HAESFH
ZiME] B BE G SCER - ARARE D
¥ EHBARPHEERaREREEMEMNEER
NAEEEREABEBEEETRE

2022 e o BB PR A T 15



Report of the Directors
HRFHRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of our
Directors and chief executive of our Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of our Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which, once the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, will
have to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange under
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register as referred to therein, or pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions
by our Directors to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

Company/name
of associated
corporation

Nature of interest

EENE

Name of Director

EEfHS ANE/HEEEER

Loh Teck Hiong Interest in controlled
corporation

REHNEEE R

The Company

Loh Teck Hiong PAN/NE]

He Weiging The Company Beneficial owner
(GRS N/NE] BEmEAA
Lee Chung Shun The Company Beneficial owner
FRFE ZN/NS BEnERA

Note:

1. These 210,024,000 shares are held by Brisk Success. Dr. Loh Teck Hiong
holds 70% equity interests in Brisk Success and under the SFO, Dr. Loh
Teck Hiong is deemed to be interested in the 210,024,000 Shares held by
Brisk Success.

2. These 6,000,000 shares which may be allotted and issued to Mr. He
Weiging upon full exercise of the share options granted to him under the
Share Option Scheme. On 12 January 2023, 6,000,000 shares were allotted
and issued to Mr. He Weiging pursuant to the exercise of the Share Option
Scheme.

3. These 6,000,000 shares which may be allotted and issued to Mr. Lee Chung
Shun upon full exercise of the share options granted to him under the Share
Option Scheme. On 12 January 2023, 6,000,000 shares were allotted and
issued to Mr. Lee Chung Shun pursuant to the exercise of the Share Option
Scheme.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons, not being a Director or
chief executive of our Company, had an interest or short position in the
Shares and underlying Shares of our Company which would fall to be
disclosed to our Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO (the
“Substantial Shareholders’ Register”), or, who is interested, directly or
indirectly, in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of our Group:

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest

EEHS

514 EaitE

Brisk Success Beneficial owner

it

2N

Brisk Success

\r

Ms. Fung Yuen Yee Interest of spouse M)

Fung Yuen Yee 22+ Ao B et (5 1

Mr. Li Mingcheng

LA E R R 2
Beneficiary owner Mete2)

Li Mingcheng %t 4

Eé%ﬁ)\(ﬂﬂﬁﬂ

HK MZ Health Investment
Management Group Limited

EERFBEREEESEERAT

Beneficiary owner Mete2

B 5UEG N i)

Interest in controlled corporation "¢ 2

B EXXHEEI > N2022F12A31H  BEER
RNA R EBITEA BBEER AR &) ok E A {r] FEE
EE(E & R ES KB OIS XV &) kG -
TR S EEE PR AREES LEAEED
F 32 EREEN AN R B T E Bl sk
KA S EREGEM LR A F5.46 £5.67 1§
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FHRHEIEFIE IR EFTENARFERD
MTEZRREELM) OERIAR - HEREK
R HE 75 B A5 A ) AT M (B I N E A SR R
RERQRIMKRRAS ERANTAERBRAEE
5% 3K A RS ¢

Number of Percentage of
shares interest in our
interested Company
BAERN HARQF
RGEE BEEIL
210,024,000 15.77%
(Long position)
(47 A)
210,024,000 15.77%
(Long position)
(4F8)
132,968,000 9.98%
(Long position)
(4F8)
696,000 0.05%
(Long position)
(4F8)
132,968,000 9.98%
(Long position)
(5FE)
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Notes:

(1) Ms. Fung Yuen Yee, being the spouse of Dr. Loh, is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares in which Dr. Loh is interested pursuant to the SFO.

2 The entire issued shares of HK MZ Health Investment Management Group
Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Li Mingcheng. Accordingly, Mr. Li
Mingcheng is deemed to be interested in 132,968,000 Shares held by HK
MZ Health Investment Management Group Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors were
not aware of any persons who/entities which had any interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares that would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be recorded in the Substantial Shareholders’
Register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the period under review, none of the Directors or the controlling
Shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) of the Company had any interests in any businesses which
competed with or might compete with the business of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 22 September 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The terms of the
Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose of the share option scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
or a reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Participants of the share option scheme

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option
shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, including,
where required under the GEM Listing Rules, employees (full-time
and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of our Group) from time to time on the basis of
the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of our Group.

Total number of shares available for issue
under the share option scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of Shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of all the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date unless the Company
obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders.

As at the date of this report, the outstanding number of share
options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme is nil.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the share option scheme

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted under the Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company to each participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the total
shares of the Company in issue.

The period within which the shares must be
taken up under an option

The period during which an option may be exercised is determined
by the Board at its discretion, save that such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date of grant.
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(c)

(d)

(e)
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() The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

(g9) The amount payable on acceptance of an
option and the period within which payments
shall be made

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to our Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

(h) The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (jii) the nominal value of a Share
on the date of grant of the option, provided that in the event of
fractional prices, the subscription price per Share shall be rounded
upwards to the nearest whole cent.

(i) The remaining life of the share option scheme

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

On 29 September 2022, a total of 60,000,000 shares options were
granted to ten Directors of the Company and eligible participants. The
options were granted at a cash consideration of HK$1.00 per grantee
and entitled the grantees to subscribe for ordinary shares at an exercise
price of HK$0.109 per share. The options are exercisable during the
period from 29 September 2022 to 28 September 2032.
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Details of share options granted under the scheme are as follows: RIEFT SR E BB T ¢

Number of Share Options

fifef

Grant Date Exercise Price  Vesting Period Exercisable Period As at 1/1/2022 Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled As at 31/12/2022

R02E R202E
EREZA RS BES (iidd 1818 255 B BAN ERi ] 128318
HKS

BT

He Weiging 0109 NI 29.09.2022 t0 28.09.2032 - 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
29.09.2022

g 0109 £ N2F9R29AZE

2020595 29R 03598 28A

Lee Chung Shun 0109 NI 29,09.2022 t0 28.09.2032 - 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
29.09.2022

IR 0100 & NRFIFNRE

2020595 29A 20359528 H

Yang Zhangxin 0109 N 29,09.2022 10 28.09.2032 - 6,000,000 - - 6000000 -
29.00.2022

Ee 0100 & N2NEIANEE

2000595 29A 03595 28H

Luo Honghu 0109 N 29.09.2022 10 28.09.2032 - 6,000,000 - - 6000000 -
29.09.2022

BIE 0100 & NNEIFNEE

2020598 29R 3E9F28H

Employees 0109 N 29.09.2022 10 28.09.2032 - 36000000 18,000,000 - - 18,000,000
29.09.2022

[E8 0100 & NNEIFNEE

2020595 29R 03595 28A

Totel - 60,000,000 30,000,000
3t

On 12 January 2023, 12,000,000 shares were allotted and issued to Mr. 74202341 5128 » RIFEIEEIH1TE
He Weiging and Mr. Lee Chung Shun pursuant to the exercise of the  {A] 85 & 4 & 2 = 3¢ % 4 & B2 3% 1 3 17
Share Option Scheme. 12,000,000 f& f& {7 °
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

A full corporate governance report is set out on pages 30 to 42 of this
report.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the Prospectus pursuant to the non-competition
undertakings set out in the deed of non-competition dated 22 September
2017, Brisk Success and Dr. Loh, collectively the then controlling
Shareholders upon Listing, have undertaken to the Company (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) that, amongst other things, are not or will
not, and will procure each of their close associates not to, directly or
indirectly, carry on, participate in, be engaged, interested directly or
indirectly, either for their own account or in conjunction with or on behalf
of or for any other person in any business in competition with or similar to
or is likely to be in competition with the business of the Group upon the
Listing of the Company. Particulars of which are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Independence
from Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Undertaking” of the
Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
implementation of the deed of non-competition and are of the view that
Brisk Success and Dr. Loh had complied with their undertakings given
under the deed of non-competition for the year ended 31 December
2022.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) will
be held at 11:00 a.m. on 11 May 2023. A notice of which shall be sent to
the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable laws and regulations.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 8 May 2023 to Thursday, 11 May 2023, both dates inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 5 May 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year ended 31
December 2022 or subsisted as at 31 December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had no transactions
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of events after the reporting period are set out in note 43 to this
report.

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 19 December 2022 and CL Partners CPA Limited was
appointed as the auditor of the Company on 21 December 2022,

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been audited by CL Partners CPA Limited, who will retire and
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On Behalf of the Board
RMH Holdings Limited
Mr. Yang Zhangxin

Co-Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
31 March 2023
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Zhangxin (1 Z %) (“Mr. Yang”), aged 32, graduated from
Shandong Xiehe University with bachelor’s degree of Nursing in 2014. Mr.
Yang held the position of operating director of S/ CRII) HRIZ FrE 12
AR 2 7l from June 2019 to April 2020. He was a Head Nurse of The
Second Affiliated hospital of Zhejiang University School of Medicine from
June 2013 to May 2019 and a practice nurse from July 2012 to March
2013. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in healthcare and knowledge of
nursing.

Mr. Cui Han (£H8) (“Mr. Cui”), aged 41, graduated from South China
University of Technology of China* (/1 Bl # g ¥2 T X &) with Bachelor
Degree of Electronic Technology and Application* (255 il S [ Ff E2 - 22417)
in July 2004. He has extensive experience in pharmaceutical
manufacturing, pharmaceutical commercial distribution and retail, and
centralized procurement of government pharmaceuticals. He also has
extensive experience in equity investment, asset restructuring, and
intelligent manufacturing. From June 2017 to December 2022, Mr. Cui
Han served as an executive of Hydoo international Holdings Limited
(currently known as Guangdong-Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 1396). From June 2010 to October 2016, he served
as assistant to the president and deputy general manager of Shenzhen
Neptunus Group Limited. He is currently the vice president of Hong Kong
Federation of Jiangxi Associations.

Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Z=3R3#) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 46, obtained a Bachelor
Degree of Science with Honours in Accounting from The University of Hull
in September 2014. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in corporate,
financial and assets management. He held senior position in a number of
public and holding companies in Hong Kong. He is currently the chief
financial officer of the Company, mainly responsible for accounting and
financial management of the Company. He was appointed as an
executive director and Chief Executive Officer of Amars Asia Limited from
March 2000 to January 2003. He was appointed as Chief Financial Officer
of King of Catering (Holdings) Limited from February 2007 to November
2010. He was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Hong Kong Pacific
Network Limited from May 2013 to January 2016. He was appointed as
an Executive Director of 1 Creation Limited from May 2015 to August
2017. He was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of 1 Creation Limited
from March 2014 to December 2021. He held senior management
positions at Bar Pacific Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8432) from
February 2016 to June 2018. He was appointed as Chief Financial Officer
of K Wealth Hong Kong Limited from January 2022 to April 2022.
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Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (“Dr. Loh”), aged 53, is our executive Director and
a member of the nomination committee. Dr. Loh joined our Group in
September 2013, was appointed as a Director on 22 March 2017 and
was re-designated as an executive Director and appointed as the
chairman on 18 May 2017.

Dr. Loh graduated from the University of Melbourne in Australia in
December 1995 with a Bachelor of Medicine & Bachelor of Surgery and
was admitted as a member of the Royal College of Physicians of the
United Kingdom in 1998. He is currently a fellow of the Academy of
Medicine in Dermatology in Singapore. Dr. Loh was the author of three
published medical articles relating to urticarial vasculitis, unna thost
palmar-plantar keratoderma and occupational dermatosis.

Dr. Loh has over 20 years medical practice specialising in dermatology
and has extensive experience in medical, surgical and laser dermatology
with special interest in atopic eczema, skin allergy, paediatric
dermatology, moles or birthmarks and skin cancers. Prior to becoming a
founder of our Group, from May 1996 to August 1996, Dr. Loh worked as
a Pre-registration House Officer in the Department of Surgery at the
Aberdeen Royal Infirmary, United Kingdom, where he was responsible for
consultation and diagnostic of patients under supervision of a registrar
and consultant. Between August 1996 and February 1997, Dr. Loh
worked as a House Officer of General Medicine department at the
Northampton General Hospital in United Kingdom. From February 1997
to February 1998, Dr. Loh worked as a senior house officer in General
and Neonatal Paediatrics at St. Peter’s Hospital in the United Kingdom.
From February 1998 to February 1999, Dr. Loh worked as a senior house
officer at Guy’s Hospital in the United Kingdom. His main duties included
caring for patients from neonatology, paediatric cardiology and paediatric
nephrology departments under the guidance of registrar and consultant.
From September 1999 to March 2000, Dr. Loh was a Registrar in the
Department of Paediatric, National University Hospital, Singapore and
from May 2000 to April 2003, a Registrar at the National Skin Center in
Singapore conducting consultation and diagnostic services to patients.
From May 2003 to July 2005, Dr. Loh was an associate consultant
dermatologist at the NSC, an outpatient specialist dermatological center
in Singapore, where he was responsible for consultation and diagnosing
patients, prescription and conducting treatments. Dr. Loh then
established Dermatology Associates Pte. Ltd. in Singapore in November
2004 where he provided dermatology consultation and treatment until
June 2014.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luo Honghui (AL €) (“Mr. Luo”), aged 49, obtained a profession
in accounting (& 5T 2 %) from Hunan University of Finance and Economics*
(47 B1 B A 75 E2B ) in December 1999 and a Diploma in finance (& @i £
E %) from China Central Radio and TV University* (1 58 B 1E B R K2
(currently known as The Open University of China)* (B4 5% 8 i K £)) in
July 2015. Mr. Luo has extensive experience in corporate management
and management consulting services. He worked as a business manager
at Shenzhen Brightness Trademark Agency Limited* ((EIIT =& BgiZ K
AR A A]) from August 2010 to April 2015. From April 2015 to October
2019, he held the position of general manager at Shenzhen Kegongsi
Network Corporation Limited* (3311 3% 22 B 44 85 A% 1) B BR 2 7). He has
been appointed as general manager of Shenzhen Xinfa Culture
Communication Limited* (& JIl 2% 3 1k & % B IR A 8]) since October
2019. He obtained a National Ministry of Labor (Secondary) Marketing
Qualification Certificate* (Bl X % B) #5(= #)17 8 Al & & & &) in
September 2004 and a senior Occupational Certificate of Management
Consultant* (/= 4% & 2 7% 3 5 & 1& & &) from December 2005 to
December 2009.

Ms. Li Yin Fai (Z # &) (“Ms. Li”), aged 47, obtained a Certificate of
Accounting profession (/1 Bl & &1 ¢ 25 & 1% 5 &) issued by Ministry of
Finance of the PRC* (FZE A R #F1E B B EB) in 2006 and a Diploma in
Accountancy (& 5T 2= 2) from Guangdong University of Finance* (E&R
£ B EPT) in January 2010. Ms. Li has extensive experience in corporate
accounting. She worked as an accountant at Global Capital International
Trading Limited from June 2018 to May 2021. Since July 2021, she has
been worked as a financial officer of June Just Printing Company Limited.

Mr. Liu Fei (2I7) (“Mr. Liu”), aged 33, graduated from Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics* (78 F Bf 4€ K £) with Bachelor
Degree of Financial Engineering* (& &t T2 % + 241 ) in August 2013. He
has extensive experience in business management and business
development. Mr. Liu Fei held the position of manager of Kairuide
(Shenzhen) Fund Management Company Limited* (gl¥51& (FINEE&E
12 A BR A A)) from March 2015 to October 2017. Mr. Liu Fei has been
appointed as director of Shenzhen Kaizhe Investment Company Limited*
ORIIENEEIR E BIRAT]) from July 2015 to August 2020. Since October
2020, he has been appointed as director of Kaide Investment (Hainan)
Company Limited* (SL/E21% & (8F) BR A F]).
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Mr. Loke Wai Ming (FE{£88) (“Mr. Loke”), Mr. Loke, aged 49, obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Accountancy from Nanyang Technological University
in 1996 and obtained a master’s degree of Business Administration from
Goizueta Business School, Emory University in 2002.

Mr. Loke has over 2 decades of experience in commercial banking,
capital markets and investment banking, institutional broking and direct
investment businesses. He is currently an accountant, a registered license
holder, licensed to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and a managing director of Titan Financial
Services Limited since January 2020.

Mr. Loke served as an investment banking professional at multiple
international investment banks in Hong Kong, including an assistant vice
president in corporate banking of Overseas Union Bank from June 1996
to February 2000, an associate in finance institutions department of J.P.
Morgan Securities Hong Kong Limited from August 2002 to January
2004, a vice president of Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited from March
2004 to April 2007, a senior vice president in Macquarie Securities
Limited from July 2007 to February 2009, an executive director of Daiwa
Capital Markets Hong Kong Limited from July 2009 to November 2011, a
managing director in investment banking divisions of Chief Securities
Limited and a chief executive officer and managing director of Chief
(Cambodia) Specialized Bank from November 2012 to April 2014, a
general manager and board director of Anbang Asset Management (Hong
Kong) Co. Limited from April 2014 to March 2015, a managing director of
Ceneric Asia Limited, which is a subsidiary of Ceneric Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
542) from April 2015 to March 2017, a managing director in corporate
finance department of China Everbright Securities International Limited
from March 2017 to October 2017 and a chief executive officer of RHB
Hong Kong Limited from November 2017 to March 2019.

28 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

FEREALE (TREXRE D  495% © 71996 F BLIS
FFRETASERSFTEE 26 - WH2002
FRB/NREBEASBXFAERSRMNTIEHEEE
TR o

PR AR B EIRIT - BAMSGIIRERTT - BB
KR P ERKRAEEBTERGE20F45% - KR
BRgsthl  REFEEMFEST1ERELFLME
GO R EFcR(HRBRERTER)ZRE
AEHEMISEA - KA 20205F1 AR RRTE
BRBARARNESBLIE

PEE A BIEAR B L REABIRERITHRERT
EEAE  BIER 1996446 AE 200052 BT
# B8R 17 (Overseas Union Bank) (> 2 RT3 75 8)
IBEI4AEL - N 20024F 8 A E 2004 F 1 AT JIP.
Morgan Securities Hong Kong Limited 4 gt ### &8
IE - FA2004 43 A E2007 F4 A ¥ I Merrill
Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited £ 2l 42 - 72007 &
7AE2000F 2 AEEEREBERARMNBRAT
NS BEIEE - 200957 B E2011F 11 AE
ERMERATGEEEBRAROMITESE - B
2012F 11 AE2014 4 AEEREESER A
ARERITHIMNESBLBERBE (RH) D
HIRITMESHLIE - R2014F 4 A 201543
RAEALHEEER (BE)BRAFNBLIER
TE  R2015F4 AE2017F3 AETHaE (&
E)BRAR (—RBRAERLETAR - BHR
5% 5A2) B AT EEIEMNARATNEER
MRIB  JA2017F3 A E 2017 F10 AET R E
ABHFBEEERARTCEREDNERBLIER
R2017F 11 AE2019F 3 AT EHES R (FE)
ERABINEEHNITE °



Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

P R AR N B

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. He Weiqing (1@ & &) (“Mr. He”), aged 57, graduated from the
Atmospheric Science Department of the Sun Yatsen University in
Guangzhou with a Bachelor of Science Degree in 1986 and graduated
from the Management School of the same university with a Master’s
Degree in Economics in 1989.

Mr. He has long been engaged in corporate management, financial
management and project investment and management. He had held
senior positions at the headquarters and branches of a number of
renowned companies in the People’s Republic of China, and acted as the
project manager of various asset management companies and private
equity investment companies in Shenzhen. From September 2015 to
November 2017, Mr. He held senior management positions at Long
Success International (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 8017), and
subsequently from December 2017 to July 2020, he acted as an
executive director of Grand Peace Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8108), both of which were delisted on 19 October 2016 and 27 August
2021, respectively, pursuant to Rule 9.14 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard
of corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of
its businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders and is fully
committed to doing so. The board believes that high standards of
corporate governance provide a framework and solid foundation for the
Group to manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high
standard of accountability and protect stakeholders’ interests. Therefore,
the Board has reviewed and will continue to review and improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices from time to time.

The Company has adopted the principles and the code provisions set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. Save as disclosed below, the Company had complied with
all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code during year ended 31
December 2022.

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the period from 7 September
2022 to 31 January 2023, Mr. He Weiging was acting as the chairman,
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. During that
time, the Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company as independent non-executive directors form the majority of the
Board, with four out of seven of the Directors being independent non-
executive Directors. The Board believes that the appointment of Mr. He to
the post of chairman is beneficial to the Company as vesting the roles of
both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person can facilitate
execution of the Company’s business strategies and boost effectiveness
of its operation. On 31 January 2023, Mr. Yang Zhangxin was re-
designated from an independent non-executive Director to an executive
Director and has been appointed as the chairman of the Board. Since
then, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Group have
been separated in accordance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

In respect of code provision A1.1 and A.1.2, the Board has not formally
defined, established relevant policy nor practice aligning a corporate
culture with the Company’s purpose, values and strategy.

In respect of code provision C.3.1 and C.3.2, the Company has not
effectively formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for board
approval and has not established mechanism to require management to
report back certain important delegated duties and results to the Board.
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In respect of code provision C.5.5, for a material time in 2022, the
Company has not established an effective mechanism to ensure draft and
final versions of minutes are sent to all directors for their comment and
records respectively, within a reasonable time after the board meeting is
held.

In respect of code provision C.5.8 and C.5.10, for a material time in 2022,
the Company has not established an effective mechanism to ensure
agenda, accompanying board papers and related materials in sufficient
quality of regular board meeting are sent, in full, to all directors and at
least 3 days before the intended date of a board or board committee
meeting.

In respect of code provision D.1.1 and D.1.2, the Management of the
Company has not prepared and provided all members of the board with
monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of
the issuer’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail.

In respect of code provision D.2.6 and D.2.7, the Company has not
established a formal anti-corruption policy and whistle blower system
during 2022.

The Board is of the view that the non-compliance is mainly due to the
diverse view among Directors that in turn lead to ineffective
implementation of necessary risk management and internal control
system, including those relating to corporate governance codes and ESG
risks.

The Board undertakes to design and implement new and revised
measures in due course as to ensure compliance with the CG code and
will disclose the result in the upcoming interim report.

COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors
adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised five Directors, of which
two are executive Directors and three are independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board during the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this report was:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Zhangxin
(re-designated as executive director on 31 January 2023)

Dr. Loh Teck Hiong

Mr. He Weiqing (appointed on 10 January 2022 and
resigned on 21 February 2023)

Mr. Liu Yang (ceased on 10 January 2022)

Dr. Seow Swee How (resigned on 10 January 2022)

Mr. Lee Chung Shun (appointed on 7 September 2022)

Mr. Cui Han (appointed on 21 February 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Luo Honghui (appointed on 7 September 2022)
Ms. Li Yin Fai (appointed on 16 September 2022)
Mr. Liu Fei (appointed on 31 January 2023)
Ms. Wu Xiaoxia (resigned on 26 September 2022)
Mr. Yang Zhangxin
(re-designated as executive director on 31 January 2023)
Mr. Loke Wai Ming

During the year ended 31 December 2022, save as disclosed under the
section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” above, the Board had
complied with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules to have at least
three independent non-executive Directors who represent more than one-
third of the Board and with at least one of whom possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group by
providing leadership and managing control of the resource allocation and
is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating performance;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising and
managing management’s performance of the Group; and setting the
Group’s values and standards.
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The management team is delegated with the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of quarterly, interim and annual reports and
announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing; (2)
implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures; and (38) compliance with relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements and rules and regulations.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to the
Board, on issues of strategic direction, policies, development,
performance and risk management. Through active participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of
interests and serving on Board committees, they scrutinise the
Company’s performance in achieving corporate goals and objectives and
monitor performance reporting. By doing so, they are able to contribute
positively to the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments at Board and committee meetings.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against them for corporate activities.

BOARD/BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication to discuss amongst other matters, the direction and
strategy of the Group, financial and operating performance and to review
and approve the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual results.

In respect of regular board meetings, and so far as practicable in all other
cases, an agenda and accompanying board papers are sent in full to all
Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a board or board
committee meeting to enable the Directors to make informed decisions.
The Board and each Director have separate and independent access to
the senior management whenever necessary. Upon reasonable request,
the Directors are allowed to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to assist the
Director to discharge his/her duties to the Company.
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The company secretary takes detailed minutes of the meetings and keeps
records of matters discussed and decisions resolved at the meetings,
including any concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by Directors,
and the voting results of Board meetings fairly reflect Board consensus.
Both draft and final versions of the minutes are sent to all Directors for
their comments and records respectively, within a reasonable time after
each meeting, and such minutes are open for inspection with reasonable
advance notice by any Director. Directors are entitled to have access to
board papers and related materials, and any queries will be responded to
fully.

Directors must abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

Board
Meeting
EZges
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Loh Teck Hiong £ 23/36
Mr. He Weiqing (appointed on 10 mEExRE
January 2022 and resigned on (R20226 1 A10 HEZHF
21 February 2023) RR2023%F2 [ 21 HEHT) 34/34
Mr. Liu Yang A5k
(ceased on 10 January 2022) (R202241 A 10 A% % %) 0/1
Dr. Seow Swee How BinRTE
(resigned on 10 January 2022) (R20226 1 A 10 H#(E) "
Mr. Lee Chung Shun (appointed on 7 FR7E% 4
September 2022) (R2022F9 A7 HEZ(T) 19/19
Mr. Cui Han (Co-Chairman) EREE (BEFE)
(appointed on 21 February 2023) (R202362 A 21 HEZH() -
Independent Non-Executive BYFHTES
Directors
Ms. Wu Xiaoxia REERT
(resigned on 26 September 2022) (R 202249 A 26 AHF) 19/20
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated as 1858 5% 4 (R 2023 %
executive director on 31 January 2023) 1431 AF AHTEE) 34/36
Mr. Loke Wai Ming FEERR LA 17/36
Mr. Luo Honghui (appointed on BUBEE (Ro022F
7 September 2022) 9A7REZ(E) 1719
Ms. Li Yin Fai (appointed on ZRBL L (R2022F
16 September 2022) 9A 16 HEZ(F) 15/19
34 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

Committee

NEMEELFR SRS - W SH LR
WERELBARANAR  BREFRONEMERE
FRENREER  MEFFFANKRELERA
ERMREEFSNHE - FRLBERARRER
AREBREZERAERFHAD AR 2RESEH
HEEHER MRl ARLEREAESEERRN
AEEEBARMEYN EFERENEESS

X RN MERNSABEFEEE -

EEENMEREESHRES B EAMBEAR
EREEARRZRINNERERTHELES
FOEEABA

Attendance/Number of Meetings held
HE/ BIERRE

Annual
General
Meeting

BRAFAE

Audit  Nomination Remuneration
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the
Company for an initial term of three (3) years commencing from the date
of Listing and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party with a
not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company. Each appointment is for the term of
one to three year(s) subject to subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, pursuant to
the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors are aware of code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code regarding
continuing professional development programme for Directors. The
Company would arrange and/or introduce suitable training and
information for the Directors to ensure they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Company had arranged a seminar on the
GEM Listing Rules, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong, the “Companies Ordinance”) and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for the Directors. All Directors attended the seminar.

ZEREEES

WITERDHARRFI B EHRMEY S S
ZQFHRBEL  TEREA—HFHELIDR
AR EFBAETEL

BYFRTEEEREARFRTIRER - BE
EHMA—ZE=F "THERBZERANPNET
BT ©

RIRBEREATRITABRIEAL2E - RIEA
AAABERAN  REERRBFASL &
=Nz EFR(WMABLIF=BH=MFE
BREOENIR=D2Z—EF)WERE  HE
FREFREVE=FRERBFRG LRI
RBEEENTEEREREF -

ESRHEEXRRRE

BEENECEEATRSTRANEXEABS I
EAEENIESERENE - A?’“ﬂﬂ#%%%
TR S EEEEIRER MRS
PAMBEEERSCERE B - GEMLFE%EJ
HibEAEREREEHTE THBRE - REE 2022
F12A3ALLFE ARAIEAESLTH KX
BRAGEM ETRA - BB R FUROI (BAEEDIE
622F « [RAMED ) AR EH R BEIEN (FH
ERIESTIE) NN E - 2EERELERIA
B

2022 e o BB PR A T 35



Corporate Governance Report
A5 B R

The training record of each Director as at 31 December 2022 is set outas 2022412 431 B - R EEHIEHEHENT -
below.

Attending seminar or
briefings/perusal of
materials in relation

to business or

Directors’ duties

HEGBEELR
EERENHHER
PNV Lk
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated as BEERE (R2023F 1 31 HERT Yes &
executive director on 31 January 2023) ARHTEE)
Mr. He Weiging B E Yes &
Mr. Lee Chung Shun TRFFLLE Yes &
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Loh Teck Hiong & 4 Yes &
Independent non-executive Directors BIAFHITES
Ms. Wu Xiaoxia REEZLT Yes =2
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated as BEZENE (R20234F 1 A31 HEFT
executive director on 31 January 2023) BRITEE) Yes =&
Mr. Loke Wai Ming FE{EBR A4 Yes &
Mr. Luo Honghui wOERE Yes &
Ms. Li Yin Fei IR T Yes &
Mr. Liu Fei B & Yes =2
Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities EERERBENELE

The Company has in place appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ ~AAFICHBEE 2 RE  AREFLSEBE
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against ~ARFIEEBFIEELITHEERSRERE (TR
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities, The ~— JARAFFART ° REAREBE B AL THEFIRE
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis by the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES EEEZES

The board is supported by three Board committees to oversee specific =~EFEH=EAEFELZE SR UEEART]
aspects of the Company’s affairs. The audit committee of the Company ~FHHENE - ARAIFEZZBE([EZEE
(the “Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee and the nomination ~ &1) * HMZEGRARFRAZE R ([IRE %
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) each has its B& ) EEAHEPEBARE LB ELE - EF
defined scope of duties and terms of reference. The Board committees ZEeRRHERNER THEBEEASEBE
are provided sufficient resources and are empowered to make decisions/ RREESELRTE TREERRE
recommendations within their respective terms of reference to the Board.

& 1) 0
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group established the Audit Committee on 22 September 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules and code provision C.3 of the CG Code. As at the date of
this report, the Audit Committee consists of four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Li Yin Fai, Mr. Luo Honghui, Mr. Liu Fei
and Mr. Loke Wai Ming. Ms. Li Yin Fai, our independent non-executive
Director with the appropriate professional qualifications, serves as the
chairlady of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control system of the
Company, make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and review the
Company’s financial information.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held four
meetings and the attendance of meetings is set out under the section
headed “Board/Board Committees Meetings” on page 34 in this report.

The Audit Committee performed the following work during the year ended
31 December 2022:

a. reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022, the unaudited condensed
consolidated first quarterly financial results for the three months
ended 31 March 2022, the unaudited condensed consolidated
interim financial results for the six months ended 30 June 2022 and
the unaudited condensed consolidated third quarterly financial
results for the nine months ended 30 September 2022 including
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

b. reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed their
potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

C. reviewed the Group’s internal control system and related matters;
and

d. considered and made recommendations on the re-appointment of
the independent auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established a Remuneration Committee on 22 September
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
B.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of our Group; review performance based remuneration; and
ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration. As at the
date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. Yang Zhangxin, Ms. Li Yin Fai and Mr. Liu Fei. Mr.
Liu Fei is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee convened four
committee meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration of Directors
was determined by their experience, responsibility, workload and the time
devoted to the Group. Executive Directors and employees also participate
in bonus arrangements determined in accordance with the performance
of the Group and the individual’s performance. Details of the Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The attendance of Remuneration
Committee meeting is set out under the section headed “Board/Board
Committees Meetings” on page 34 of this report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established a Nomination Committee on 22 September
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
A.5.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular
basis; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
access the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Director. As at the date of this report,
the Nomination Committee consists of seven members, namely Dr. Loh
Teck Hiong, Mr. Yang Zhangxin, Mr. Lee Chung Shun, Mr. Li Yin Fai, Mr.
Liu Fei, Mr. Luo Honghui and Mr. Loke Wai Ming. Mr. Yang Zhangxin is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Nomination Committee convened three committee
meetings. It had assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, considered the re-appointment of retired Directors
and discussed matters relating to procedure of nomination of director
candidate by Shareholders, Directors’ evaluation and succession plan
etc. The attendance of Nomination Committee meeting is set out under
the section headed “Board/Board Committees Meetings” on page 34 of
this report.
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The Company is aware of the benefits of having a diverse Board as an
essential element to improving governance and performance, and to
creating a competitive advantage. In structuring of the Board composition,
by taking into account the Group’s board diversity policy board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will ultimately be based on merit and the contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board which the Board as a
whole requires to be effective.

As of 31 December 2022, the gender ratio in our workforce (including
senior management) is female 52.0% and male 48.0%.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for overseeing the
preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group on an on-
going concern basis, with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary, for each financial period with a view to ensure that such
financial statement gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group, and of the results and cash flows for the financial year.

The responsibility of the Company’s auditor, CL Partners CPA Limited, is
set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing their effectiveness. We have
established an Audit Committee to review and supervise the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management system, and overseeing the audit process.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Company are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures in operational
systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Our Board will regularly review the administration and the adequacy
of our internal system and develop and revise our internal control system
to later for our expansion.
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The Company does not have an internal audit function. However, the
Company engages an independent internal control consultant firm
(“internal control consultant”) to review the internal control of key
governance and business processes of the Company. The internal control
consultant identified a number of material weaknesses in the risk
management and internal control system of the Company.

The Board reviewed the report issued by the internal control consultant
and collaborated with other key facts and information, such as the
auditors’ opinion and overall performance of the Company. On that basis,
the Board is of the view that the risk management and internal control
system is not considered as effective and adequate. The Management of
the Company is in the process of designing and implementing new and
revised measures as to mitigate the weaknesses.

UNCERTAINTIES OVER GOING CONCERN

Pursuant to code provision D.1.3, the Board draws the attentions of
shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company to a situation where
the directors are aware of certain material uncertainties may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concem.

Shareholders and stakeholders of the Company are advised to refer to
the Auditors’ report for the details of going concerns issues.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

CL Partners CPA Limited was appointed by the Board as the auditor of
the Company. The remuneration paid or payable to CL Partners CPA
Limited and its member firms for services rendered for the year ended 31
December 2022 were as follows:
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Audit services

There was no non-audit service provided by CL Partners CPA Limited to
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Yang Zhangxin has been appointed as the compliance officer of our
Company. His biographical details are set out in section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (“Mr. Ho”), aged 51, was appointed as our
company secretary on 7 September 2022.

Mr. Ho is a qualified professional accountant with over 20 years of
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management. He is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He held senior position in a number of public and holding
companies in Hong Kong. He graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan
College (currently known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) with a
honours diploma in accounting in July 1996.

The primary duties of the company secretary include, but are not limited
to, the following: (a) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and that
the activities of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively; (b) to
assist the chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for meetings
and disseminate such documents to the Directors and Board committees
in a timely manner; (c) to timely disseminate announcements and
information relating to the Group; and (d) to maintain formal minutes of
the Board meetings and other Board committee meetings. He has been
in contact with the Board and the chief financial officer directly.

Mr. Ho has confirmed that he had received no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December 2022, in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with the Shareholders and potential
investors of the Company via the following:

(i) the timely public announcements and publications of quarterly, half
yearly and annual reports and/or circulars as required under the
GEM Listing rules and/or press releases of the Company providing
updated information on the Group; and

(i)  the holding of annual general meetings and general meetings of the
Company, if any, which may convened for specific purpose and
provide an avenue for the Shareholders to engage actively with the
Board.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”).
Any one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
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not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing the Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies
Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised). However,
the Shareholders may follow the procedure set out in the section headed
“Rights to convene an EGM” above for including a resolution at an EGM.
The requirements and procedures are set out above.

Right to Put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written form, to
the Board by addressing them to the company secretary at Room 2501,
25/F., Harbourside HQ, 8 Lam Chak Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the
general meeting of the Company. In addition, shareholders can contact
Tricor Investor Services Limited, the branch share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining effective communication with the
investment industry is crucial to having a deeper understanding of the
Company’s business and its development among investors. The
Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders. These
include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the Company’s
website at https://rmhholdings.com.sg.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022, there had
been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the fifth Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(“ESG Report”) of RMH Holdings Limited (‘RMH” “the Company” or “We”).
We are committed to deliver the highest quality of Dermatological,
Medical and Aesthetic standards to take care of our customers’ skin. This
report intends to disclose the performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively as “the Group”) in terms of environmental, social,
and governance issues in a transparent and open manner over the last
year, in response to all stakeholders’ concerns and expectations for the
Group’s long-term viability. In the long run, the Group will strengthen the
data collection and reporting system for environmental management,
social responsibility, and governance performance, gradually expanding
the disclosure scope and improving the quality and comprehensiveness
of the ESG Report. Additional information in relation to the Group’s
corporate governance and financial performance can be referred to our
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022

REPORTING SCOPE

The Group’s directors are responsible for determining the reporting
scope. This report examines all data and activities for the period from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (“Reporting Period”), unless stated
otherwise. This report aims to provide an overview of environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) performance of RMH’s operations in the
Reporting Period. It highlights relevant strategies and business initiatives
and demonstrates how RMH is a sustainable and responsible business
with a positive impact on our stakeholders. Additional information in
relation to the Group’s corporate governance and financial performance
can be referred to our annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of providing medical,
dermatological and aesthetic services and products as well as dental
clinic services in Singapore, Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) during the Reporting Period.

As mentioned in our annual report, the joint and several interim judicial
managers were appointed to certain subsidiaries operated in Singapore
during the Reporting Period, and that the judicial managers are
empowered and authorized to exercise all powers and entitlements of
directors of those Singapore’s subsidiaries. Consequently, the Group had
deconsolidated the aforesaid Singapore’s subsidiaries from the
consolidated financial statements with effect from 28 November 2022
(“Deconsolidated Date”) and considered that the Group’s control over
those subsidiaries operated in Singapore had been lost from the
Deconsolidated Date.
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As a result, the quantitative information required for the key performance
indicators (“KPI”) disclosure in the ESG Report were collected from the
operating entities in Hong Kong and the PRC. To be specific, it includes
RMH, DS Regenerative Medicine Limited, Zhongshan Des Enterprise
Management Company Limited and ZhongShan DS Oral Clinic Limited. In
case the scope and boundaries of the specific contents vary, they will be
noted in the relevant section of this ESG Report. We are improving our
internal data collection procedures and gradually expanding our scope of
disclosure.

REPORTING STANDARDS

This ESG Report has been prepared with reference to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set
out in Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and has complied
with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide during the Reporting Period.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This Report is prepared based on the following basic principles:
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The Group has made an objective and systematic materiality assessment that prioritizes the
issues affecting the operation, and the policies, measures and performance of the Group in
terms of environmental and social aspects. Details and results are presented in the section
headed “Materiality Assessment” in this ESG Report.
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The Group has disclosed KPI with comparative data, mainly on the environmental and social
aspects, and has provided relevant standards, methodologies, assumptions, calculation tools
and sources of conversion factors when applicable.
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The ESG Report provides an unbiased picture on the ESG performance to as to avoid
selections, omission, or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a decision or
judgement by the Report readers.
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The ESG Report incorporated consistent reporting techniques and calculation methodologies
so that the ESG Report readers can rely on the preciseness of data. Any changes to the
reporting techniques and calculation methodologies will be disclosed.
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REVIEW AND APPROVAL

The ESG Report for the Reporting Period has been reviewed and
approved by the Board of the Company.

REPORT AVAILABILITY

The ESG Report is published in electronic version which is available on
the Company’s website (https://rmhholdings.com.sg) and the HKEXnews
website (http://www.hkexnews.hk).

CONTACT AND FEEDBACK

The ESG Report shall be published both in English and Chinese, should
there be any discrepancy between the English and the Chinese versions,
the English version shall prevail. We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on
our ESG approach and performance. For questions or to deliver feedback
about this report,
email rmhhelpline@dermclinic.com.sg.

please share your views with us via

SUSTAINABLE GOVERNANCE

We established a top-down ESG organizational structure to apply the
Group’s sustainable development concept. The Board is responsible for
developing ESG strategies, assessing and identifying the Group’s ESG
risks, and guaranteeing risk management and internal control
effectiveness. ESG work and report evaluation are carried out by
employees from several areas within the Group.

The Group is dedicated to achieving several aspects of corporate social
responsibility, including energy conservation, greenhouse gas reduction,
employee training and development, environmental compliance, and
providing a safe and healthy work environment.

THE BOARD

The Board strives to integrate sustainable development into the Group’s
business development and has taken on the following responsibilities:

o Assessing and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and
opportunities;

° Ensuring that the Group has an appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control system;

° Developing the Group’s management policies, plans, priorities, and
goals;
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° Monitoring ESG’s work progress and performance on a regular
basis; and

° Approving the disclosed information in the Group’s ESG Report.

The Board assesses, identifies, and manages sustainable development
risks on a regular basis, and tries to create long-term value for
stakeholders by identifying possibilities while adhering to regulatory
standards and industry best practices. Furthermore, the Board examines
and adjusts the implementation of various ESG objectives on a regular
basis to ensure that the impact of business development on the
environment and society can be minimized.

ESG WORKING COMMITTEE

The Group has established an ESG Working Committee, consisting of
four members, (currently as an Executive Directors, and serval
management from Human Resources, Finance and Operations Function/
Departments), to assist the Board in managing the Group’s ESG affairs.
The ESG Working Committee is a management-level group that is
responsible for driving our ESG initiatives, collecting and calculating ESG
KPls, overseeing and reporting ESG related matters across our major
businesses and operations.

The ESG Working Committee is empowered by the Board through a ESG
Working Committee Terms of Reference under which it shall directly be
instructed and reporting to the Board. It organizes meetings on a regular
basis to identify, assess, and monitor the Group’s ESG risk, as well as to
examine the Group’s internal control system’s implementation and
effectiveness. It also assesses and evaluates the Group’s ESG
performance in relation to ESG goals and targets.

ESG Working
Board of Directors Committee
£ ESG
IZER
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We recognize that stakeholders play a strategic role in maintaining RMH'’s
long-term growth, as well as responsible business development in ESG
aspects. Understanding and responding to stakeholder concerns and
expectations is critical to our long-term success. Our business activities
involve a diverse range of stakeholders, but we select our stakeholders
based on influence, representation, responsibility, dependency, and
proximity. We make sure that numerous communication channels are in
place so that key stakeholders’ views and input may be addressed
efficiently and promptly within RMH. We strive to improve our stakeholder
engagement by continuously improving our communication channels and
embedding valuable stakeholder input into our strategy.

Multiple engagement channels were established throughout the Reporting
Period to enable constant and dynamic interaction with the Group’s
internal and external stakeholders.

Stakeholders

EEAEAL BERE

EDEAEALTSR

B PIFERERAAEA TEAREINRIIZRIA
RERE HegREARTHNBEEERERS
HEHFEBRIE - THEOEESEBALH
BINMHZHRMNRERNEFEES - BN
BRI RS ERENESHERAL - HERP
ERFED KKK BE - KEMERAITIEN
hEREREAL RPBRRREZRBBER
B AEXERSEHBALHNBERLERTER
HNAER B RS RIERIE - HIMIB B BI/ENR
ERMNBARBELEEEAEALINESER

MAR PR  RERMNERBBALSE
o

REEREGHH  AREDEYZESEE
LABRZAS SR B /9 A 30 e SN ER i e AR B A T TS B
NERERE &) ©

Communication Channels

Internal: General meeting
MEB - BRERE
° Directors Trainings
HE HHIERIE
° Employees Meetings
=3=] =
External: Interviews
oM - sk
° Shareholders and investors Announcements and Circulars
ENET S NEREK
° Customers Websites of the Group
LSS NS B 49k
o Suppliers Telephone, Emails, and Letters
e B BEHREXR
° Business partners Suggestion box
ESLE At Bl
° Regulatory bodies Seminars
EEHE B E

o The community

e

Social welfare activities

HERMEE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Materiality assessment of ESG issues has become a corporate imperative.
The concept of materiality encompasses all those issues that the Group
needs to take into account, and it provides a blueprint for our sustainable
development strategy. The Group reviews the materiality of ESG-related
topics based on stakeholder engagement activities on an annual basis
that truly reflect the environmental and social issues to stakeholders.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification
F15 - BAl
« Review ESG disclosure of peers for

an indication of potentially relevant
ESG issuers.

Step 2: Prioritization

B2%  BiFF

¢ Consolidate the results from
step 1 and develop a
prioritized list of potential
material ESG issues.

®

Invite stakeholders to complete an
online survey to prioritize the
importance of ESG issues to them
and to the Group.
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Step 3: Validation
E3L | BF

The Group's management
finalize the list of material
issues and their KPIs for
disclosure.
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The result of the materiality assessment of ESG issues is displayed in the i85 - @ LKEAMENEE U T GERBARTE

following materiality matrix. INTEZMEEF -
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The following five topics have been deemed as the most important ESG

Greenhouse gas emissions
=R

Waste management

REEMETE

Energy consumption

BEIRERE

Water consumption

ke

Paper consumption

P

Management risk related to environment & natural
resources

HIRIR R EREREENERRR
Equal opportunities

TEHE

Employee’s benefits

BT®EF

Occupational health and safety
BEEERLZE

Employee development and training
8 TER REd

Prevention of child labor & forced labour
FrlEE T Rogia s

issues:

The Group has strictly complied with the statutory requirements in respect
of the identified material aspects. The Group aims to keep close
communication with its stakeholders and continue to improve its ESG

Protection of intellectual property rights and customer data;

Anti-corruption and related trainings, and whistle-blowing policies; °

Concluded legal cases

Prevention of child labor and forced labor; and

Occupational health and safety

performance.

50

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.
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Supplier selection and assessment
HEE R R R AT

Green procurement

4B R

Product quality control

EmE S

Product recall

Emam

Customer satisfaction

BEPmMEE

Protection of intellectual property rights & customer data

FBERE R E P ERHRE
Anti-corruption & whistle-blowing policies
RE)S KRB MK

Concluded legal cases

BERENEERREN

Anti-corruption trainings

RE 5T

Community engagement

HESE

AR

o HBEERNTPERRE:

RE S R AR R AR SRR

o HUEBETR®RESH: K

s RBERERZE

WHIREREERE  HERERRR -

UTHEXERRR/EREZNERE LERE

AEBEEREHINNERTEREETEETE
Ko AEEB) BESABALTRERIER
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Due to the Group’s service-based business nature, we do not
cause significant impacts on the environment. In spite of this, the
Group is committed to upholding high environmental standards and
mitigating our environmental impacts.

1. Emissions

We recognize the importance of sustainability in our business
operation. We put emphasis on complying with the relevant
environmental law and regulations in Singapore, Hong Kong
and the PRC, including but not limited to the followings:

° Environmental Protection and Management Act (EPMA)
of Singapore;

° Environmental Public Health Act (EPHA) of Singapore;

o Hazardous Waste (Control of Export, Import and
Transit) Act (HWA) of Singapore;

o Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong;
o Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° Environmental Protection Law of the PRC; and

° Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Wastes Law of the PRC.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of
material noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating environmental protection.

Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, it does not involve in
any industrial production nor possess any manufacturing
facilities or motor vehicles during the Reporting Period.
Therefore, the Group did not generate a material amount of
exhaust gas emissions during its operation (2021: Nil).

T
MR AEE ARG AR EBIEE - A
TEHRRERERATE - BEQOUW - K
SEEMBOR RS REEELREHAM
HRBHNTE o

1. BB
BPRBR TR EERAERMIERE
EHRNEEM - BRI ETIHM
W BEMTBEOERRDEARE
R BREETNERIATAZR

o HTIMECORFE(RERERE
(EPMA)) ;

e FME(EBRAAMERX
(EPHA)) :

o  HIMBKEZTEEY(HO - #
A RE&E H)) )% HWA))

o BAERISRE R
s  AAEERVMEERM

o PEARAMBIRRRESL:
&

. REARXNEBEBEENE
BATRES R -

WEHEAN - ARRARBELEBEBRER
RERERBEIRDERNBREN

ERBER

HARNEBMESIED - RE LK
A AREBRYRAAMITELE N
A T £ E Rk B B8 -
it AREBAEEEHETEEENE
BERBEMR (2021 6F : 48) ©
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Human activities and economic development have
aggravated the emission of greenhouse gases (“GHG”)
atmospheric concentration, leading to accelerating
temperatures around the globe and climate change. Since no
industrial production is involved nor vehicles are owned by
the Group, there was no reported direct emission of GHG
(Scope 1) during the Reporting Period. The Group’s main
sources of GHG emissions are the indirect emission from
electricity consumption (Scope 2) that is utilized to power
facilities and equipment. Electricity consumption to be
reported in this section assessment only included those from
DS Regenerative Medicine Limited as electricity consumption
from other operating entities is considered immaterial or the
data is centrally managed by the property management
companies which is unavailable to us. Compared with 2021,
electricity consumption in 2022 increased significantly, and
was caused by a resume in operations under a stabilized
COVID-19 epidemic trend. During the Reporting Period,
reported GHG emissions are as follows:

BEREHK
ANBESRCEHENS T RERE
(TEEREB)ARFREOTR - EK
MERBEREB R RIEEL - ARAE
BT RIELE TAREBXE
8 RS R E RS R E RS
(BE—)MEEENR - AEBAER
RN EZ R AR AR LR
HIRHESINENER(EE )N
fEHER - AETFHEREMASEE
BRENBEZEEERAANAE
£ HNAEMELERENAEEWR
BIWTEKX  RBEAYEEEAQR]
EHER  BIMEEES - 812021
AL - 2022 F B EEELE M -
ErARNAERRESREBEEE
TIEBEE - REHMER - HE
PRERBEBHRENT

FY2021 FY2022
Intensity Intensity
GHG Emissions FY2021 (Per revenue) FY2022  (Per revenue)
2021 I HE 02 EHE
BERBHK 2021814 (W AGH) 2022845 (BB A
Scope 1
#E—
Direct emission Kg of COe Nil Nil Nil Nil
BEEN TrR-GHES Zz £3 z z
Scope 2
SE—
Indirect emission
EiEE37 308
— Purchased electricity Kg of COe 12,860.58 1,249.93 103,499.76 24,407.02
—NEE Tr-&ftiES
Notes FiE

- * BERBHREBA_ALRES
TR APNMETNRMERE R
PARERAHEERTIAEEGH
ey DREREGE - bEFFR

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalent and are based on, but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute
and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, WS R | - BB P B D B MY
Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” B COREMBEABERREE
issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 3l

* HR20228 F - mMEWEEITTA
7 % HE A2 R DA SR 18 2022 4F B W
A (#4424 BT TT)

For FY2022, Intensity is calculated by dividing the emission by
the Group’s revenue in 2022 (approximately S$4.24 million)
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Hazardous Waste

We adopt a responsible management for our medical waste
and consider complying with all relevant regulations in the
countries that we operate. To dispose medical waste in a
safe and reliable manner, we have entered into service
agreements with local government-licensed toxic industrial
waste collector. The licensed service provider collects the
medical waste from our main clinic, and, to our knowledge,
they would dispose the waste in authorized incineration plant
approved under relevant laws where we operate. As for our
other clinic, the hazardous waste is handled by an
independent party engaged by the hospital. As any
hazardous waste has been collected and handled directly by
the specialized contractors, it is not feasible for us to provide
relevant usage data. Despite of it, in order to continuously
reduce the adverse impact associated with the production of
hazardous waste, the Group will continue to monitor the
amount of clinical waste generated during its operations.

Non-hazardous Waste

Our non-hazardous wastes are mainly referred to paper and
plastic waste during our daily operations. The overall amount
of non-hazardous wastes is considered minimal as we have
adopted a reasonable level of digitalization in our operation,
and the Group has not been accounting for domestic waste
generated by its facilities, which has been collected and
disposed of directly by local government services. However,
we understand the disposal of non-hazardous waste is also
an important task in consideration that certain types of non-
hazardous waste can be recycled.

To minimize the environmental impacts of both hazardous
and non-hazardous waste generated from the Group’s
business operations, we target to achieve 5% reduction in
both hazardous and non-hazardous waste by 2032, using
FY2021 as the base year.
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For the hazardous waste, we aim to achieve the target by
continuously adopting the waste management policy as
mentioned in the above section of “Hazardous Waste”. For
the non-hazardous waste, we have adopted the following
environmentally friendly initiatives:

° Place a single-sided paper collection box and a
wastepaper recycling box near the photocopiers;

° Paper and plastics waste are collected for delivery to
recycling companies;

° Encourage our employees to use both sides of paper,
set duplex printing as the default mode for our network
printers, use recycled paper to minimize the wastage
of paper, and bring their own mug instead of
disposable paper cups;

° Install hand dryers in our clinics’ toilets to reduce paper
towel consumption; and

° Encourage customers to bring reusable bags.

We aim to implement a tracking system in future so as to
better track the total amount of non-hazardous waste
generated in RMH. This will enable us to reflect a more
accurate figure of the non-hazardous waste generated in
RMH in future reporting.

Our Targets and Initiatives

The principal GHG emissions of the Group are generated
from purchased electricity. We target to achieve 5%
reduction of emission by 2032, using FY2021 as the base
year. The Group actively adopts electricity conservation and
energy saving measures as well as other measures to
achieve this goal:

° Arranged all our electrical appliances and medical
equipment to be set in energy saving mode;

° Reduce excessive lighting and air-conditioning to

minimize usage of cooling towers during low loading
periods for air-conditioning;
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° Clean dust filters and remove obstructions at air inlets
and outlets of the air-conditioners on a regular basis to
maintain optimum air-conditioning performance;

° All air-conditionings of our clinics and other premises
will be set at 25.5°C as indoor temperature;

° Adopt LED panel lights instead of traditional fluorescent
lamps for higher energy efficiency;

° Activate “sleep” mode in some of office equipment
during office hours, including photocopiers and
printers;

° Encourage our senior employees to schedule regular
meeting with conference calls or use of other electronic
media to reduce travelling for business meetings when
applicable; and

° Placing “Green Message” reminders on office
equipment and workplace to further enhance
employees’ environmental awareness.

2. Use of resources

As our business nature is service focused, the main
resources used in our daily operation are electricity, water
and papers. In line with our Group’s policy, we encourage
our employees to manage the resources used in an effective
and efficient manner.
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Energy Consumption

The Group’s main sources of energy consumption is
electricity which is used to support the equipment and
facilities. As stated above, electricity consumption to be
reported only included those from DS Regenerative Medicine
Limited and the summary of usage is as follow:

Energy Sources Unit

RETR By

Purchased electricity kWh

HNEE TR

Consumption intensity kWh/revenue

ERERE FERE WA
Notes

For FY2022, Intensity is calculated by dividing the electricity
usage by the Group’s revenue in 2022 (approximately S$4.24
million)

Water Consumption

We recognize water as an important natural resource and
have constantly remind our employees the importance of
water conservation. The water consumption is mainly used in
office and clinics. Water consumption to be reported in this
section assessment only included those from DS
Regenerative Medicine Limited. Water supply from other
operating entities is centrally managed by its respective
property management company and there is no separate
meter for individual office units, thus, it is not feasible for us
to provide relevant water usage data. In 2022, the total water
consumption to be reported accounted to 36.0m* (2021:
39.8md).
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Our Targets and Initiatives

The Group has initiated policies to raise awareness of
electricity conservation and has adopted energy saving
measures throughout our daily operation as elaborated in the
section of “Emissions”. Using FY2021 as the base year, we
target to reduce 5% electricity consumption by 2032.

Due to the geographical location of the Group’s operations,
there is no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
Nevertheless, we are always conscious of water
conservation. We encourage our employees to monitor the
water usage in our clinics, back office and laboratory on a
monthly basis to identify sudden spikes in consumption as
well as water leaking in the piping system. Any dripping or
leakage of water mains and tap will be repaired promptly. We
also place water conservation posters in prominent places to
encourage our employees to save water. We are considering
to install flow controllers and automatic on or off sensor on
taps for efficiency of water use. By adopting these initiatives,
we target to reduce our water consumption by 5% by 2032,
using FY2021 as the base year.

Packaging Materials

We are primarily involved with the dermatological and surgical
practice, dental care and the prescription of medication and
skin-care products. These medication and skin-care products
are manufactured, packed, and distributed by our suppliers.
As our business nature is service-focused, there was no
significant amount of packaging material used in our daily
operation. As such, we do not track the packaging materials
used for the products. However, we always encourage our
suppliers to use less packaging material and require our
offices to control the total amount of paper used.
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The environment and natural resources

The importance of the environment and natural resources is
well understood by the Group. With the goal of attaining
environmental sustainability, we have integrated the concept
of environmental preservation and natural resource
conservation into its internal management and daily
operations. Based on our business nature, the natural
resources which contributed to our daily operations are
primarily from the usage of electricity, water and paper.
Therefore, the Group is not aware of any significant impacts
of activities on the environment and natural resources during
the Reporting Period. The Group continues to monitor any
possible adverse impacts brought by our business operation
on the natural environment.

In line with our Group’s policies, we strive to minimize the
impact to the environment by encouraging our employees to
monitor and manage the consumption of energy and natural
resources in a more efficient manner as mentioned in the
section of “Emissions” and “Use of resources” in response to
the potential impacts on the environment and natural
resources. The Group also identifies important operational
issues and offers employees with trainings to raise their
knowledge in order to assist all employees in understanding
key environmental variables and associated departments in
controlling potential impacts on the environment and natural
resources.

The Group remains conscious of the potential impact its
operations on the environment and adopts preventive
measures to reduce the relevant environmental damage while
ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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4. Climate change

The countries where we have operation, either Singapore,
Hong Kong or the PRC, is a low-lying, densely populated
tropical island city-state, it is vulnerable to the effects of
climate change and variability. The typical effects of climate
include:

Warmer weather

Heavy rainfall
KRR

® Top 10 warmest years on

B REERA R EAR 1 OfE S £

gets warmer

PR B - AR 0RMERT

FHRRERAEHE S
EriEs

The Group understands that higher temperatures may affect
human health and healthcare operations. Vector and pest
populations could increase from a result of higher
temperatures and rainfall, increasing the incidence of
diseases such as dengue. However, as the Group is
principally engaged in dermatological and surgical practice as
well as dental care, the Board, as advised by the ESG
Working Committee, considers that those typical climate
change effects have relatively light impacts on the Group.

Considerations of TCFD Recommendations

Nevertheless, RMH takes reference to the recommendations
and approach set out by The Task Force of Climate related
Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”) in assessing the climate
changes impacts on the Group. Thus, the Group has
assessed the climate-related impacts from risks and
opportunities aspects.

® Increasing trends in both intensity
record and frequency of heavy rainfall
events are expected as the world

4. Rz
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Impact on human health
HARRENTE

® Higher temperatures may
affect human health and
healthcare operations
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Climate-change-related risks

The Group divides climate-change-related risks into two
major categories: (1) risks related to the transition to a low
carbon economy and (2) risks related to the physical impacts
of climate change.

Transition risks

BRI ERR

Physical risks < % @tﬁg@# : 'éiﬁ%&ﬁgig
3 k= =] ) 8
ERER e
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* May entail extensive policy, legal, technology, and market changes to address
mitigation and adaptation requirements related to climate change in the course of
transitioning to a lower-carbon economy. There are four sub-risks, namely Policy
and Legal Risks, Technology Risk, Market Risk and Reputation Risk.

May have financial implications for the Group, such as direct damage to assets and
indirect impacts from supply chain disruption, which can be driven by acute events
(“Acute Events”) or longer-term chronic shifts (“Chronic Shift”) in climate patterns.
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Climate-change-related opportunities

The Group also takes into consideration of climate-change
related opportunities and divides them into five major
categories related to resource efficiency and cost savings,
the adoption of low-emission energy sources, the
development of new products and services, access to new
markets, and building resilience along the supply chain.

The overall-risk rating of climate-change-related risks and
opportunities of the Group is considered low as presented
below:
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M R PRARERR - SRR BERAEIR -
AR R ARTS - AT TS R
S HESEER /48R o

REERRIEZCEBRRREBEHN
BERBRIRERABRE - 2500
T~

e Overall climate change risk at industry level
BEHZ

Low-to-medium

BEFE

Low-to-medium

BEFE

~
e Climate-change risk & &L [EL&
e Climate-change opportunities & 2L #:8

~
e Transitionrisk A& &
e Physical risk EEEE M
e Technology risk  EHY [l

J
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Climate Change Impact Assessment RIFEBEEIMA
The Board has instructed the ESG Working Committee to FEerEREE HeREATIE
perform an assessment on the climate-change-related risks ZEgHASENREELERARER
and opportunities of the Group. The following table presents R#EHEITIIE - TRV AERD
the summary of the Group’s assessment. SEEEEE o
Climate-related risks Potential financial impacts
and opportunities Our measures or approach when risks are realized
FRIREFERRREE BMHEER G A ERBRENEENBE
Transition Risk  Policy and legal The Group is of the view that there Remote
=Rl 7 B RoE are no regulatory or market policies & 1K
or technology changes required or
Technology on the trend that would have The risks and impacts are
BHE significant impact on the Group. considered remote

AEERR BMEZEATERER ZFRARLKFERASER-
SR ER 2 BB K BE Y
AEBBEATE -

Market Customers may have higher Possible
M5 expectations of our image and Rk
services from an environmentally
Reputation friendly perspective. There is a possible impact
B WIRFRAEMS - B Al HRM on the reputation of our
MR ERRBEESHEE Company.

HARRAMBEAAIBLEK

By 488
R

62 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRE - A KRB

Physical risk

ERER

Opportunities
e

Climate-related risks

and opportunities

RIZEEERREE

Acute Events

E2EM

Chronic Shifts
REIE®

Resource efficiency

BRMan

Energy source
BEIR AR

Products & services

B B RS

Market
M5

Resilience

BRN

Our measures or approach

BMERRT &

The Group is of the view that it is not
subject to physical risks brought
alone from climate change.
However, the Group will take a
monitoring approach and will
continuously monitor the change
in physical risks.

TEERABETERIRE(LER
HROERERERTZE o A0 -
REEGRWMETTTE - Wi

HEEEERRRNE(L -

The Group is of the view that there

are no regulatory or market policies

or technology changes required or
on the trend that would have
significant impact on the Group.
REERG  BEREERMISBR
SRR P E SR 2 B E) B
REBFERATE -

Customers may have higher
expectations of our image and
services from an environmentally
friendly perspective.

NRRAEMS » TP ATaEEFA

R RIRISEE S EEIE -

Potential financial impacts
when risks are realized

RS ER N EEMERE
Remote
®EIK

The risks and impacts are
considered remote.
ZERBRETBERASER -

Remote

HIK

The opportunities and benefits
are considered remote

ZHE RS RSERE o

Possible

Brlge

There is a possible market if
we can build an
environmental supply chain.

R PIRE IR IR (L B 58
HEEFRHBETIS ©
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1.

Employment

Employees are our most valued-assets and we are fully
committed to creating a respectful and collaborative work
environment. The Group strictly complies with all applicable
laws and regulations that have significant impact on the
Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, other benefits and
welfare, including but not limited to the following:

The Employment Act (Cap. 91) of Singapore;

° The Employment of Foreign Manpower Act of
Singapore;

° The Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Singapore;

° Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36) of Singapore;

° The Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° The Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong
Kong;

° Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° Labor Law of the PRC;

. The Labor Contract Law of the PRC; and

° Law of the PRC on Employment Promotion

During the Reporting Period, two cases of delayed salary
payment were reported. The two employees were employed
under RMH Imaging Limited, which is one of the subsidiaries
operated in Hong Kong and has become dormant during the
Reporting Period. With the conciliation service provided by
the Labor Department, the dispute had been resolved
subsequently between RMH Imaging Limited and the
employees.
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In addition to the above, there was no reported incident of
noncompliance with laws and regulations relating to
employment practices.

Workforce and turnover

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group has a total
number of 50 (2021: 56) employees, which comprises 40 full-
time employees and 10 part-time employees. The details are

as follow:
Gender 5l
Male el
Female gl
Age Group FHeaa R
18-30 18 5% & 30 7%
31-40 315 E 405%
41-50 A1 BES508%
51 or above 51 pRak A £
Geographical Region it 3 & 35
Hong Kong BE
The PRC =a
Singapore T hndg
Employee Category BIHEA
Senior management BREEAE
Middle management HEERAB
Supervisor *E
General staff —MRIBE

B EaEnsN - R BRE T B TERE
REHIERBAERERNEN

BEHRRAER

HERSHB R A£EBEHAEET
50 A (2021F : 56 A ) » Eh 288
T40A  HEEET10A o FH1B0AT ¢

Number of Staff Percentage %

BT AH B %
24 48.0%
26 52.0%
15 30.0%
12 24.0%
14 28.0%

9 18.0%
10 20.0%
39 78.0%

1 2.0%
11 22.0%

4 8.0%
35 70.0%
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The analysis of staff turnover rate by different categories are

as follows:
Gender 5l
Male S
Female pegis
Age Group FirAE Rl
18—30 18 5% & 30 5%
31—40 315 ZE 405%
41—-50 A RE508%
51 or above 5133 A E
Geographical Region it 3 @ 35
Hong Kong G
The PRC =
Singapore EIpIlIE

Notes

* The turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the

number of employees in the specified category leaving
employment by the total number of employees in that specified
category.

We emphasize the protection of labor rights, equal
opportunity and non-discrimination in the workplace. We
promote employee diversity and vehemently reject
discrimination, working to remove any discrimination against
candidates and employees based on variables such as
gender, age, color, religion beliefs, and gender orientations.
The Group’s working hour policies for our employees have
been in complete conformity with national laws and
regulations in order to preserve employees’ legitimate rights
and interests. Our employees work standardized hours and
have access to paid leave, maternity leave, sick leave, public
holidays, and specified rest intervals, ensuring that they get
enough rest and maintain a healthy work-life balance. If any
unfair treatment is discovered, the concerned employees
should report the incident to the head of Human Resources
Department directly. Much effort is also given by the Group
to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of employees
and cater for the developmental needs of employees.
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Number of Staff Percentage %

BT AH B %
6 25.0%

8 30.8%

10 66.7%

2 16.7%

1 71%

1 11.1%

1 10.0%

13 33.3%

=F
o
i
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Human Resources Policy and Staff Handbook are established
for regulating recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours and vacations. Our Human Resources Department is
responsible for such implementation confirms that our
employees have a full understanding of the contents of both
documents. Employees who fail to comply with the
company’s regulations are first given a warning notice and, in
serious cases, are dismissed. We have created a harmonious
working environment as well as a safe and comfortable
workplace to build a business platform for every employee to
grow with the Group. Our employment documents and
practices are formulated in compliance with relevant law and
regulations and reviewed on a regular basis.

We have developed a standardized recruitment process with
the goal of attracting and retaining talent for our teams that is
tailored to their specific job requirements. The Group’s hiring
process considers criteria including their experience, skills,
and expertise needed for our business operations.
Regardless of gender, age, ethnicity, religion, disability, or
gender orientation, applicants who match the requirements
for a position are given equal interview opportunities. There is
also a thorough description of the job, including
responsibilities, benefits, and compensation packages.
Applicants with relatives working in the Group must clarify
personal relationships and ensure that their relatives” work in
the Group is unaffected.

We are committed to offering competitive remuneration as
well as complete benefits and protections to our employees.
In order to attract, motivate, and retain excellent people, we
assess our compensation and benefits programs on a regular
basis. The remuneration of our employees is determined by
aspects such as their qualifications, contributions, and years
of experience. Employee performance is evaluated on a
regular basis, and those who do well are provided
opportunities for advancement.
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Health and safety

Workplace safety and employees’ health are non-negotiable
and of the Group’s top priority. The Group reviews the
workplace and safety policies regularly to ensure compliance
with applicable laws, including but not limited to the following:

° Workplace Safety and Health Act (Cap. 354A) of
Singapore;

° Guidelines on Aesthetic Practices for Doctors of
Singapore;

° Radiation Protection Act (Cap. 262) of Singapore;

° Workplace Safety and Health (Incident Reporting)
Regulations of Singapore;

° Private Healthcare Facilities Ordinance (Chapter 633 of
the Laws of Hong Kong;

° Laws of Hong Kong on Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance; and

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases

The Group is committed to providing employees with a safe
and comfortable work environment. To protect the health of
employees, we have established Business Process Manual
which emphasizes on safety procedures and awareness in
handling medical devices during daily operations. Our in-
house doctors are responsible for the provision of support
and resources required to maintain safe and ideal working
conditions within the clinics. Furthermore, they are also
responsible for the implementation and planning of proper
administrative procedures, including adhering to an agreed
reporting structure and investigation methodology in the
event of an incident occurring within the workplace.
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Occupational Safety Measures

° Provide clear and comprehensive guidelines to all staff
on how to handle bad weathers, injuries and work
related injuries;

° Encourage staff to maintain a good and correct
posture, while maintaining an appropriate eye level with
the computer screen to reduce stress and strain on
their bodies;

° Keep passages clear and the working environment
clean and tidy;

° Place first aid kits and fire extinguishers in workplace;

° Ensure that all staff are familiar with the fire protection
equipment and fire escape routes; and

° Proper disposal of clinical and domestic waste.

In each of the past three years, including the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any work-related
fatalities, lost days due to work injury and did not identify any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations relevant
to the health and safety of employees.

Our Effort On COVID-19 Control

The Group have fulfilled all the lockdown and quarantine
requirement imposed in Singapore. In addition, our ESG
Working Committee has set up and overseen reporting
mechanism to timely report suspected or confirmed inflection
cases of our employees and their associates. We have also
established the following necessary precaution measures.
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COVID-19 Measures

All doctors, employees and patients must scan the
Safety Entry QR Code and take temperature at
entrance before entering the premises;

Hand sanitizers are provided to all staff and patients at
premises;

All clinic premises have already set up temperature
scanners at entrance;

All staff and patients must always wear masks and
keep personnel and premises hygiene;

All staff should regularly disinfect medical equipment
and change protective clothing;

Qur clinics’ seats have 1-meter-mark for safe
distancing;

All treatments are on appointment basis;

Centre staff will be responsible for crowd control;

All staff are allocated self-test kits to do self-test weekly
and update in shared spreadsheet. Some staff may
require more frequent self-test if they have close
contact with patients; and

All staff are encouraged to take vaccination or booster,
1 day off is given to employees for taking vaccination
or booster.
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Development and training

The Group deeply values the employees by investing in their
development. The Group believes that our employees are
critical to the operations and function of our business, and
we emphasize heavily on continual trainings so as to enhance
staff performance and upgrade their professional skillsets.

Ethical and
code of
conduct
BEKITE
ﬁ/\lj

Our doctors, dentists and staff are encouraged to attend
industry conferences, seminars and workshops as well as
sharing sessions organized by our suppliers to keep abreast
of evolving healthcare industry trends and standards. All
these activities were carried out to ensure that our employees
remain updated with relevant developments and are aware of
the laws and regulations that govern the healthcare industry.

We have also organized internal trainings which cover anti-
corruption, business ethics, ESG reporting, 2023 market
outlook on the healthcare and life sciences sector, among
others. All in-house training programs are evaluated and
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they are relevant,
high-quality, and effective. The following in-house training
programs are provided to further develop our employees’
competencies:

. Training is provided by medical device suppliers or
senior clinic staff in relation to the use of a new product
or with regard to service-related knowledge and also
safety precautions of medical equipment;

° During on-boarding session for new hires, training is
provided by our in-house doctors and dentists to
familiarize these new hires on daily operations and
equipment handling procedures; and

. On-the-job assessments is also conducted by our in-
house doctors and dentists for all of our professional
staff to maintain the highest quality and standard of
services to be provided to our clients.
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During the Reporting Period, 16.0% of the employees took HEHEN - 16.0%MWET2MT &K
part in our trainings and the details of breakdown are as PIEEESI - BB R T :
follows:
Percentage of Employees Trained Percentage %
FRENNATEAM ma
By Gender &R
Male B 75.0%
Female pegid 25.0%
By Employee Category BETHER
Senior management SRERABR 100%
Middle management PEEEAR -
Supervisor FE -
General staff —RRE B -
During the Reporting Period, the average training hour MEHAMA - B8 T AT IEIRFE
completed per employee was 0.2 hours and the details of 0.2/\E » BN T -

breakdown are as follow:

Average Training Hours Completed

Per Employee Number of hour
B A E TR ISR NEFE
By Gender BB

Male 51 0.3
Female egis 0.1
By Employee Category BETHER

Senior management SREEAE 0.7
Middle management FEEIEAS -
Supervisor *FE -
General staff —REE -

Notes sk

*

The percentage of trained employees by category is calculated REBERESHTBEIETINE D

by dividing the number of employees trained for a specific bR R A ST E R R B S
category by the total number of employees trained. BB T AR BEIINETE

BEHEAL -

* The average training hours by category is calculated by * RS EII ) R E R
dividing the number of training hours for a specific category of BAEEF TR 8 TR SR
employees by the number of employees for the specific AETFRERIE T ASGTESEY -
category.
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Labour standards

Being fully aware that exploitation of a child and forced labor
violates human rights and international labor conventions, the
Group strictly prohibits the employment of any child labor
and forced labor in any form. Those under 16 years of age
must not be recruited by reviewing the identification of
personnel in the stringent screening process on qualified
candidates. Our Human Resources Department requires
shortlisted candidates to provide valid identity documents
before confirmation of employment so as to ensure they are
lawfully employable. Upon discovery of any child labor and
use of forced labor, the person will be dismissed immediately
and the management and responsible person will be
disciplined accordingly.

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations in
relation to the prevention of child and forced labor, including
the Employment of Children and Young Persons Regulations
and the Employment Act of Singapore, the Employment of
Children Regulations of Hong Kong and the Provisions on
Prohibition of Child Labor of the PRC.

During the Reporting Period, no non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations relating to preventing child and forced
labor had been identified.
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Operating practice

5.

Supply chain management

We place a high value on maintaining a strong and
professional relationship with our major suppliers, comprising
medical device manufacturers, pharmaceutical companies for
manufacturing our DS brand skincare products, and
distributors of treatment consumables, skincare products
and medications, to ensure a high quality and safety
standards. During the Reporting Period, the Group has 19
major suppliers which are located 5 in Hong Kong and 14 in
the PRC.

We developed a standardized supplier selection procedure.
Prior to establishing any long-term business relationship with
potential suppliers, due diligence is conducted to ensure
suppliers’ compliance to trade laws and regulations as well
as with the requirements within the RMH’s Purchasing and
Procurement Policy. In the course, we consider important
factors such as history of the supplier’s quality, quantity,
delivery timing, product source, price, the supplier’s industry
reputation, and feedback from our medical specialists. Senior
management approval is required for accepting a supplier as
our recognized supplier. Our senior management reviews our
supplier regularly in light of their overall performance and
quality.

4 All our major medicine suppliers are recognized
suppliers who are qualified to offer FDA approved
medicine;

v We have centralized our medicine procurement
activities which optimism our purchase ordering and
medicine inventory transfer among our clinics, which
further enhance our effectiveness in cost control and
medicine utilization; and

4 Our procurement activities are carried out in a
transparent, open, and fair manner that all suppliers
are treated fairly and, for major purchase, given an
equal chance to submit a quotation or proposal.
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Our management team holds regularly meeting, usually on
weekly basis, for monitoring the Group’s procurement
activities. The management team usually include an Executive
Director, professional doctor, procurement manager, cost
center manager, and finance manager.

As of the issuance of this report, we have developed a
Supplier Code of Conduct which outlines the Group’s
expectations for our suppliers in terms of human rights, labor,
environmental protection, anti-corruption, ethics, and
management system compliance. We will circulate this code
of conduct to our suppliers on a rotation basis in the future
as one of the measures managing the social and
environmental risks in our supply chain.

Product responsibility
Quality Control

Dermatological and surgical specialty services, dental service
and products provided by the Group make a substantial
contribution to people’s well-being. As a result, we are
acutely aware of our obligation to provide high-quality
services and products in order to improve and maintain the
health and well-being of our patients.

We strictly comply with all relevant applicable laws, including
but not limited to the Health Products Act of Singapore, the
Poisons Act of Singapore, the Pharmacy and Poisons
Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Administrative Measures
for Aesthetic Medical Services of the PRC.

We are dedicated to improving and advancing the quality of
our dermatological and surgical specialty service as well as
dental service on a continuous basis. In our daily operations,
we strictly monitored our operations from patient registration,
diagnosis and treatment to efficiency management. This is
clearly communicated to our staff in the Business Process
Manual, the Group’s Staff Handbook and the internal control
manual, which are reviewed regularly to ensure the policies
are up to-date. Moreover, regular meetings with frontline staff
to discuss industry best practices are scheduled by the
operations managers. The meetings may cover aspects of
administrative practices, industry case studies, and clinical
learning.
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We have formulated quality standards and purchasing
guidelines in selecting and sourcing of skincare products. An
approval must be obtained from our in-house doctors prior to
the acceptance of any new over-the-counter skincare
products that our clinics will be distributing. In line with the
RMH’s Purchasing and Procurement Policy, we have also
implemented the following quality control procedures to our
DS brand skincare products:

1. In-house doctors to perform review on the medical
journals, reports, commentaries as well as the list of
ingredients used for the new type of skincare products
to ensure the products are safe for user.

2. Management to request for few rounds of sample
testing on the new skincare products to observe the
quality consistency and to assess for potential defects.

3. Sales and operation staff to perform inspection upon
delivery of the new skincare products to ensure the

following:
° No physically damaged on the products;
° Products are not passed the expiry date;

o Private labels applied to containers are clear;

° Product specifications are tallied with agreed
format; and

° Quantity of products received are tallied with
purchase order.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

BMERHERREESERHIEE
ERERRERS - BRI EAHFE
Ba 77 & ﬁ?mﬁﬁﬁ%&i% 153 85
Al MBEREPINARE LA -
ﬂiﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgali%mﬁﬁﬁ& * HAITR
28 IR FIH DS an b2 & 15 & i B 5 A
TEEEHRERF

1. KNNBELEeEREFLEREE
mBENBEEHT] . wE AT
WUARBEEMBIKDE - A
BREMHAPZE -

2. EHREGBRRUNEEERE
TEmOENNE  UBRE
EW— B RAHEBERBRK

3 HELMEBEETSANERE
MREREITREURRFRIAT
S

o  EmKBH:

o RB|LMBABREBH

o  EmRRBRTAEHERR
54

. WENERBREFTAHF
HEET & -



4. Sales and operation staff will perform the following
inventory monitoring procedures:

° Record the delivery and manufacturing date of
products;
° Monitor and maintain the stock level for all the

products in the inventory management system to
ensure products do not exceed the expiry date;
and

° Perform regular check on the products to ensure
products are in good condition.

During the Reporting Period, there were no reported cases of
medical supplies sold by the Group that had to be recalled
due to safety and health reasons.

Customer satisfaction

By actively engaging our clients through ratings and opinions
on Google Reviews, the Group aims to create and nurture
strong connections with them. During the Reporting Period,
we keep maintaining a satisfactory Google Reviews rating.
We have also given staff incentive to promote Google
Reviews. To obtain our clients’ opinions about our services or
skincare products, we have kept emails from Google My
Business showing Google Reviews ratings for our respective
clinics. Overall average ratings for our clinics are over 4 stars
which reflects that most of our clients are satisfied with our
services or skincare products.

We also developed Customer Complaint Policy to obtain
more comments from our clients. Our marketing manager will
be responsible for dealing with customer complaints. The
Marketing Department will investigate each complaint by
identifying potential causes. Detailed responses will be sent
to customers by our marketing manager. If necessary, we will
take corrective actions. All complaints are then properly
documented and filed for future reference and follow-up.
Complaints are examined and discussed for improvement at
the regular meetings in order to better understand how we
can improve the customer experience. Furthermore, we
decide to expand more communication channels with our
clients, including but not limited to emails, posts, suggestion
boxes placed at our clinics.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
significant complaints regarding product or service flaws.

Data Privacy Protection

The Group recognizes the responsibility in protecting
personal information. The Group strictly complies relevant
laws and regulations regarding data privacy, including but not
limited to the Personal Data Protection (Amendment) Act
2020 of Singapore, Laws of Hong Kong on Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance, Consumer Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China, to ensure that all data are
securely kept in our internal system with access control.

Data privacy protection measures are included in RMH’s
internal control manual. Our sales and operation staff are
responsible for safeguarding the privacy, confidentiality and
security of customer data entrusted to RMH. The Group’s
staff who will be handling personal data must adhere to the
data privacy protection measures. The Operations
Department of the Group will review the measures design
and the management team will monitor the implementation of
the measures on a regular basis. Some relevant measures as
follows:

4 Ensure that personal data is not read, copied,

modified, or removed without consent during electronic
transmission, transport, or storage on a data carrier;

v Ascertain that data acquired for various reasons will be
processed independently;

4 When not in use, physical records containing personal
data are securely stored and locked;

4 Prevent unauthorized individuals from accessing data;

4 Ascertain that personal data is secured from
unintended deletion or loss; and

v Ensure that all data-storage devices are appropriately
destroyed and reformatted after each use.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
confidential data or information breach.
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Intellectual Property Rights

We respect intellectual property rights, such as trademarks,
patents, and copyrights, among others. The Group primarily
relies on the applicable laws and regulations on trademarks,
trade secrets as well as confidentiality agreements to protect
its intellectual property rights, including but not limited to the
Patent Act of Singapore, the Trade Marks Act of Singapore,
Trade Marks Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group kept a complete record of its intellectual property
rights and will seek legal advice and take appropriate action if
any of its intellectual property rights are infringed upon. If our
staff is discovered to be in violation of applicable rules and
regulations, they may not only face disciplinary action, but
they may also be prosecuted and face criminal or civil liability,
as stated in the Group’s Staff Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, we believe that we have taken
all reasonable measures to protect our intellectual property
rights and deter any such infringement. We were unaware of
any infringement () by us of any intellectual property rights
owned by third parties; or (ii) by any third parties of any
intellectual property rights owned by us.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group recognizes the gravity of misleading health
advertisements. Therefore, the Group takes careful
precautions to prevent its patients from receiving misleading
health-related information or advice via advertisements and
poor labelling, by relying on relevant law and regulations
including but not limited to:

° The Medicines Act (Cap. 176) of Singapore;

o The Sale of Drugs Act of Singapore;

° Private Hospitals and Medical Clinics (Publicity)
Regulations of Singapore;

° The Trade Description Ordinance of Hong Kong; and

° Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China.
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Anti-corruption

Within RMH, we contained anti-corruption provisions,
including but not limited to bribery, extortion, fraud, and
money laundering, into the Group’s Staff Handbook. Bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering, or other unlawful offers
are all prohibited. The Group strictly complies with all
applicable laws including but not limited to the Prevention of
Corruption Act in Singapore, the Laws of Hong Kong on
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and the Criminal Law of the
PRC.

Soliciting, accepting, or offering any benefits, including but
not limited to gifts, coupons, and tips, from or to our clients,
suppliers, or anyone with a business relationship with the
Group is strictly banned, as stated in the Staff Handbook.
Staff are also barred from advising or dealing in any
transaction that could result in potential conflicts of interest,
and any potential conflicts of interest must be reported to the
Group’s Human Resources Department. Any breach of
behavior will result in the termination of the employment
contract or consultancy agreement (as the case may be), as
well as legal implications for the subject.

In addition, the Group has provided training regularly to all
levels of staff, including directors, superiors and general staff,
in order to equip them with an understanding of the latest
regulations and best practices relating to anti-corruption, self-
discipline, and integrity etc.

Whistle-blowing

We established our own internal Whistleblowing Policy to
support the detection of fraud and corruption risks. The
Whistleblowing Policy is implemented by the Human
Resources Department, and monitored the funds paid and
received by the Group by the Finance Department. The
Whistleblowing Policy is a critical tool for uncovering corrupt,
unlawful, or otherwise unacceptable behavior. The policy is
intended to allow employees to voice their concerns internally
and to reveal evidence that they believe demonstrates
malpractice or impropriety related to bribery, extortion, fraud,
or money laundering.
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To ensure the safety and secrecy of all whistle-blowers, the
policy specifies that if employees detect any suspicious
behavior, they should report it immediately in writing or
verbally to any of the Executive Directors. Following that, the
Executive Director and an investigating officer will handle the
situation quickly, professionally, and attentively. All of our
employees have undergone internal trainings to familiarize
themselves with the RMH’s internal Whistleblowing Policy
and thus are required to comply. This is to prevent employees
from obtaining personal interest from related parties who
have connections with RMH through bribery, extortion, and
fraud.

During the Reporting Period, there were no legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or the
employees.

COMMUNITY

8.

Community investment

RMH has consistently been committed towards corporate
social responsibility where it aims to promote and achieve a
positive impact toward the community. We actively
participate in medical conferences, seminars and workshops
in Singapore and overseas. We encourage our in-house
doctors and staff to attend these events as guest speakers
or participants, thereby raising awareness of prevention and
treatment of dermatological conditions toward the
community. In addition, our Executive Directors have also
contributed articles to medical journals, which increases the
industry awareness of our RMH and also contributed
invaluably to consumers and professionals across the
industry.

However, after careful consideration of the health and safety
of our employees and public participants under the
emergence of COVID-19 in the community, we have
postponed our public welfare activities during the Reporting
Period. Going forward, the Group will organize charity events
and volunteer services again in the future, and to give back to
society.
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General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description

Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

—REE(—RRE],
BRENER (BEERERD

A. Environmental
AR

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAT: HX

General Disclosure

— AR R

KPI' A1.1

BRAERIERATA

KPI'A1.2

FRAERIERAL2

KPI'A1.3

FASRAEIEIRAL3

i pu

Information on:
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

FHRRBRAEREHN  FHEKRIURELEEEREEZRE

EMH)

(@ BEX X

(o) BFHETAGEATENHERLROINER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.
BEn R AR B R BUR -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

B (BE1) RERME (BE2) BEEREHRE (UMETE) &
(WEA) ZE (M EES B - BIEREE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEABEEEMESE (UWTE) X (ER) #E
(MABESEM - BERBIE)
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(B - HEREBE|ERES) R

General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description

Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

—REE(—RRED,
BRENER (BEERERD

KPIA1.4

MRERIERA14

KPIA1.5

RSB IEUEIZA1.5

KPI'A1.6

B E ISR A1.6

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2: EREA

General Disclosure

—MRIKEE

KPI'A2.1

RASAE BUEIE A2

KPI'A2.2

FASAEIRIRA2.2

i pu

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEAEEEEYESE (UETE) R (WER)ZE
(WABESEN - BERZMBTE)

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

PR SZEVBERE B R R E RS L B R AT IRERE) 8%

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

BRI AERBEEEEYNE - MM ERE B IR R
REDEL BRI R o

Information on:

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

B -
BRERER(BIEER - KEREMRME) BERHER -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

A B S MERE R SHEEER(NE - Ralon) BEE
(AFETREFE) REE (WABESEN - FHERETH) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
BRRKENEE (WASES SN - §FERMAH) -

Relevant Chapter
or Remarks

HREHREE

Environmental
— Emission

BIE — 9

Environmental
— Emission

BIE — BERY)

Environmental
— Emission

RIE —

Environmental
— Use of Resource

B

— BRER

Environmental
— Use of Resource

R

— BRER

Environmental
— Use of Resource
RE— BIRFEA
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General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description
Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

—REE(—RRE], i pu
BRENER (BEERERD

KPI A2.3
achieve them.
BB TIEIZA2.3 HIMFrET SRR A= B R R BELRE
KPI A2.4
them.
BRESUEIRA2.4 Fa 3 SR B AR KR =] B AT R RE
RED|E L B RPN 2R -
KPI A2.5

BB RIERA2.5

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

AT BEM AN EE (ANEEE) k(1@

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EMEAS:

General Disclosure

—MRIREE AR BT ABRBE R RABIRIEKERZEOBE
KPI A3.1

and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
A B UIEIR ABA MM EBRDHRERRARERNEKRR
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BERRARER

environment and natural resources.

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment

BTTE
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General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description Relevant Chapter
Key Performance Indicators or Remarks
(“KPIs”)

—REE(—REED i MHEESSREDT

BRENER (BEERERD

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BHEA4 : RIFREL

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related Environmental
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. — Climate Change

— MR R B MEHCERARGHETAEEFENEARKEHEBEEN RE — RIREL
R -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Environmental
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions — Climate Change
taken to manage them.

RSB MUIEIR A4 BB SRR EHETAEAZENEARGEESEE - RESH RE — [EEL
178 -

B. Social

B. &

Employment and Labour Practices

BEREIESR

Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : EfE

General Disclosure Information on: Social
(@  the policies; and — Employment

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.
— MR ER BREF I EE  BEREA  TERE R TEKe 21 g — EE
1t~ RIBAR AR E A58 R AR FIA -

(a BX: X

b) BEIFHBRTABEAZENERMEREROIINEFR
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General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description

Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

—REE(—RRE],
BRENER (BEERERD

KPI B1.1

R RIEEBIA

KPIB1.2

MRAENIERB1.2

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2: REHEZ2

General Disclosure

— AR R

KPI'B2.1

BB R B2.1

KPIB2.2

MRENIERB2.2

KPIB2.3

RA4EIBIEB2.3

i pu

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or
part-time), age group and geographical region.

RIER - BEEE (W BEGER) - FEER i E 5
EEHEE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.
BIER  FRER RIEEEDOEERALE -

Information on:
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards

ERRHZE2THEREMRERE#RBELRETN

b) BIFHBTABEARZENERMEREROINEFR

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the
past three years including the reporting year
WE=ZF (BREERFE)FFERIUTHMAB LR -

Lost days due to work injury.
ETEELRTIERH -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and
how they are implemented and monitored.
M PTER AN B R R R 24806 - ARMBERITRERTE -
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General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description Relevant Chapter
Key Performance Indicators or Remarks
(“KPIs”)

—REE(—REED i MHEESSREDT

BRENER (BEERERD

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[BEB3 : &R KIEI

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging Social
duties at work. Description of training activities. — Development and
Training
— MR R FRARAEERTIERENMB RIRENECE - HEIEs) o HE — BREEI
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Social
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). — Development and
Training
BB 4B R 1R B3.1 RUERNREERN(WERERE FRERE)EASNTIEER HEw — BRKE
Lk e Bl
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Social
employee category. — Development and
Training
BB E 1R B3.2 RUERREERRED  BREETHZIIN TR - e — BREEI

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : % TR

General Disclosure Information on: Social
(@  the policies; and — Labour Standards

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.
—MR IR B IEET RGBT : e — SITHE
(@ BE: R

(o) ETHEITABEAZENRBERLIRM

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Social
child and forced labour — Labour Standards
BB E1R B4.1 R BB E AR R E T REHIST - e — STHE
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RE - HEREA/BEES) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description

Key Performance Indicators

(“KPIs”)

—REE(—RRE],
BRENER (BEERERD

KPI B4.2

RENIERBA.2

Operating Practices

EEE

i pu

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
e B IR R R B HRR A RIS S PT BRI 5% -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EmEBS5 : tIEEEE

General Disclosure

—RIEE

KPI B5.1

R4 BT B5.1

KPIB5.2

RS AE ISR B6.2

KPIB5.3

RS AE UIE1R B5.3

KPI B5.4

B IR 1R B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.
EIRMHIEEAIRE Rt G RBRIBUE o

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR E DM HEREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

MBI BHEENEN  mERTEREENNHEREE - )
NABRAIT R E R T0E -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

A B R R IR IRIE KAt 2 R A E A - LA K AS R
WITRERTE -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored

A BRE R R (218 % A IRRE m RIS 01 (] - LA AR R0
TRERTE -
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(B - HEREBE|ERES) R

General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description Relevant Chapter
Key Performance Indicators or Remarks
(“KPIs”)

—REE(—REED i MHEESSREDT

BRENER (BEERERD

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[BEB6: EmEE

General Disclosure Information on: Social — Product
(@)  the policies; and Responsibility

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress.

— MR BRER HEg -EmBE
EHAMEHEREREOERYELE BE RERLEFEUR
R ER
(@ X R
(o) BETFHETABEAZENHEBEELROIBER
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for Social — Product
safety and health reasons. Responsibility
A4 4B U 1R B6. 1 BEERCEREMEHT AL BERIBAMARKN B S - g — EmEE
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how Social — Product
they are dealt with. Responsibility
B E N E1R B6.2 BRANERRREHIRFEB AREE TR - e - EmEHE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Social — Product
intellectual property rights. Responsibility
BB EIEIR B6.3 BT RARIE AR ERAENED - HE - EmEE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Social — Product
Responsibility
BB RUEIR B6.4 B 240 E 112 M dn BIBUR Fr - g — EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and Social — Product
how they are implemented and monitored. Responsibility
BB NIEIZB6.5 HUMOEE & ERHRISE RALBEER - U RABBEHITRER T e - EmEE
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
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General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description Relevant Chapter
Key Performance Indicators or Remarks
(“KPIs”)

—REE(—REED it HEESSEDT

BRENER (BEERERD

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EEB7 : RESS

General Disclosure Information on: Social
(@  the policies; and — Anti-corruption
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

— MR BRI IEERER - IR - BEFROERER - He - RES
(a XX
(o) BFHBETAGEAZENHEBERZRROINER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought Social —
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and Anti-corruption
the outcomes of the cases.

BB IEIR BT .1 RESHAAHETAIHEERBEVEEENE THFARENEE HE — RES
PSEENCESE

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures,  Social —
and how they are implemented and monitored. Anti-corruption

RAS B IEIR BT .2 Ry E R b R R WIR T - ARSI RER A - e - REHS

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. ~ Social —

Anti-corruption

B A RUIEIR BT.3 mitmESZRE TRENRESHI - He - RES
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(B - HEREBE|ERES) R

General Disclosures (“GD”)/ Description Relevant Chapter
Key Performance Indicators or Remarks
(“KPIs”)

—REE(—REED i MHEESSREDT

BRENER (BEERERD

Community
HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EHEB8: HtERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the ~ Social — Community
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities Investment
take into consideration the communities’ interests.

—MRIREE BN E2ERTREEMEMERTERRREEREDEERE g — tERA

MR o

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,  Social — Community
labour needs, health, culture, sport). Investment
B4 4B U 1R B8, 1 HIEREEB(INHE BEEE  HIEk2F e 8BE) - g — HERE
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Social — Community
Investment
B AN I51E B8.2 EETEHBMEAEIR (e R RE) HEg - HRIRE
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@L Partners

TO THE MEMBERS OF RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of RMH
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 100 to 211, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all
other aspects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION

1.

Multiple Uncertainties Related to Going
Concern

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss from continuing
operations attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
S$$13,127,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022, and as at 31
December 2022, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities of $$6,765,000 and S$6,296,000 respectively, which
included financial guarantee liabilities provided for certain
subsidiaries in Singapore which were under liquidation (“Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries”) of S$4,076,000 and borrowings of
S$$182,000 that would be repayable within one year, while the
Group’s cash and cash equivalent balance was S$512,000.

The Group did not have sufficient cash and cash equivalents for
immediate settlement of borrowings and financial guarantee
liabilities as mentioned above.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided a corporate
guarantee in favour of banks in respect of banking facilities granted
to Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries with an outstanding principal
and accrued interest up to an aggregate amount of approximately
S$4,076,000. In regard of the liquidation of the respective
subsidiaries, which has net current liabilities as at 31 December
2022, Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries did not have sufficient
assets for settlement of the bank borrowings, and therefore, the
Group has the obligations to settle the amount in full under the
financial guarantee arrangement.

These factors indicated the existence of material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt on Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

FREREZRZER

1. HEEEKEHBNZEREEEE
BEIGRAMEHRERNE2 S EEERE
FE2022F12A31HIEFEHRE ERA

BEAEBGLBEBEREEBEIEBERY
13,127,000 ¥ i3 e » M & & B 72022
F12AN Az RBAaEFEREETFEY
71 496,765,000 %1 114 7T K 6,296,000 %7 Ml
Wit ERRERIINEE T EERERS
PEERRII B A Bl ([ 3TN BB WE A A ])
IR B FIE(R B (& 4,076,000 57 003 T &
AR —FAEEB{EFK 182,000 FT MNE T
BE E5EENReRReFTEVMESRAR
512,000 #T AN T ©

EEEYEARRERRNSEEYHANE
REE DAEREMBEREE -

202212 B31H © S£EEMIZETFHM
WEBKBARMRITRERMIURTA
Ram AMTERR HEREERNS RE
57 B 4858 5 % 4 5 4,076,000 1 N T °
RSB ARNERER (R2022F 12
A31ABRSDEEFE)  FIMNEBEEMN
BARTERHEESERITENR
It BEREEBECREVHEERTHER
BIEBRRIE -

ZEARKABRFEEATEESEE
ARl BEEENBELERIBKEK
REMA
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

1.

94

Multiple Uncertainties Related to Going
Concern (Continued)

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
which are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome
of these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties,
including (i) whether Singapore Liquidators (as defined below) will
agree to extend the settlement date of the outstanding borrowings
together with accrued interest balances of the financial guarantee
provided to Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries; (ii) whether the
Group can raise sufficient funds through capital market or from
other sources to finance the settlement of the outstanding
balances; (i) whether the ultimate holding company will be able to
provide further funding to the Group under the deed of funding
undertakings as and when needed; (iv) whether the Group can
successfully improve its operation and further control capital and
operating expenditures by exploration into new business segment
to mitigate the potential negative impact of COVID-19 pandemic
and generate sufficient operating cash inflow; and (v) whether the
Group can successfully implementing measures to speed up the
collection of outstanding sales proceeds.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

1.

Multiple Uncertainties Related to Going
Concern (Continued)

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, the potential interaction
of these uncertainties, and the possible cumulative effect thereof,
we were unable to form an opinion as to whether the going concern
basis of preparation is appropriate.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the abovementioned plans
and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a
going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and
to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

Insufficient accounting records of certain
subsidiaries in Singapore

As stated in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
joint and several interim judicial managers (the “Singapore
Liquidators”) were appointed to certain subsidiaries operated in
Singapore (“Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries”) by the High Court
of Singapore, pursuant to written resolutions of the directors of
subsidiaries in November 2022 (the “Deconsolidation Date”). The
Singapore Liquidators are empowered and authorised to exercise
all powers and entitlements of the directors of Singapore Liquidated
Group of which the Company holds an interest, and preserve the
assets of Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries conferred by the
Insolvency, Restructuring and Dissolution Act 2018. Singapore
Liguidated Subsidiaries were deconsolidated from the consolidated
financial statements of the Group with effect from 28 November
2022. Consequently, the Group had deconsolidated Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries as the directors of the Company considered
that the Group’s control over Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries
had been lost from the date of the Deconsolidation Date.

TRRERZE#R ()
1. ERFFECEHBENZSRITRESRE

()
MARESETRERE RS TREF
H BT R R R A R RE
EEEARBEEENENELREAE
BERER -

W EEBREER LN EREE 8
RUBBERREEEEHLEGE B

SEHARAE BEEENEENREE
HWORZE R M @ 258 - BRI AR E A T

—FREFLER  REFERBEENIE
MBRENNEFOBERRBEER RS
BE ZEREBENTENREZSHEY

¥R A AR -

ERERFMENBIMBLATNE
PRt E

WANERE MR 2R - RIBEH S
NAEER2022F 11 B([#&IEAGFEH])
MEMAZE  HARSHBREREER
AN(FNEFEADEHMNES S ERE
FERF N EENE THE RS (FN
WEBHBERARD - IMEEBABER
ERETE B/ ARSFINEE
BB RARIESMMEED RERN - WIR
F2018F I E « EANFAEARAME T
N BERNBATMEE - MINBEER
B AR B2022F11 A28 HETHBE&EAE
HA ESEENGKETBHRE At A
B BERAREERA ESEBEBRILEAH
H AR B R A N /5 BT B A F A9 IE
HliE - B BEECEBR Y FINEE LK
BREREs -
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

2.

96

Insufficient accounting records of certain
subsidiaries in Singapore (Continued)

The books and records of Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries were
kept and maintained by the Singapore Liquidators which were not
made available to the Group’s management subsequent to
Deconsolidation Date. Under such circumstances, we were unable
to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries, which were engaged in the healthcare
service segment.

As a result, we were unable to carry out audit procedures to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the existence, ownership, completeness,
accuracy, valuation of total assets and total liabilities as at
Deconsolidation Date and of its loss on deconsolidation arising
thereon was fairly stated.

In addition, as were unable to carry out audit procedures to satisfy
ourselves as to whether income and expenses for the period from 1
January 2022 to the Deconsolidation Date of Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries and included in the discontinued operation for
healthcare service segment and other related disclosure as
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group,
have been accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements.

As a result of these matters, we were unable to determine whether
any adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of
any significant contingent liabilities and commitment as at
31 December 2022 and recorded or unrecorded transactions and
the elements making up the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

2. Insufficient accounting records of certain
subsidiaries in Singapore (Continued)

Opening balances and comparative information

As described in the preceding paragraphs, due to the absence of
sufficient supporting documents and more detailed explanations in
relation to the accounting records in connection to the opening
balances and comparative information made available to the
directors of the Company from the former management of the
Group in respect of Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries, we were
unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence over the
account balances as at 31 December 2021 and the profit or loss,
cash flows, changes in equity and notes to consolidated financial
statements of the Group and Company for the year then ended.
Any adjustments that might have been found necessary to the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021 and 1 January 2022 would have a consequential
effect on the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Any adjustments to be made in respect of the above matters might have
a significant consequential effect on the Group’s consolidated financial
performance and consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2022, and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

FRREAZER (@)

2. EERFMENDBIMEBLATNNS
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OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion in those consolidated financial statements on 25
March 2022.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and to issue an auditor’s report. We report solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
forwards or accept liability to any other person for the content of this
report. However, because of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to form an
audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements due to the
significant of the matters. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

CL PARTNERS CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Cho Yi

Practising Certificate Number: P07897
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
fo 1L i B L th 2 i L 2

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

2022
2022 F

$$'000

T3 g T

2021
2021 £
(RESEE))

(&)
$$'000
THTANBTT

Continuing operations HEREER
Revenue W &5 7 4,241 238
Other operating income Hapsg A 10 318 1,029
Consumables and medical supplies used EREERNEERR (3,534) 89
Employee benefits expense EEBAMFAX (3,221) (2,202)
Amortisation of intangible assets m A EH 18 (184) (163)
Depreciation of plant and equipment MWE REETE 17 (123) (289)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 21 (2,033) (1,671)
Other operating expenses HgeEms (2,170) (1,416)
Finance costs B TS PR AR 11 (218) (113)
Other gains and losses H bWz 2 B 18 12 (4,529) (250)
Impairment loss on trade and B 5 I B Ath JEUGRIE DA &2

other receivables, and deposits, B RERE - HOREE

net of reversal 24 (1,674) (742)
Impairment loss on plant and equipment WE K EEREEE 17 - (887)
Share of result of a joint venture JEIREE N EE 22 - -
Loss before tax BRBLATES 18 13 (13,127) (6,455)
Income tax credit FriS Bt e 14 = -
Loss for the year from continuing BECEEBERNER

operations (13,127) (6,4595)
Discontinued operations EBRIEEEETE
Loss for the year from discontinued ERIEREERFEEE

operations 35 (5,530) (2,330)
Loss for the year FREE (18,657) (8,785)
Other comprehensive income (expense): HtZ2mEk= (BIx) :
Item that may be reclassified HewEHsEEB8sNER

subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation on BEGINETER

foreign operation b ZE R 18 (57)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FREM2EWZE (BIX)

for the year 18 (67)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FR2HE XA (18,639) (8,842)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4
(RESEVE))

(#&=E751)
Notes S$°000 S$°000
B 5 F F7hndg T TN T

Loss for the year attributable to: FE{EEREE
Owners of the Company AAREBA
— from continuing operations — RAFELLER (13,119) (6,4595)
— from discontinued operations — REERIEEEER (5,530) (2,330)
(18,649) (8,785)
Non-controlling interests FFERER
— from continuing operations — RERBBEKEEYS ) -
(18,657) (8,785)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FE{EERDEHLA%E :
attributable to:
— from continuing operations — RARFBEEEXEBE
Owners of the Company KARER A (13,101) (6,512)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR ) -
(13,109) 6,512)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FE{EER2EB L E%E :
attributable to:
— from discontinued operations — REERIEEEER
Owners of the Company KAREBA (5,530) (2,330)
Basic and diluted loss per share ADBEHEEAENL
attributable to owners of the Company BREARETEE
(Singapore cents) (i3 5 ) 16
From continuing and discontinued operations 3% B #4848 & [z B 4% | (& 275 (1.43) (0.92)
From continuing operations PSESE S (1.01) (0.68)
From discontinued operations REDRIHCEET (0.43) (0.24)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
LEa M ESIR DL R

As at 31 December 2022 20224 12 431 H

2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4
S$’000 S$°'000
F 7 03 T FET AN T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment B K& 17 426 1,927
Intangible assets M AE 18 608 789
Deposits birecra 24 404 700
Right-of-use assets EREEE 21 2,586 5,857
Investment in a joint venture BENFIRE 22 = -
4,024 9,273
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 23 1,052 1,096
Trade and other receivables, B 5 R HE A RS GRIE -
deposits and prepayment e MIEMFIE 24 5,201 5,766
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEFABE ([BATE
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) AFABmEDNEREE 20 1,607 616
Finance lease receivables BE R E W ROE 19 = 18
Bank balances and cash IRITEHREIE S 25 512 2,138
8,372 9,634
Current liabilities B =NE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMENFRIE 26 9,251 2,639
Contract liabilities AHAaE 27 12 343
Financial guarantee liabilities WBEREE 28 4,076 -
Lease liabilities HEBR 29 1,616 2,544
Borrowings (RN 30 182 1,309
Tax payables FE AT HE = 22
15,137 6,857
Net current (liabilities) assets RE(BE) EBEFE (6,765) 2,777
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAR (2,741) 12,050
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fa 1 B SR Ol

As at 31 December 2022 20224 12 31 H

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4

S$°000 S$°000

FHIMET — THIET

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 1,062 3,523
Trade and other payables B REMEMNFIE 26 = 277
Amount due to a related party FE 1< BAEEE 75 7R 0E 36 2,493 -
Borrowings B 30 = 3,683
Deferred tax liability RIERIEEE 31 = -
3,555 7,483

Net (liabilities) assets (BR)EEFE (6,296) 4,567
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital A A 32 2,273 1,493
Reserves G (8,561) 3,074
(Deficit) equity attributable to owners AATHEE AL (B4 R

of the Company (6,288) 4,567
Non-controlling interests FERER (8) -
Total (deficit) equity (4 = (6,296) 4,567

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 211 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March
2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yang Zhangxin
BEE
Director

2F

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F100E 211 EZ iR R ERLAEEZT 2142023
FIA BHEREETE  WHATALTRE
HEE:

Lee Chung Shun
TR
Director

2F

RFaFBRRAMMIEE -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

Reserves
e
Foreign
currency Other Share Non-
Share Share  translation reserve option  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve (Note) reserve losses Sub-total interests
pepg RoftE BRE
e RBEE 1] (H3t) B i EE Nt FERER
$§000 S$'000 $§000 $§000 5§00 $§'000 5§00 $§000
T Mg TEMET TR i1 i) o T THET
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1518 1,087 9,589 39 2,165 - (7,299 5331 - 5,531
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (8,785) (8,785) - (8,785)
Other comprehensive expense for the year £ (12 ERIX - - (67) - - - (57) - (57)
Total comprehensive expense for the year  FRZERH % £ - - (57) - - (8,789) (8842) - (8842)
Issue of shares by placing ERRERRA 456 7,542 - - - - 7998 - 7998
Transaction costs attributable ke
to1ssue of shares EER SRR - (120) - - - - (120) - (120)
At 31 December 2021 and R2021E12831BR
1 January 2022 02%E181A 1,493 17,011 (18 2,165 - (16,084) 4567 - 4567
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (18,649) (18,649) ® (18,657)
Other comprehensive income for the year - FRE 2 E MR - - 18 - - - 18 - 18
Tota comprehensiee income fevpense) 2 EE (B%)
forthe year ot - - 18 - - (18,649) (18,631) ] [18,609)
lssue of shares under rights issues —— HREIR(AE 1T T4 6,722 - - - - 7,469 - 7469
Transaction costs attrbutable toissue AR BRIA
of shares - (2r) - - - - ) - r)
Share-based payment recognised BRARNRR - - - - 205 - 225 - 225
Cancelation of share options iERE - - - - (4) 4 - - -
Exercise of share options IRk kX! 393 - - 67) - 359 - 359
Effect on change of functional curency B 3ey £ %2 - - 14 - - (14 - - -
At 31 December 2022 202251231 B 2273 23,849 14 2165 112 (34,701) (6,288) ] 6,299]

Note: Other reserve represents the proceeds from issue of shares of Unified Front

104

Limited to a pre-IPO investor and the difference between the share capital of
the Company issued pursuant to the reorganisation and the share capital of
Unified Front Limited acquired by the Company.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ol EhER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

2022
2022 &

S$’000
F Frhndg T

2021
2021 4F
S$000

TN T

Operating activities R SEE
Loss before tax from continuing and REFELERBRIHEEEBTT
discontinued operations BRELATE B (18,649) (8,871)
Adjustments for: FHE -
Finance costs IR I 218 340
Depreciation of plant and equipment ME MEETE 572 810
Amortisation of intangible assets WA EE 196 169
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERTE 2,990 2,777
Interest income FEWA = (46)
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables B 5 I FoAth FE UK IE &2
and deposits, net of reversal B REEE - RERE 1,674 690
Impairment loss on plant and equipment B KR EE A - 887
Write off of plant and equipment 58 5 B RS A L B 1,033 3
Write off of inventories MigFE 120 -
Write off of other receivables and deposits S H A W B R IR S 1,258 -
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use BIEEREeRAET
assets under a finance sublease RAEEEN = 82)
Gain on termination of sublease arrangement BB R - (311)
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets RRERILEHECREEERE
upon early termination 1,569 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (BBEAL
through discontinued operations (Note 35) LR RS B 18 (B9RE35) 1,067 -
Fair value changes on financial assets at FVTPL WA E AER
HNEeRMEENATFES 864 (19)
Financial guarantee provided for disposal T EHTE A RIRE RIS ER
subsidiaries 4,076 -
Reversal of provision of renovation upon IR TS LS B O MosE s HE
early termination of lease arrangement (93) -
Share-based payment VAR S 1+ 3k38 225 -
Operating cash flows before working LEEEPFINCEHENE
capital changes (2,880) (3,649)
Movements in working capital: EEE D
Increase in inventories FEEN (811) (246)
Increase in trade and other receivables, B 5 R H AR RIR -
deposits and prepayment & RN FRIEE N (9,151) 2,113
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 & HAb e FRIE N 7,610 558
Increase in financial assets at FVTPL BATE ABRHS R EELIN - (601)
Decrease in contract liabilities AREERD 168 -
Cash used in operations KEFTARRE (5,064) (6,051)
Income tax paid [BANIZIECY (22) (77)
Cash used in operating activities REFTHAARSE (5,086) (6,128)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEaHESRER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

2021

2021 £
(RESEVE))

(&)
$$°000 S$'000
FHMPET — THIET

Investing activities REEE
Purchase of plant and equipment BB MR L& (1,281) (566)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERANTETABENSREE
profit or loss (1,729) -
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries ERERIECEERLENB AR
through discontinued operation MIRE M FE (251) -
Purchase of intangible assets HEERTLEE (45) (636)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment HEBE N REFTSIE 28 -
Repayment from a joint venture BENTER = 124
Redemption in convertible loan fE [0 Al R B K = 30
Repayments of finance lease receivables B E T E W IEE R = 542
Cash used in investing activities REZHFFARSE (3,278) (506)
Financing activities RS ST B
Interest paid BAFE (84) (340)
Repayment of borrowings EEEK (536) (681)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEERE (2,845) (3,040)
Repayment of finance lease liabilities EEemHEEaE 18 -
Advanced from a related party — &R B 2,493 -
Net drawndown from borrowings B BRI ER A R 56 -
Proceeds from issuance of shares upon placing RECE BT TS RIE - 7,998
Proceeds from issuance of shares by rights issues A% 2517 A& 10 FT1S 20 IB 7,469 -
Proceeds from issuance of shares by TR EE AR BT TR () PTG RUIR
exercise of share options 359 -
Payment of transaction costs attributable ST B
to issue of shares FEAE 2 B R AR (277) (120)
Cash generated from financing activities METEREBES 6,653 3,817
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekFeSEYRDFRE (1,711) (2,817)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year £ #3R% RIESEEY 2,138 4,932
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fEREEH L 85 23
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear FRELREALZHEY 512 2,138
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ak 3 SV 05 e o B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

GENERAL

RMH Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability. Its
registered office is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is at Room 2501,
25/F., Harbourside HQ, 8 Lam Chak Street, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The head office and principal place of
business of the Company in Singapore is at #17-01/02 Paragon
(Office Tower), 290 Orchard Road, Singapore 238859. It is listed on
Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“HKEX”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 37.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 were authorised on 31 March 2023 for issue by
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the applicable International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the GEM
Listing Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on HKEX and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

—REIE
BHIERERAR((RRF D B —RER
EREFMRIAEREBERAT - AR
A) /Y & i ¥ = B2 #h 4k A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° AA2
AEBBNETELEME ST B NEER
B8R ARIE 25182501 & o AN EAE M
oo E B E R B T R #17-01/02
Paragon (Office Tower), 290 Orchard Road,
Singapore * E#7 238859 © AA Al A& B
& X5 MmARL AR A GEM
([GEMJ) k7T -

ARABRAEBRAR  WERRAEEHE
ERMFER7 IR E -

HZE2022F 12 B31 B I FENLGEA ITH
HRON2023F3 AT HEARNRESS
([EEg))RERE-

MRGEMBHRERCEE

GAMBRERDREERGHEREER
(BB st IR F ) o B BT 7
R (B B 2R ) G - it
Oh A BREAR NRAY X ES
AR D A AR B A
BER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

2

108

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Going concern

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has recorded a
net loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the
Company of S$13,127,000; and as at 31 December 2022, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
S%$6,765,000. Current portion of the Group’s borrowings amounted
to approximately S$182,000 and financial guarantee liabilities
provided for Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries as of approximately
S%$4,076,000. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has cash and
cash equivalent of approximately of S$512,000, and it indicated
that the Group did not have sufficient cash and cash equivalent to
settle the outstanding balances when they call for immediate
repayment.

These events and conditions indicate the existence of multiple
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance
of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concem. Certain measures have been taken to
mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial position
which include, but are not limited to, the following:

° The Group will prioritise the disposal of its existing short-term
investments, including the disposal of certain listed equity
investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL with
carrying amount of S$1,607,000 as at 31 December 2022;

° The Group will closely monitor, review and speed up its
collection with trade receivables and other debts, in order to
expedite the recovery of liquidity capital to replenish its
liquidity shortfall;

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

mAFSNBHRR 2 EE @)

o 42 4T ek
FiE R

HZE2022F12A31BIEFE  AEEE
B ANRHE ANEERECEERTE
813,127,000 % 103 7T+ K 722022 F 12
A31B AEEMRSHEEBRERHE
£ 6,765,000 ¥ N4 7T o AN E B & KA B ER
#h5> # /182,000 #7 N3 7 K M) 5 b8
BB ARREMNVBEREELNAR
4,076,000%7 hN# 7T © 72022F12 A31H -
AEEMBR SRR SFEWL A512,000
Fgor c RAAEBEWERANE SR
ReSEBYRESERIANEERBFESR
BEERE -

HEBERIBRER  TESETREE
A A RSB EEE
KR -

ERZEBN  ARFEFEEEEEALN
SEARRNADES RKBERATHAD
BERER  UHEAKEEE A TR
BEREIRFELE - ARFDRIE THHE
NG EREBDESE N Rk ZFEFBAMMR -
EREREJRETRR

o AEBEREeEEZERNEHREREH
wE RREESEAZRATETA
BalmemEEMS T EmRAR
& HEREENR2022F12 A31HA
1,607,000 ¥ A03 7T

o AEEREUEE - RE RINRER
BRI EL M AR B YR TAE - IADNTR
CERBDES  BARDESTRE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Sr o B 5 R A B R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

° The Group will actively communicate with the Singapore
Liguidators as well as with the financial institutions that
providing banking facilities to Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries in order to further and thoroughly verify the
legitimacy, rationality, and authenticity of related debt
liabilities and guarantee obligations;

o The Group will improve its operation through streamlining its
existing non-core business and assets and expansion of new
segment, so as to improve efficiency of assets utilisation and
reducing operating costs; and

° The Group is actively pursuing alternative financing options,
including plans to bring in new investors, or to subscribe for
debentures and notes of the Company, or to subscribe for
new shares of the Company that may be issued, in order to
settle existing debts and for future operating and capital
expenditure.

In view of the above, the directors of the Company taking into
account the above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the next
twelve months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
value of the assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to classify non-current assets
and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively. The
effects of these potential adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Deconsolidation of Subsidiaries

In November 2022, the Company and certain subsidiaries operated
in Singapore (“Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries”) received
demand letters from the United Overseas Bank In Singapore
(“UOB”) for repayment of the outstanding principal borrowings and
accrued interests of S$4,076,000 in regard of the breach of the

facilities.

On 28 November 2022, the Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries were
unable to repay the outstanding amounts when due and the joint
and several interim judicial managers (the “Singapore Liquidators”)
were appointed by the High Court of Singapore and by pursuant to
written resolutions of above mentioned Singapore entities. The
Singapore Liguidators are empowered and authorised to exercise
all powers and entitlements of the directors of Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries of which the Company holds an interest, and preserve
the assets of Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries conferred by the

Insolvency, Restructuring and Dissolution Act 2018.

Consequently, the Group had deconsolidated Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries as the directors of the Company considered that the
Group’s control over Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries had been

lost at the Deconsolidated Date.

Therefore, the directors of the Company have determined to
exclude the financial position, financial results and cash flows of the
Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries from the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as 31 December 2022. The net assets of the
Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries were recognised as gain or loss

on disposal of subsidiaries at the date of deconsolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

w55 W B S Bt
For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

3 CHANGE OF FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY

Prior to 31 December 2022, Singapore Dollar (“S$”) was regarded
as the functional currency and presentation currency of the

Company and the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the directors of the Company consider that, as a
result of the liquidation and discontinued of the operation of the
healthcare service segment in Singapore, and with more focus on
development on dental care for senior in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), thus, the primary economic
environment in which the Group’s operates has changed.
Therefore, it is more appropriate to use Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”)

as the functional currency of the Company.

The change in functional currency was accounted for in accordance
with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 21 “The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”. The change in functional
currency of the Company was applied prospectively from the date

of change in accordance with IAS 21.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

4

112

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS

New and amended IFRS Standards that are
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendment to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
Amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendment to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts
— Costs of Fulfiling a Contract
Amendment to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
IFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

4

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business combinations
for which the acquisition date was on or after 1 January 2022. The
amendments update a reference in IFRS 3 Business Combinations
so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”)
instead of Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010), add a
requirement that, for transactions and events within the scope of
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or
IFRIC 21 Levies, an acquirer applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed
in a business combination and add an explicit statement that an
acquirer does not recognize contingent assets acquired in a
business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to IAS
37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The Group has applied the amendments the first time in the current
year. The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses
whether a contract is onerous in accordance with IAS 37, the
unavoidable costs under a contract should reflect the least net cost
of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling
it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it.
Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental costs and an
allocation of other cots that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (e.g.
an allocation of the deprecation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfiling the contract).

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the amendments are
applicable to contracts for which the Group has not yet fuffilled all
its obligations as at the date of initial application, 1 January 2022.
Specifically, the Group’s assessment of onerous contracts in
relation to outstanding unfulfilled contracts.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance.
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4 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments IFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

IFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts’
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
and IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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4

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

IAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out
by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in IAS
8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measures at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payments, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

BRANFET R RAE 7T 22 Bl (430)

B S ERES R AFTHNER
SEHEN)

ZEBI AR EGE R PRI BRE
PRABTREMTECERDE] - g5t
BERABEMEM BRRIA B AARES R
AAETHEEEZSAGE — BEEEA
EREZEHBANBLEBERERS
M E¥eESE - WEMBEELMHET -
EUBERT  BERAFSHZGH AR
REKGTHEMB BN - IEEZE
HEFT P RARAMA SRR 2R
TTHIET SRR -

Lo BFR R ERE 8 R 2 @At b A
B HMORRE  WESEINEE -

ERZEFEIATRRAE T EEARENLG
BUBRRENERNTZE -

BEREBE
RFAUBREDRE R KALERY -
WE AN T SCATEL R A B AL - S R
REATEIEZETSRIARS -

FESL A — R ER R E M R E
A TFEEFE °

RFHERTHLEERAEAREARFR
SHRHEBEEM NI RERERAET L

NHER TwZEREEEEXBREAIRG
HER S —RAEETAMGE - REFTEE
HEBNRFER  AEEZET TS
HEBDENERRREELBBEETE
EBREZEZEHE - £8P BEREBE
BR/YABBEORNTEGEUER ETHU
HEE - MEBIFR M S RS AR 257 UK 17
XN BERNABRND N 25 - BEERY
BHEENF16RHAEBEANEER S
AR BN SEERRAME N JE A T AN 2 ()

FEHBER & AR 36 5 & AR E T
EREE) BRI -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Sr o B 5 R A B R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value adjustments
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value adjustments are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control
until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All'intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the
carrying amount of the assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners to the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified or permitted by applicable IFRSs).

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2022

BEAEHBER @)

BOFE%E (&)
HEERBERRPIALAFESE=EE
=N EAXZEEMES  ARRSEHN
AHEERGEGIREHR -

AN TSI E D BRI - FAE
HFAELE  URARRREHZMB AR
ZEMERLILEARE  LEE  WE
RARFAMEEIHEZ WA KRR A
ARBPISENEEREETBHZNE
NEERENE 2 Bt A SRR RS REM
2HWER °

BakEtermbasBEEBBRAAR
BB ARIEERER - MEBRARNHZHEK
HEEEBN AR AR AR
BN E S BRI R A AR ©

REVER GBS ERAE
AR B BE SR AEE NG K
H—H -

AEBKERARIBEBARZNAAEEN
REHEERARE B WA FA
ERERECHEE AR 2HEH -

MERNEBEKRELH BRI ZEHI#E - %
MBARZEERBERIEER  AllE
FERERIEZABRAU T IMER 2=
BT E () TR E 2 AT E R T RREE
w2 AN AR K () B E 2 5ol iR E E A
ARG EAEENBRARZAE - BAE
EEBEMNBARZEM2EKEERZAT
R (BREA 7 BRI ks R A
BEKEFEFTHHEEBRREBREH
A ALR R HARR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ak 3 SV 05 e o B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business,
the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of a
single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is
presented on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, which comprises:

—  the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to
fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets
or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.

Investments in joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are
incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in joint venture (Continued)

Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
recognised initially in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint

venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in a joint venture. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in joint venture (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date
when the investment ceases to be a joint venture. When the Group
retains an interest in the former joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition in accordance with IFRS 9. The
difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture at the
date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest
in the joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that joint venture on the same
basis as would be required if that joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when
the joint venture is disposed of.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in a joint venture
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a Group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that
are not related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
asset at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their

entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet both of the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial assets; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group may make the following
irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial
asset:

o the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

° the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that
meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9
(including trade and other receivables, deposits and cash and cash
equivalents) are subsequently measured at amortised costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a
credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting
the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses,
to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the other
hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost and at
FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“Other operating income” line item.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Specifically:

° Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL,
unless the Group designates an equity investment that is
neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising
from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria
or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In addition,
debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria
or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group
has not designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as at each
reporting date, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “Other operating expenses” line item.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
IFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, deposits, finance
lease receivables and cash and cash equivalents). The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective

financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
finance lease receivables. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money

where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-months ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset
being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default

occeurring.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result
from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the

reporting date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to
the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
performance or results of the debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory or economic environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
generally more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

° information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
based on factors considered such as past payment history,
ongoing business dealings, settlement arrangements and financial
status of the debtor, being reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Definition of default (Continued)

In considering the 90 days past due deemed defaulted
presumption, it is not expected to be significantly consequential on
the amount of expected credit losses measured because of the
counterbalancing interaction between the way the Group defines
default and the credit losses that arise as a result of that definition
of default. Differences in default definition for the Group is not as
pertinent because the Group does not have to determine the
significant increase in credit risk indicators given that the Group has
simplified approach to impairment model.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; or

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; or

C) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider; or

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract or invoice and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate. For finance lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the expected credit losses is consistent with
the cash flows used in measuring the finance lease receivable in
accordance with IFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee, the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is
the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that incur less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor, or any other party.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for
cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk at the
individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial

instruments are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables are each assessed as a separate group or

individual basis.);

o Past-due status;

° Nature or industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is reviewed periodically by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that
the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-months

ECL at the current reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their

carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount due
to a related party and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantee liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

— the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and

—  the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset and the estimated cost of asset retirement.
The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that
the future economic benefits embodies within the part will flow to
the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the
day-to-day servicing of plant and equipment are recognised in the
profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
plant and equipment, less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct
labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
of inventories are determined on a weighted average basis. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and other
directly attributable costs of developing the software for its intended
use. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite
useful lives

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash- generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit
(“CGU")) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite
useful lives (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
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5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at
inception of the contract based on the definition under IFRS 16.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date of lease
arrangement and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of
low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small
items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the
Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease Liabilities

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

° Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; and

° Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method by increasing the carrying amount to
reflect interest on the lease liability and netting off with lease

payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)

whenever:

° The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or
change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the

date of reassessment.

° The lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
an initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is
due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a

revised discount rate is used).

° When a lease contract is modified, and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case, the
related lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term
of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date

of the modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods

presented.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise (i) the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability; (i) lease payments made at or before
the commencement day, less any lease incentives received; (i) and
any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost

less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and
remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or
restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a
right-of- use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use

asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and

included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease
term and useful life of the underlying asset on a straight-line method

at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as
described in the ‘Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets excluding goodwill’ policy.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate
non-lease components, and instead account for any lease and
associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The
Group has not used this practical expedient. For a contracts that
contain a lease component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-

alone price of the non-lease components.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying
assets to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All

other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sub-lease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease
is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the

right- of-use asset arising from the head lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease in profit or loss. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and

recognised on a straight- line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the
leases measured at the implicit interest rate for the respective lease.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net

investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group regularly reviews the
estimated unguaranteed residual value and applies the impairment
requirements of IFRS 9, recognising an allowance for expected

credit losses on the lease receivables.

Finance lease income is calculated with reference to the gross
carrying amount of the lease receivables, except for credit-impaired
financial assets for which interest income is calculated with
reference to their amortised cost (i.e. after a deduction of the loss

allowance).

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under the
contract to each component on the basis of their relative stand-

alone selling prices.
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5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency transactions and translation

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are
measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).

In preparing the financial statements of the individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated. When a fair value gain or loss on a
non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on retranslation of monetary items are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group at exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a
foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operations, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency transactions and translation

(Continued)

If the Group’s presentation currency is different from the
Company’s functional currency, exchange differences relating to
the retranslation of the Group’s net assets to the Group’s
presentation currency are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in foreign currency
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

The change in functional currency of the Company was applied
prospectively from the date of change. All items were translated
into HK$ at the exchange rate on that date. The cumulative
currency translation differences which had arisen from the
translation of foreign operations up to the date of the change in
functional currency were not reclassified from equity to profit or loss

until the disposal of the relevant operations.

The change in presentation currency of the Company was applied

retrospectively, as if HK$ had always been applied.

Borrowings costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as

the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when control of a promised goods or
service is transferred to a customer.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

Rendering of consultation and medical skincare treatment
services

Revenue from provision of consultation services (“Consultation
Services”) relate to contracts with patients in which our
performance obligations are to provide consultation to the patients
under a fixed terms. The revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation. Performance obligations for consultation
services are generally satisfied over a service period of less than
one day.

Revenue from provision of medical skincare treatments of surgical
and non-invasive/minimally invasive in nature (“Treatment Services”)
generally related to contracts with patients in which our
performance obligations are to provide the required treatment
services to the patient towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation under the service contract. Prepaid
treatment packages are to be received from customers, and such
receipts are deferred and recognised as contract liabilities in the
consolidated of financial position initially and subsequently
recognised as revenue when the services are provided to
customers. Customers may not exercise all of their contractual
rights within the valid service periods. Those expected unexercised
rights are referred to as “breakage”. The expected unexercised
rights on Treatment Service is recognised as revenue when the
likelihood of the customer exercising its remaining rights become
remote. Any contract liabilities outstanding at the expiry of
Treatment Services period are fully recognised in profit or loss.

Dispensing medical skincare products

Revenue from dispensing of medical skincare products
(“Prescription and Dispensing Services”) is recognised at point in
time when the patient takes possession of and accepts the
medication and skincare products at the Group’s service centres.
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5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Rendering of aesthetic medical services

Revenue from provision of non-surgical/non-invasive medical
skincare treatments (“Aesthetic Services”) generally relate to
contracts with patients in which our performance obligations are to
provide the required services to the patients. Considerations are

generally received upfront and recognised as contract liabilities.

Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation. The progress towards completion of satisfaction of
performance obligation is measured by direct measures of value of

individual services transferred to customers.

Sales of healthcare products

Revenue from the sales of healthcare products (“Sales of
Healthcare Products”) is recognised at the point in time when the
control of the goods has transferred, being at the point the goods
are delivered to the customer. Delivery occurs when the goods

have been shipped to the customer’s specific location.

Rendering orthodontics and implantology services

Revenue from orthodontics and implantology services (“Dental
Services”) is recognised over time, using an output method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the services.
The progress is measured based on the Group’s stage of each
services provided. Payment is received upfront from patient and
recognised as contract liabilities at consolidated statement of

financial position as at the date payment received.

Revenue from other services (“Other Services”) generally relate to
laboratory test carried out as part of treatment procedures.
Performance obligation for such services are generally satisfied at

point in time when the relevant test has been completed.
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5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset
or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statements of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit/(loss) differs from ‘profit/(loss) before tax’ as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax liability is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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5

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease
liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution plan are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period that related services is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimation of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the shares options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount preciously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium account. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to share premium account.

Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise
cash on hand and at bank that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.
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6

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 5, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the group’s
accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of
judgements are not expected to have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart
from those involving estimates, which are dealt with below).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next twelve
months.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impact on COVID-19

The impact from COVID-19 pandemic has continued to impact
certain operations of the Group during the year. Measures
implemented by the government including travel restrictions,
lockdowns and safe distancing has impacted the Group’s business
operations such as the demand of services in Hong Kong and the
PRC and Singapore (under discontinued operation). These
challenges faced by the Group resulted in the following key
judgements and estimates relating to the valuation of receivables,
the carrying amount of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets taking into consideration available current
market information and conditions.

i) Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group records any ECLs on its trade and other
receivables based on the likelihood of default. During the
year, the Group carried out a review of the recoverability of
trade and other receivables taking into consideration the
profile of debtors, period that the amounts were past due, as
well as results of any collection efforts to determine if any
credit loss allowance is required. This led to the recognition
of impairment loss of trade and other receivables for
continuing operations of $$1,674,000 (2021: $742,000) in
profit or loss.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in
Note 24.
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6

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impact on COVID-19 (Continued)

i)

Impairment of carrying amount of plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

Given that continuing losses incurred for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 respectively, the Group
considered the impairment indicator exists for both Singapore
(discontinued in the current year) and Hong Kong business.
The Group performed the impairment assessment of the
cash generating units (“CGUs”) where the plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets belong
to by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGUs which
is the higher of the value-in-use (“VIU”) and fair value less
cost of disposal. The Group estimated the VIU by making an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from CGUs and
also applying a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. This led to the recognition
of impairment loss for continuing operations on plant and
equipment of S$887,000 (2022: Nil).
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7 REVENUE 7 Y &5
Revenue analysis Wz 7 A7
Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable for WS AEBN —REKBRERAIKE

goods sold and services rendered by the Group in normal course FiE SR MR HIRMGS D U K e A E5E -

of business to outside customers. The following is an analysis of UTAEREEREEFBEKTH NS
the Group’s revenue from its major business activities: DT

FRREXK

Continuing operations

152

A disaggregation of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

REBWESHFMOT

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
(RESEVE))
(12=51)
S$’000 S$°000
F %7 03 T T 37003 T
Types of services: FR¥sAEAY
Healthcare Services BERS = 7
Dental Services FRURTS 915 -
Trading Sales EoHE 3,326 231
Total aEt 4,241 238
Timing of revenue recognition: TR R A BRE A
At a point in time AR 2 3,326 238
Over time A — BB ] 915 -
Total @t 4,241 238
Discontinued operations DRIEREER

2022 2021
2022 4 2021
S$°000 S$°000
T #HhnE T T3 N4 T
Types of services: BR¥sHRAY

Healthcare Services BB RS 9,004 10,043
Trading Sales B e 30 8
Total #Et 9,034 10,051

Timing of revenue recognition: U HR BB
At a point in time AER B, 30 4,646
Over time R — B 9,004 5,405
Total @t 9,034 10,051
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8

OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services, and has two reportable segments for
continuing operations as follows:

Trading sales; and

ii. Dental services.

Dental services relates to revenue from orthodontics and
implantology services.

Trading sales relates to supplies of health supplement products and
medical products including hand sanitiser, disposal medical mask
and other medical products.

Healthcare service (discontinued operations) relates primarily to the
consultation services, prescription and dispensing services and
treatment services and other services such as laboratory carried
out as part of treatment procedures. Healthcare service focuses on
provision of dermatology treatment solutions, specialised in skin
cancer, skin diseases and aesthetic procedures.

Management monitors the operating results of the segment
separately for the purposes of making decisions about resources to
be allocated and of assessing performance. Information is reported
to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”) of the Group, for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment. The CODM
reviews the segment performance based on operating profit or loss
which is similar to the accounting profit or loss.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on
a reasonable basis. Unallocated expense and income comprise of
expense and other sources of income which are not directly
attributable to the identified segments.

Intersegment sales and transfers are on terms’ agreement in a
manner similar to transactions with third parties at the then
prevailing market prices. Segment revenue, expenses and results
include transfers between business segments. These transfers are
eliminated on consolidation.

8

FREERBNEE DR

REEMS  ARERBEREEDER
B ARATHELLEEBOMETZ2
HE

i FRIRTS o

SRR TS B2 B 5 e K8 IE M AR AR TS RO K
=Aam -

BHHERRREAHTMNIERERMLR S
Bl EREFR —RUEBAAERE
B Em o

BRERS (DRIEREER) TR EERR
% B 77 M EC SRR TS A BB AR AR TS I EL At
R (FINNEREETHR D FRELR)
B - BERBZINEERERDAET
FAMERE  MERRETIERF o

BEEEERMERNDBOLEEE  AORE
BERDELFERE - BERAERDAAR
AIMBITES  MAKEMERLERR
HE(X22ERRE RS UWHAED
RERLFHERE TBEERRERE
e MRERFGEDBERR - BEFTRE
Iy M SR IRARLEL -

DHEE  BENRERRAERBEERSD
BHEIEE URAEESEHIER - KD
X RRABEL FEEFBERC ER
7 BV RIS R A YR A SRR

DA E MEBABUEE =R FH
TR BERGH R RESHEET -
DERE X REBERREREB D A2 H
MR - ZEFBRNGEA ARSEHE -

20224 FEHL o PEMWIREIRATIR A W 153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

f 3 SO 5 e o B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

8 OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR CONTINUING
OPERATIONS (Continued)

Segment results
Continuing operations

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

FREEXBNELE I B @

paiE

FEEER%

TR 2R D BE AL E W E K ER
TEHEI AT -

B E2020%F 12 31 HIFF/E

Adjustments
Dental Trading and
services sales eliminations Total
ZFRIRTE BEZHE R R #Et
S$’000 S$°000 S$°000 S$°000
F % h03g T T ¥ 03K T F 3 3% T T ¥ 03 T
Revenue Wz
External customers INRE P 915 3,326 - 4,241
Inter-segment 5 EbfE = - - -
Segment revenue o EpURER 915 3,326 = 4,241
Consumables and medical supplies used ERERERLEEA®R = (3,534) = (3,534)
Segment profit/(loss) DERER, (E18) 915 (208) - 707

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (restated) BZE 202112 31 HIFF/Z (4FEZ)

Adjustments
Healthcare and
service  Trading sales eliminations

BEIR BHiHE K
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
THINE T THINST THTINE T

Revenue U 2
External customers SNRE 7 231 - 238
Inter-segment 73 BB fE - 13 (13) -
Segment revenue pan= 1l g 7 244 (13) 238
Cost of consumables and medical BEAEER R

supplies used &R A AN - (102) 13 (89)
Segment profit pan: vl 7 142 - 149

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 5. Segment
profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by each segment without EOABIAET - BRI EphRT
allocation of central administration costs and directors’ salaries, BRARERHS - DAL N TS -
share of results of joint venture, other operating income, finance Hib U A - AR AR TSR X B
costs and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the

Hjn B o WRMERD B LA D BRI
AEIBLERREERNERS -

A WmE DAz R BUR B Fs T A%k
Bz e BERAR - S BEH,(FE)

pu)

CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

8 OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR CONTINUING 8 REKEXBHNEEIHW@®
OPERATIONS (Continued)
Segment asset and liability PTHEEREE
No analysis of segment asset and liability is presented as the R T ELERRETERE RS LK
CODM does not regularly review such information for the purpose B FHEMEBER At mE5
of resource allocation and performance assessment. DEPEBEENBEBEDN °
Geographical information 3 &R
The Group's revenue from external customers was mainly derived REEKRBINREPORGZEEREHR
from its operation in Singapore, Hong Kong and the PRC, and the N - FERPERAEE - MR 2022F
non- current assets of the Group were located in Singapore and N2021F 12 A31H  ZAEEMEREE
Hong Kong as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. EE ORI N e B o
Continuing operations BESEER

2021
2021 4F
(RESEIEE))

(EE7)
$$°000 S$'000
FHMBPET — THIET

Revenue from external customers: REIIREEHKE :

Hong Kong s 3,326 238

The PRC e 915 -
4,241 238

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the A WS ERARPAE BRI

customers.

Non current assets* FREEE

Singapore 2 hnig - 4,328

Hong Kong s 3,620 4,245
3,620 8,573

- Non-current assets exclude financial instruments. * IRBEETRETEMIA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

8 OPERATING SEGMENTS FOR CONTINUING 8
OPERATIONS (Continued)
Information about major customers
Continuing operations
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing

over 10% of the total turnover of the Group from continuing
operations is as follows:

FREEXBNELE I B @

ERIEEFNER
f#&'ﬁ@é&%ﬁ
%%E%@ %%ﬁm%%%}f%mﬁﬁumr

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4

S$°000 S$'000

Customer A - trading sales segment EFEA— BESHEEDE
Customer B - trading sales segment BEFEB— BESHEST
Customer C — trading sales segment BPC— BHHEDES

FHIET — TERIET

1,293 N/A 71 A
507 N/A 73 A
503 N/A 73 A
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

9 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 9 EENKEEME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments EERFETHAEME

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and chief AEEETERBONRERNAATESE R
executive of the Company (including emoluments for services as FTETHAENHE (BERKARNARE
directors of the entities comprising the Group prior to becoming the EREAAEEETERESTNORSEHE)
directors of the Company) by the entities comprising the Group are N

as follows:

Contributions

Salaries and to retirement Share-based

Fee allowances  benefit scheme payment

BB DR

e FoRizs SR THFE
$$'000 $$'000 $$/000 $$/000
T3 TFHmE T3 s FHmE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022F 12 A31 ALLEE

Executive Directors (Note d HTES(Md)
Dr. Lon Teck Hiong Loh Teck Hiong % 1,270 = = S 1,210
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated froman 155 % 4 (1 2003

independent non-executive director on 1As1 A%

31 January 2023) BUSEHTEEAL) 21 = = 3 4
Mr. Lee Chung Shun (appointed on FRREE(R202F

7 September 2022) 9R7HEZR) 36 3 2 2 94
Mr. Liu Yang (ceased on 2555 (R 2022

10 January 2022) (Note b) 1810 A em) (D) 6 - = S 6
Dr. Seow Swee How (resigned on BB (R 2020F

10 January 2022) (Note b) 1A108##) (D) 6 = = - 6
Mr. He Weiging (appointed on fREEE (R 20265

10 January 2022 and resigned on 1 A0 BEZERA 20235

21 February 2023) (Note ¢) 2 B 21 BEHE) (Rifskc) 124 1 3 2 151
Independent Non-Executive Directors B3k &7&E (iste)

(Note €)
Ms. Wu Xiao Xia (appointed on REELL(R2021F

27 September 2021 and R2THEZER

resigned on 26 September 2022) 202259 26 ABHT) 16 = - - 16
Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on FEREA S A (5 20215

11 May 2021) 5711 REZ() 21 = = = 2
Mr. Luo Honghui (appointed on BAERE(R202F

7 Septemboer 2022) 9A7RERR) 7 - = 2 30
Ms. Li Vin Fai (appointed on ZHBIL(R202F

16 September 2022) 9R 16 BEEA) 6 = = s 6

1,513 34 5 92 1,644
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

9 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 9 EEREEME @
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments EERTETHAEME (&)

(Continued)

Contributions
Salaries and to retirement
Fee allowances benefit scheme Total

RIREER
ne He k2R N @t
(RESEIE)] (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(€<E2])) (E7) (m&351) (m&351)
S$'000 S$'000
TR T FHIMKT FHMET FEIRT

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021 512831 BLLEE

(continuing operations) (BELEER)
Executive Directors (Note d) BTEE(Mid)
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Loh Teck Hiong & - 627 - 627
Mr. Liu Yang (ceased on 2155 & (2022 F

10 January 2022) (Note b) 1 A10BH %) (MiEo) - - - -
Dr. Seow Swee How (resigned on Bl (R2022F

10 January 2022) (Note b) 1 A 10 BEHE) (FisED) - - - -
Mr. He Weiging (appointed on RIBEE (R 2022 F

10 January 2022) (Note c) 1 A 10 BEZR) (M) - - - -

Independent Non-Executive Directors Bk #TES (fiste)

(Note €)
Mr. Cheung Kiu Cho Vincent TP (20215
(resigned on 21 April 2021) (Note &) 4 R 21 BEHE) (st a) 6 - - 6
Mr. Ong Kian Guan (resigned on TEFLE (R2021F
24 September 2021) (Note a) 9 R 24 BEHT) (MizEa) 23 - - 23
Mr. Yang Zhang Xin BEBLE 21 - - 21
Ms. Wu Xiao Xia (appointed on REBZLT(R2021F
27 September 2021) 9527 HEZR() 5 - - 5
Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on PE(Z AL A& (2021 F
11 May 2021) 511 BEZE) 13 - - 13
68 627 - 695
For the year ended 31 December 2021 %2021 12831 BILEE
(discontinued operations) (BRIEREER)
Executive Directors BTES
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong Loh Teck Hiong & - 667 12 679
Dr. Seow Swee How EmzEt 240 40 12 292
240 707 24 971
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

9 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments
(Continued)
Notes:

a) Mr. Cheung Kiu Cho Vincent, Mr. Ong Kian Guan resigned as
independent non-executive director. Thereafter, they did not hold any
directorship nor key management position.

b) Dr. Seow Swee How resigned as executive director and Mr. Liu Yang
was vacated by resolution of the Board and ceased to be an
executive director with the effect from 10 January 2022. Thereafter,
they did not hold any directorship nor key management position
except Dr. Seow Swee How continued to be the chief executive
officer of the Company.

c) Mr. He Weiging was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 10 January 2022.

d) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company.

e) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments were for their

services as directors of the Company.

None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during both reporting periods. No emolument
were paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals included the two (2021: two)
executive directors of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the remaining
three (2021: three) individuals were as follows:

EEREEMNE @

EERFETRAEME (80

GEX

a) RBB A M T RRE AR TBIENTT
EH -HE pEUTEETTMNESSE
DEE AR -

b) I SELETNTES  MAGEER
EEENARZRECM ITBETRITE
£ H2022F 1 F10B A EE
BEn SIS T ERERETAARITTRES —
B REVELETINESRTIEEEA
BRI -

c) EBEENR2022F1F10BEZT A
AARKIRITES ©

d)  EXFIRHRTEREHREREEEAR
RAIEERERG AT

e BUFNTEEMEIIRMEFIERAAF
EEEHRBMSA

RMERENE SEANARETHENX
REREEANE  AKEHERTAA
RAEEXNME  ER/BMAREE K
PAIRAZR 52 BB 69 75 () Sl iR e 1 ©

EEME
hEmEHFALBIEARAMSA (2021 4F :
ME)NITES HIS Bt A LatiFE -
BT =4 (20214 : =%) ATHENE D R
R

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

S$°000 S$'000

F o3 T FE I T

Salaries, bonuses and other benefits e A NREMEF 593 1,371
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme B (K@ F 5+ &) 2k 7 50
600 1,421
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

9 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 9 EEKEEME @
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Employees’ emoluments (Continued) EEME (&)
The five highest paid individuals including the directors of the AEZ&EEFAL(BEARIES) OB
Company whose remuneration were within the following bands: NFLATAER -
2022 2021
2022 2021
Nil to S$174,000 (equivalent to Nil to T2 174,000 103 T 2 -
HK$1,000,000) (FBE M Z 21,000,000 7T)
S$174,001 to S$261,000 (equivalent to 174,001 ¥7 h3E 7T = 261,000 #T A1 T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000) (FB& 71,000,001 BT E
1,500,000 7 7T)
S$$261,001 to S$348,000 (equivalent to 261,001 ¥ 003 7T 2 348,000 1 03 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000) (FB&E 71,500,001 BT E
2,000,000 L)
S$$348,001 to S$435,000 (equivalent to 348,001 ¥ A0 7T 2 435,000 1 103 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000) (FB&E 72,000,001 BLE
2,500,000 7T)
S$%$435,001 to $$522,000 (equivalent to 435,001 A0 7T & 522,000 F7 A1 T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000) (FB&E R 2,500,001 BLE
3,000,000 7T)
S$$522,001 to S$609,000 (equivalent to 522,001 #7113 7T 2 609,000 1 103 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000) (#8& 72 3,000,001 B 7T
3,500,000 7T)
S$$609,001 to S$696,000 (equivalent to 609,001 #7113 7T 2 696,000 1 113 T - -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000) (FB&E 7 3,500,001 BLE
4,000,000 7T)
Over to S$$696,001 (equivalent to Over 838 696,001 T N3 T 1 1
HK$4,000,000) (1BE 1 838 4,000,000 % 7T)
5 5
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid AEBUVERNAZRSFTALT(BELAQT
individuals, including directors of the Company, as an inducement EE) X MEMBSERINAREESMNA
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of RNEERHFE RSB R A E -
office.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

10 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 10 Hb&& WA
Continuing operations BEKSEER

2021

2021 4

(RESEIEE))

(s E5)

S$°000 S$°000

¥ F 03 T TN IT

Interest income on bank deposits IRITIF A BUA 1 5

Interest income on rental deposits HekeFBUHA - 19

Interest income on finance lease FEY R E M E R EUA

receivables = 9

Gain on disposal of right-of-use RERESHLEEFER

assets under a finance sublease & ERIN A (@) = 82
Gain on termination of sublease LI LB
arrangement () - 311

Government grant R 18 B © 29 -

Other rental income HEmEsWA 169 540

Others Hib 119 63

318 1,029

Notes: 5k -

(@  The gain on disposal of right-of-use assets arose due to a lease (@ HEFAEEENKETBREE 2021
novated to a joint venture as well as the granting of the use of certain F12A3BIEFERNEEESENA]
leased spaces to external parties with similar tenure at higher rates UWRARBOEEFHESRSNHESRE
than the head lease during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2022: SNEBA L AE THEZMATE 4 (2022
Nil). FMm) o

(o)  The gain on termination of sublease arrangement arose due to () EZE2021F12A31BHILFE @ KIEHHE
resumption of use of certain leased space to external parties with the LW YRR E A BN A TIRTEE
amount of approximately S$52,000 and gains on unreturned rental AETHEZR - ©84/552,000 % NH
deposit from the sublessor upon termination of sublease arrangement TREIEDETERRESAANKER
with the amount of approximately S$259,000 during the year ended 7 7H & = & U s 49 4 259,000 %7 10 3% TT
31 December 2021 (2022: Nil). (20224 : f&) o

(¢)  During the year ended 31 December 2022, the government grant () HEE2022F12A831BIEFE @ BITHED

represents financial support from HKSAR government under
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund for
payments of wages and salaries of employees for June to August
2022 (2021: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

11 FINANCE COSTS 11 B#AEA
Continuing operations BESEER

2021
2021 4
(RESEVE))

(&&75)

S$$’000

S$'000

F # 03 T F #7003 TT

Interest expense on borrowings BB 44 -
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEFNSMXZ 174 113
218 118
12 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 12 HhlamKEE
Continuing operations HEKSEER

2021
2021 4F

(RESEVCE))

(&)
$$'000
THMBET — THIET

$$’000

Net exchange gain b 5 U ) ’E (102) -
Reversal of provision of renovation upon REPRIFTAE T HH 12 B B s B s

early termination of lease arrangement (93) -
Write off of other receivables and Hil £ ELAth JE W SR TE S B2

deposits (Note 24) (FFE24) 1,258 -
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets RERIFHEZHE D EFAE

upon early termination of lease arrangement & ZEE518 (Ffzr21)

(Note 21) 1,569 -
Write off of plant and equipment (Note 17) Hh SE RS M a2 (P EE17) 1,033 -
Fair value changes on financial assets BATERABZNE

at FVTPL MEENQTEZS) 864 250

4,529 250
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

13 LOSS BEFORE TAX 13 BRBLAIESE
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging: BRI AIEEBDINBRIAT&IE -
Continuing operations BERSEER

2021
2021 4F
(RESEIET))

(&)
$$°000 $$'000
FHMBET — THIET

Audit fees EZER 244 244
Employee benefits expense: EEBAAX :
Directors’ remunerations (Note 9) BEEHM () 1,644 695
Other staff costs H B TR
— salaries, bonus and other benefits — e TAREMER 1,419 1,477
— contributions to retirement benefit scheme — RIREFIFH R 25 30
— share-based payment — AR 5k 133 -
Write off of inventories (included as MsEEE

consumables and medical supplies used) GIfEE R ERERREERA®) 120 -

14 INCOME TAX CREDIT 14 FRBBIE%

Continuing operations BESEER
No provision of income tax for continuing operations in the current AFEMBEETRTIREELCEERD
and prior years. Frig i
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the BB RS T T LA F E A5 R R G A %
estimated assessable profit for the year. 16.5% (20214 : 16.5%) B X1 E »
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the applicable FERICEMESRIBEREPEEEERER
rates in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the RBEAREGE - RBE(PEARLRMBE R
PRC. Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on ¥MBRE) ([REMERE]D REEMS
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation TOEERGEN  FRMBAGNHER
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% °
25%.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

14 INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)
Continuing operations (Continued)

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

14 FrSBiiER (&)
FERE K (F)
RERN - FIERIERT BEABREREM
2EMGRATNBRRATEERYENT :

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
(Restated)

(E51)
$$°000 $$'000
FH T THIETT

Loss before tax BriRTEIE (13,127) (6,455)
Tax at applicable tax rate HARENTIE (2,186) (1,508)
Non-deductible items RAIFiEE 1,477 265
Effect of unutilised tax losses not recognised AERADARE BB VE 753 1,117
Income not subject to tax BERBIA (52) 61)
Deductible temporary difference not recognised RERW AT EREEE 8 187
Income tax crediit FiSHiE % = -

Subject to the agreement by the tax authority at the end of the
reporting period, the Group has unutilised tax losses of
approximately $$3,052,000 (2021: S$11,371,000) and other
temporary differences of approximately S$Nil (2021: S$1,741,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

15 DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

16 BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE 16 XA REEABREERERNKE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE BEE

COMPANY

Continuing and discontinued operations:

2021
2021

(RESEIE)!
(KE7)

FERERCRIEREEK

Loss attributable to owners KRR AEGEE

of the Company (S$’000) (FF s oT) (18,649) (8,785)
Weighted average number of BEITTRARINETHE

ordinary shares in issue ('000) (F50) 1,299,857 954,947
Basic and diluted loss per share BREARANEEEE

(Singapore cents) (Frn¥ ) (1.43) (0.92)
Continuing operations: BHEREER
Loss attributable to owners NNEIGEB AL EE

of the Company (S$’000) (FErmsET) (13,119) (6,455)
Weighted average number of BB T L @A ngE a2

ordinary shares in issue ('000) (FH) 1,299,857 954,947
Basic and diluted loss per share GRER R EEEIE

(Singapore cents) (¥ o) (1.01) (0.68)
Discontinued operations: BRIEREEL .
Loss attributable to owners A EVHER A EE

of the Company (S$’000) (FF s IT) (5,530) (2,330)
Weighted average number of BETT MR NET

ordinary shares in issue ('000) (1) 1,299,857 954,947
Basic and diluted loss per share BRERNEEEE

(Singapore cents) (Frhngo) (0.43) (0.24)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company raised
approximately S$7,469,000 before transaction costs of issuing
432,000,000 rights issues, on the basis of 1 rights share for every 2
existing shares held by the shareholders of the Company.

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss for
the year attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,299,857,000 (2021:
954,947,000) in issue during the year as adjusted to reflect the
rights issues, during the year.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no separated
diluted loss per share information has been presented as there was
no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding.

REZE2022F 12 A1 HIEFE - ARQF]
BRANGRESHE 2RI BIRMER 1%
AR AR A7 HY E AEZE 1T 432,000,000 A% £ A% A%
5 EBE S #)7,469,000 1 I3 oT (0%
R ZARI) ©

BERELXAEBEEDNREARAEA A
BHEFRNEBERAFECHTEER
YO0 4 F 5 £71,299,857,000 % (2021 4F :
954,947,000 8% ) 5+ & - 0 AL F5 B DA R BR AR
FERIHERRIE I o

ARE 22022 F 2021412 A31 HIEF
EWEBITEIIMNBEHESEBR - MK
ERANZ5GREEEEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

17 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17 WERR®E

Computer
Medical and office Leasehold
equipment equipment  improvements Total
Bl HE
BERE BARRME MEHE @3
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
FHmMET FHME T FE T T

Cost: BA
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 818 1,666 238 1,812 3,716
Additions NE 504 86 438 1,028
Write off sk (251) (10) - (261)
Exchange alignments fE A% 10 1 3 14
At 31 December 2021 #2021 F12 A31H 1,929 315 2,253 4,497
Additions NE 134 58 1,089 1,281
Disposal of subsidiaries through BRADKRIEEEEBHENBAR

discontinued operation (Note 35) (HisE35) (770) (294) (1,829) (2,893)
Write off k| - (17) (1,198) (1,215)
Disposals e ©) 41) (10) (57)
Exchange alignments fE R 5 2 5 12
At 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 1,292 23 310 1,625
Accumulated Depreciation RHMERAE

and Impairment:
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 818 551 93 436 1,130
Provided for the year FREE 332 52 426 810
Write off sk (248) (10) - (258)
Impairment loss RESE 887 - - 887
Exchange alignments 3Rk 1 - - 1
At 31 December 2021 #2021 F12 A31H 1,623 135 912 2,570
Provided for the year FRRE 157 55 360 572
Disposal of subsidiaries through BRADKIEEEEBHENBAR

discontinued operation (Note 35) (Fff3£35) (516) (162) (1,059) (1,737)
Eliminated on disposals HER 2] (23) @) (29)
Write off My ©6) (176) (182
Exchange alignments fE R 1 1 5
At 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 1,165 - 34 1,199
Carrying Values: BHEE:
At 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 127 23 276 426
At 31 December 2021 R2021E12 A31H 406 180 1,341 1,927
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

17 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis after taking into account of their residual values at
the following rates per annum:

20% to 33%

20% to 33%
Shorter of 5 years or
over the lease term

Medical equipment
Computer and office equipment
LLeasehold improvements

During the year ended 31 December 2022, in regard of early
termination of a lease arrangement, certain office equipment and
leasehold improvements in total of S$1,033,000 have been fully
written off.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the pandemic of
COVID-19 continued to have adverse impact on many businesses
in Hong Kong. The Group was unable to launch the stem cell
business as planned, management as such has carried out an
assessment on the impairment of the relevant equipment acquired
and an impairment loss for continuing operations of S$887,000
was recognised in profit or loss based on the recoverable amount
which is higher of the value in use and fair value less cost of
disposal (2022: Nil).

17

& 55 I 5 ffs (4)
ERERE R EEE A RERBEER
1A T4 R L R DA B AR 8

BN 20% % 33%
E PSS YN G 20% Z 33%
FEmEEE K2R AR IR AR AP

HZE2022F 12 A31HILFE > ARIER
BIE—TEAELTE ATHAERERA
EYEEEA 1,033,000 F 13 T E B
sy o

HZE2021F12A31BILLFE » FHIAT
MESRBERFELEELHEBEXTF
S REESERMFEREIRMA®E
RER TEERMY D WENEEZE
ZREETHE - UREEAEBERAT
BEREHERN(UREEAE) WIS
887,000 ¥T AN T (2022 4F : &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 BILEE
Software
B
S$'000
TN T
Cost: R
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1 A1 H 316
Additions INE 636
Exchange alignment BEE 3, 3 &L 6
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 #2021 F12 531 B & 2022F1 51 H 958
Additions NE 45
Disposal of subsidiaries through discontinued operation &8 2 & |4 S £ HENE A 7
(Note 35) (Fg5ES5) (50)
Exchange alignments BE 3, 3 EE 3
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 956
Accumulated amortisation: EitEsy
At 1 January 2021 R20214EF1 818 -
Provided for the year F NS 169
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R2021F12 A31 H & 20221 A1H 169
Provided for the year FNEEE 196
Disposal of subsidiaries through discontinued operation — ZEBC R IR LS HEBEEWB AT
(Note 35) (fF5ES5) (18)
Exchange alignments bE 5 R 1
At 31 December 2022 H2022F12 A31H 348
Carrying value: BREE -
At 31 December 2022 R2022%F 12 A31H 608
At 31 December 2021 R20214F12 A31H 789

168

The intangible assets represents software purchased from vendors

with an estimated useful lives of 5 years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

19 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 19 BMEHREEWFIE

Amounts receivable under finance leases: BEHEEE T EWRKIE :

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 £

S$°000 S$°000

FHMET — THHT

Within one year R1ER = 19

Undiscounted lease payments R ENR K = 19

Less: Unearned finance income B AREREUERE WA - (1)

Present value of lease payment receivable EREENFIRE = 18

Undiscounted lease payments analysed as: FKEIREERNROFE

Within one year R1ER - 19
- 19

Present value of lease payment receivable: FEUW A &3 IR1HE :

Within one year »1ER = 18

Analysis as: DR

Office premises WA = 18

The Group entered into sublease arrangements as a lessor for
certain office spaces to its tenants and thus they are classified as
finance leases under IFRS 16. The average term of sublease
entered into range from 1 to 2 years. The average effective interest
rate contracted approximately 3% per annum at 31 December
2021.

Management estimates the loss allowance on finance lease
receivables at the end of the reporting period at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL. In determining the expected credit losses of these
receivables, management taking into account the historical default
experience and the future prospects of the industries in which the
lessees operate, as appropriate, in estimating the probability of
default of each of these receivables occurring within their respective
loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in
each case.

AEEEADEAGRBAFEAFNE T
AEEMTIHBALH - Bt - BRIEEE
MERELAFZ 165 ZSLTHWHEA
BMEMRE - 5] D AN FHFHE1E2
F o PR2021F12A31H  BEFTHIHFY
ERFEHABFRNEIE o

BEEE MR RE RO E S EUR
HEBERFESEASRE2DERAEEEE -
REEZSRKKIRNFEREEBER
BEEF MBEEOKERAEAMRKEE
TENRRA S (WER) - UEFTZER
WkIAE BN EARR R AT A R AR R A
BEAFENOTARLE  URSBEATHELD
P
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20

21

170

PROFIT OR LOSS

Current
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong

e
REB LM ERES

BAFEFABRSNESMEE

2022
2022 F

$$’000
T H 03 T

1,607

2021
2021 4
S$'000

T3 N T

616

The fair value of equity securities listed in Hong Kong are
determined based on quoted market price in an active market and
categorised as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The movements of right-of-use assets during the year are as
follows:

21

MNEB LM RESN R FEIRER
EEMEEOBRE-—RAFEERNT

BREETE -

EREEE
FREARAEZBMT :

Rented Plant and
properties equipment Total
HAYE BERRE &%
S$'000 S$°000 S$°000
T  FEMEIT FEFMET
Net book value at 1 January 2021 R2021F1 A1 B ZEEFE 5,419 - 5,419
Additions nNE 2,633 317 2,950
From cancellation of sublease REMER DAL (Msta)
arrangement (Note a) 472 - 472
Depreciation for the year FARFTE (2,749) (28) (2,777)
Disposals (Note a) & (iEa) (213) - (213)
Exchange alignments PE X 6 - 6
Net book value at 31 December 2021 72021412 A31 H X
and 1 January 2022 20221 A1 HZRAEFE 5,568 289 5,857
Additions nNE 3,781 - 3,781
Disposals (Note a) & (FisEa) (1,569) - (1,569
Depreciation for the year FRE (2,990) - (2,990)
Disposal of subsidiaries through BRDRIEEEEREE
discontinued operation (Note 35) B~ a) (M:E35) (2,195) (289) (2,484)
Exchange alignments b 3 % ©) - ©)
Net book value at 31 December 2022 720224 12 A 31 B Z BREEE 2,586 - 2,586
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

21 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group leases several leasehold properties for office and clinics
purpose, and plant and equipment at fixed rentals. The average

lease term is 2 to 5 years (2021: 2 to 5 years).

(@  During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
early terminated lease arrangement, and therefore, the
carrying amounts of respective right-of-use assets of
S$$1,569,000 are derecognised accordingly. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into sublease
arrangements as a lessor for certain office space, resulting in
derecognition of right- of-use assets of approximately
S$213,000. Subsequently, certain sublessees early
terminated the sublease agreement which led to resumption
of right-of-use assets of approximately S$472,000 by the

Group.

The depreciation charges in respect of rented properties for
continuing operations for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
approximately S$2,033,000 (2021 (restated): S$1,571,000) and;
and in respect of rented properties and plant and equipment for
discontinued operations for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
approximately S$957,000 (2021 (restated): S$1,178,000)) and nil

(2021 (restated): $$28,000) respectively.

The total cash outflows for leases are approximately S$2,845,000

(2021: S$3,204,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

21

FERAEEE @)
$Eltxlﬁﬂé%ﬂﬁ%%m%ﬂﬁ%%fﬁﬁ
NERDHIRRUARRER&E - FHHA
,Hﬁz%zi5ﬁ<2oz1¢ C2FEBME) o

@@ EHZE2022F12A831BILFE @ A%
ERRFPRIEAEREE - B iriameE
KIFREETREEENEREE
1,569,000 T H13E T © #kZE 2021 F 12
AB1BLEFE  AEERETHA
EZEREHBATIOMELH - B
1R ERERE FRE A A& £ 213,000 %7 N
Wor o Bifg - AP HBAHEARER
IEn A - SRASEIRIES AE
BEH) 472,000 F N TT ©

HE2022F 12 A1 HILFE - BT
BREXEFHEHBEDENTEER ALY
2,033,000 %7 HN # 7T (2021 F (L F 7 ) -
1,571,000 i3 7T ) © B = 2022612 A
STALFERERILCEEBTHBYEMN
R E k& BN EE S R &% 957,000
Frhnig ot (2021 F (£ &%) 1,178,000 37
nEon) kZE (2021 F (£ E5)) : 28,000 %7
T

HZE2022F 12831 BILFE - EMNE
4 A #2,845,000% 103 7t (2021 ¢
3,204,000 ¥7 i3 oT) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

22 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

Cost of investment AR
Share of loss JE(LE 1R
Less: Loss allowance on investment B AER IR A EIEEE

in a joint venture

2

BEQNRRE

2022 2021

2022 & 2021 £

S$'000 S$'000

F 7 03 T F #7003 T

2,651 2,651
(1,093) (1,093)
(1,558) (1,558)

A review of the recoverable amount of the joint venture led to the
recognition of an impairment loss allowance of S$1,558,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020. No reversal of investment in a joint
venture is considered necessary for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

Details of joint venture:

incorporation and
principal place

of business
SR
FTEEEME

Name of joint venture Principal activity

BENAEE ERED

Queen’s Road Medical ~ Operating aesthetic medical beauty

Company Limited clinic and trading medicine.
SCEREBRAA REER  BEXTDM
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HEPR

HZE2020F 12831 BIEFE HEERQ
AR Uy B 58 70 2 B B SRR SRR (B T 1
1% /1,558,000 ¥7 Il 3 7T o & = 2022 F K&
221 F12ABIAILLFE  BEE2AF
BREWRBLENE -

BERBNFE

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting rights
held by the Group
AEEFGREEER
MR ERLLBH

Hong Kong, Central 51%
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

22 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

The above investment is accounted as a joint venture as the
shareholders exercise joint control pursuant to the shareholders

agreement.

The above joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements as set out in the Group’s

accounting policies in Note 5.

The joint venture is not material to the Group.

23 INVENTORIES

22

23

BELNRREH

Z)iNye %Hzﬁ”ﬂxiﬁf’z;%ﬁ@%ﬁ@%ﬂg
B LB EEREERRAR

LG ERRRZFRA M B oK P A%
EEANER WM RSB BEMN
& o

ZRERRHAREEMSLAERK °

3t

4
=

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

S$°000 S$’000

T T T3 03T

Consumables and medical supplies EHRERLEERAR 645 1,096
Goods in transit B ER 407 -
1,052 1,096

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain inventories have
been expired and therefore, S$120,000 of inventories are write off

and include as cost of consumables.

HE2022F12A31BHILEE  ETHEE
S EIE - ALt - AE120,000FH N TTHTFE
EEWMIETIEAERERKAALR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24 E5RE#MEWEZE - #ekAE
AND PREPAYMENT INE/CE]

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F

$$’000 S$'000
T H 03 T TR T

Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 3,123 2,230
Less: Loss allowance on trade receivables B E S EWNGRIEMN B R ME (1,654) (779)
1,469 1,451
Deposits bira 3,003 2,658
Prepayment FE R 553 1,038
Prepaid director’s remuneration (Note (a)) AR EEME (M) = 315
Other receivables (Note (b)) H o pe U 3R IE (B E (b)) 1,246 1,039
Other tax receivables E A FEURER IR 96 -
Less: Loss allowance on other receivables B B EUGRIE R B R E (762) (39)
Amount due from a joint venture — non-current  JEUZ & 4 A T ZIE — FERED 1,757 1,898
Less: Loss allowance on amount due froma i : JEUA & A FIFIAMN
joint venture E R (1,757) (1,898)
5,605 6,466
Less: non-current deposits B SERNHRR & (404) (700)
5,201 5,766
Notes: Mozt
(@ At 31 December 2021, the amount represented prepaid director’s (@  R2021F12H31H @ Z& 820224 1
salary to Dr. Loh for January to March 2022 and fully utilised in the AZ3AMLohBAEEMNNESTHH - I
current year (2022: Nil). TEARFERBEH (2022 4F : &) o
(b) Included in other receivables are mainly refunded for deposits for (o) Hit W Er BB RRBTEERE
purchase of medical equipment in previous years of approximately BB ERENIRS 4 743,000 % 0% T
S$743,000 (2021: S$823,000), and in view of long outstanding and (20214 : 823,000 ¥ M TT) ° BREF
financial difficulty of counterparty, such amount has been written off FREHEALR LR HRSE - 2220
directly in profit or loss as at 31 December 2022. 2022412 A 31 B BN B MY -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24 E5RE#MEWEZE - #ekHE

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

The patients of the Group usually settle their payments by cash,
Network for Electronic Transfer (“NETS”), credit cards and claiming
from healthcare solutions and insurance companies. For credit
cards and NETS, the bank will deposit the money in the following
day after the date of invoice. For payment claiming from healthcare
solutions and insurance companies, the Group allowed a credit
period ranging from 45 to 90 days to healthcare solutions and
insurance companies and it would generally grant payment terms
of 90 days if payment terms are not specified in the contracts. The
average credit period of trade receivables from sales of healthcare
products is 90 days.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables of the Group
presented based on invoice dates, net of impairment loss for the

trade receivables from the customers at the end of each reporting
period:

3 F7RIE (40)

N EBEEARE IE £ - Network for
Electronic Transfer (TNETS]) * {5 R &AR
BIFATERRBARRESEE SR -
HEARRNETSTE @ RITHNEZEBE
BT —RTFEARIE - LAREBHERAFRER
REARRENAKME - WELHARILES]
BB REBERREBERATER
R ARIREASREQANEER  — K
BT X - KEHERBROE
SIEWGFIETFAEERIOXK -

UTREREHREXREEFPHNE SR
PIRE A HI2 5N B E 5 e kA (41
BB ERR) HORRER DA -

2022 2021

2022 2021 4

S$°000 S$'000

F 5 T T3 03 T

0-30 days 0&E30H 1,220 305
31-60 days 31E60H 249 262
61-90 days 61%Z90H - 264
over 90 days HB3E90 H - 620
1,469 1,451

Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting period.

2022 e o BB PR A T

B RIGRIENBEREZASEN 28
HHEERENEEAE - EHRIKRA
MIBHE B BRI E R BB R A
S2EBBANBEENTERILHEE AN
EAMERRAER DT ARBES AR
EMER  HE2MRITENBELENR
SVEHFHE -

KA R HRT AR P s ST R B A B R
ERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

A trade receivable is written off when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery.

As at 31 December 2022, amounting of S$1,584,000 (2021:
S$$1,026,000) trade receivables are past due of over 90 days, and
by considering the repayment history and change of operations in
the current year, the balances are considered as default for the year
of 2022 and full impairment allowance has recognised.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables that are
neither individually significant nor credit-impaired by collective basis
based on past due status of customers of trading sales, dental
services and healthcare services (disposed through discontinued

24

EZNHMERNE REEE
13 FRIE (8|)
HHEBRBEREEATEBRENHRER
TEENE AR O 2 IERS - S M E 5 R
I o

H2022F12A31H ¥ 5 fE Uk % B
1,584,000%1 /N % Jr (2021 4F : 1,026,000
L) EBMEEBIBIOKR  KEEER
FErRAFELBNED  ZEHN 2022
FWRAEYD  WEHERABERMERE -

REEDRBBEATESHE - FRRS
NEERE (R2022412 A31 BEBER
IEEE B E) D P rE Ak iR
BEERREIRWFENEHESHEE

operation as at 31 December 2022) segments respectively as B8 ZEE 5 RWHERIEERIERX -
follows. MALIREERE -
Trading sales ESHHE

As at 31 December 2022:

202212 H31H -

Weighted
average Gross
expected Carrying Life time
loss rate Amount ECLs
n#EFEH 2HATEH
BHEBR=Z HBERE{E FEBER
S$°000 S$°000
T hn3% T T 3 03K 7T
Current (not past due) BNEA (A Eg) 1.5% 549 (8
Less than 1 month past due A1 E A s Ef 17.3% 301 (52)
More than 3 months past due Z R 318 A E 100% 1,584 (1,584)
2,434 (1,644)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24 EZ K EMEWFIE -

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued) T FRIE (4)

Trading sales (Continued)
As at 31 December 2021:

BZHEE (#E)
R2021F 12831 H -

Weighted
average Gross
expected Carrying
loss rate Amount

IR
EHEIRX HARHEE
S$'000

RERHE

Life time
ECLs

2 B8 A
EEEE
S$'000

THNBIT  THEIEIT

Current (not past due) BIER (R E) 58.8% 17 (10)
Less than 1 month past due A1 E A s Ef 61.5% 91 (56)
More than 3 months past due % 316 A %1 Ef 64.3% 1,026 (660)

1,134 (726)
Dental services TFEHR

As at 31 December 2022:

R2022F 12 31 H -

Weighted
average Gross
expected Carrying
loss rate Amount

InFEF 14
EHERE HEREE
S$$°000
F b T F %7 b0 7o

Life time
ECLs

2 HTE A
FEBER
S$°000

Current (not past due) BNER (A Eg) 1.5% 689 (10)
Less than 1 month past due D1 {E A EA = = -
More than 3 months past due %K 316 A %1 8 = = -
689 (10)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24 ES5 RHMEWTIE - #E&Kk#E

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

Healthcare services (under discontinued

operations)
As at 31 December 2021:

13 FRIE (8|)
BEBERK (CRLEEXKET)

R2021F12H31H :

Weighted

average Gross
expected Carrying Life time
loss rate Amount ECLs
In#EF 2 BATE A
Ta B 1E = HRERTEE EEEBE
S$°000 S$°'000
T3 T T3 T
Current (not past due) BNVER (R E) 1.8% 838 (15)
Less than 1 month past due AR {E A 31 Ef 6.4% 94 ®)
1 to 3 months past due 123 AEH 8.3% 48 (4)
More than 3 months past due %A 31 A i 8 24.1% 116 (28)
1,096 (53)

In respect of other receivables and deposits at 31 December 2022
and 2021, the Group estimated the loss allowance on an individual
basis. An amount of approximately S$1,258,000 is written off on
individual basis and the loss allowance for the remaining balances

is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL of approximately
S$$762,000 (2021: S$35,000), taking into account the probability of
default and loss given default of respective balances.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24 E5RE#MEWEZE - #ekHE

25

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

Healthcare services (under discontinued

operations) (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and

other receivables are as follow:

NETCELE )
BEERK (CARLEEEKET)(E)

BZREMEBUHIENBEBEHERZSN
T

Other receivables Amount due from

Trade receivables

BARBHE

and deposits a joint venture Total

HtERFERES EU-BREARNE #st
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022F 2021 20226 2021F  2022%F 20216 2022%F 20214
$$'000 S$'000 $$000 S$'000 $$'000 S$'000 $$000 S$'000
FHMET THIET FHRMET FHRIMRT FHRMET FHRMET FHRMET THINHET

Asat 1 January ®1A1H 779 - 35 767 1,898 1,994 2,712 2,761
Write off ks - - - (767) - - - (767)
Impairment losses recognised FNERNHBEE

during the year 931 779 743 35 - - 1,674 814
Released upon disposal of BROLILEER

subsidiaries through HEHBARBEE

discontinued operations (Note 35) ~ (ffi3535) (53) - (18) - (149) - (220) -
Exchange alignments B AR ® - 2 - 8 (96) 7 (96)
As at 31 December R12A31R 1,654 779 762 B AT 1898 4173 2712
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 25 RITEBEERS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, bank balances and cash
comprise cash on hand and at banks which are not restricted as to
use. Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalent is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. As such, no loss allowance is
recognised at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

2022 F K 2021 F 12 A31 H » IR174 8%
RRSEEIRGCHANFER SRR
BE - |RITHESBRBEEHBRITFRFEN
FENA R BREUH S, o

ReEMBReETEYNEERBRAEER 1)
HREFHAERBERTAEBER TS
SERAREIRTT o Bt - 52022 F K 2021
F12 431 B ERREBEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

180

26 BEZRHEHMENRE

2022 2021

2022 2021 F

S$’000 S$'000

F $ 03 T FHAN T

Trade payables B S ENFIE 115 592
Accrued expenses JERTFX 889 1,752
Accrued directors’ remuneration ERTE = B 685 18
Amount due to a director e E = IE = 6
Other tax payables HAb fE IR = 125
Other payables (Notes (a), (b)) H A FERTRRIE (5T (@) ~ (b)) 7,562 146
9,251 2,639

Note:

As at 31 December 2022, other payables mainly included amounts
due to Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries (i.e. due to deconsolidation
from liquidation of certain subsidiaries in Singapore as mentioned in
Note 35). The Group has liability for settlement of such payables
balances upon liquidation of former subsidiaries. Therefore, additional
of S$4,768,000 (2021: Nil) other payables are recognised as liabilities
for settlement of balances with Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting date, the Group has received
demand letters from Singapore Liquidators for settlement of the
outstanding balances of $$6,600,000 to Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries. The Group is under negotiation on the amount
outstanding with Liquidators for settlement.

As at 31 December 2022, upon termination of lease arrangement, the
Group is obligated to settle the lease payment for the remaining lease
term. Therefore, amounting of $$1,921,000 arisen from transferring
from respective lease liabilities netting off with rental deposits paid of
S$161,000 are included as other payables (2021: Nil).
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M20226 12 A31H - EENFEETE
BEE 3T hNSE B B A R A SR IE (0
MisES5 Pl - AR IEAHARBRNE
FHMEHBARMAR) - AEBEFEM
RATH B A BB AR 45 B I e Z B A&
Bhe E - BIONERE b EN KIE
4,768,000 I3 7T (2021 4F : ) (A E
& - S TN S RHIB A R -

KRS BB RE - AERED YRR N
BB ARET R - BRI E RS
X AE (B K B 28 45 826,600,000 7 03
T AEERIMAREESENERS
HHEBBRAEITHERD

2022F 12 A31 8 » PR IEFAELHER
AEEFEIRB THENRLEREN
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27

28

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 30 days (2021:
30 days). The following is an aging analysis of trade payables of the
Group presented based on the invoice date at the end of each
reporting period:

26

B 5 K H A RIE @)
BEEMMTHEEHAS0AH (20214 :
30R) c U TAREERESRE ARILEE
HHIZYIME S RN AR DT

2022 2021

2022 2021 4F

S$°000 S$'000

F 5 T TFr 03 T

0-30 days 0ZE30H 115 233
31-60 days 31E60H = 273
61-90 days 61Z90H - -
Over 90 days Q0 RMN - 86
115 592

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities represents upfront receipt from customers.

For aesthetic services sales, revenue is recognised when control of
the goods has transferred to the customer, being at the point the
goods are delivered to the customer. When the customer initially
purchases the package, the transaction price received at that point
by the Group is recognised as deferred revenue until the goods
have been delivered to the customer.

The Group applies the practical expedient of not disclosing the
transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations
that is part of a contract that has original expected duration of one
year or less.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company provided corporate
guarantee in favor of banks in respect of banking facilities granted
to Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries of an aggregate amounts of
S$6,000,000 of which S$4,076,000 has been utilised. In regard of
liquidation of those subsidiaries, they were unable to settle the
outstanding amount, and therefore, under the financial guarantee
contracts, the Company would be liable to pay the banks and full
provision on the outstanding principal and accrued interest net of
cash and cash equivalents of Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries
has been made.

The respective borrowings carried interest at a fixed rate of 3% to
4.5% per annum.
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29 LEASE LIABILITIES 29 FHEESE

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 £

$$°000 S$'000
T H h03R T TR IT

Maturity analysis: EER AT
Within one year —FR 1,670 2,685
1-2 years 13224 962 1,967
2-3 years 2E3F 114 1,208
3-4 years 3E4F - 370
2,746 6,320
Less: Unearned interest AR EREUFILE (68) (258)
2,678 6,067
Analysed as: PaR) =1
Current BNER 1,616 2,544
Non-current JEBNER 1,062 3,523
2,678 6,067
As at 31 December 2021, the lease liabilities in respect of leased 2021F12 A31H « 1B T & % & -
plant and equipment under hire purchase agreements amounting &5 /5 275,000 1 103 7T Gl i@ B 42 E 8 &
S$275,000 (disposal of subsidiaries through discontinued E¥BHERBAR)MHEERE MREHRRE
operations) was secured by personal joint and several guarantees HWEEAERARRESTEAESER
by directors of the Company (2022: Nil). VEHRIR (2022 4F « 4) o
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30 BORROWINGS

Secured borrowing at amortised cost

30 AR

2022
2022 &

S$’000
F Frhndk T

BB HER AT RERER

2021
2021 4F
S$'000

TN T

Bank borrowings RITIER - 4,992
Other borrowings HAbfE R 182 -
182 4,992

The Group’s borrowings are scheduled to repay as follows.

AEBWEFRETIEFRRERE -

2022 2021

2022 2021

S$$°000 S$'000

¥ #hn3 T TN T

Within one year or on demand —FUARFIREK 182 1,309
In the second year RE—F - 1,365
In the third to fifth year, inclusive REZZFAF (BEEERT) - 2,318
182 4,992

Non-current FEBNER - 3,683
Current BNEA 182 1,309

At 31 December 2021, the Group has the following bank
borrowings:

a. S$3,000,000 borrowings with repayment over 60 monthly
instalments comprising principal and interest and
commenced on 22 June 2020 was secured by a corporate
guarantee from the Company and personal guarantee from a
director of the Company and carried at a fixed interest rate of
3% per annum;

b. S$$2,000,000 borrowings with repayment over 60 monthly
instalments comprising principal and interest and
commenced on 12 October 2020 was secured by a
corporate guarantee from the Company and personal
guarantee from a director of the Company and carried at a
fixed interest rate of 3% per annum;

R2021F12 A31H » KEBAH U TR

B

a.  fB3K3,000,000F ML © B 2020F
6R22BED60HFAEE(EAE
LFE) - BABRARARRERN
ARAERRARNA—ZEZMHEAE
RIEEITR - REFEFMERIEE

b.  f&32,000,000 ¥ N JT © B 2020 F
10 12HES60HF AEE(ER
& RFE) BREBRABARAEE
WAREREREEARA —BESM
BAEREER  ZETFFHEIE

R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

30 BORROWINGS (Continued) 30 fEFRE

c.  S$500,000 borrowings with repayment over 60 monthly c. & FX500,000 %7 Hn 3 7T © B 2020 F
instalments comprising principal and interest commenced on 10 A28 HEN60HF AEE(ER
23 October 2020 was secured by a corporate guarantee BRAME)  WEHARAREN QA
from the Company and personal guarantee from a director of EREKREARAF —BEFHEAE
the Company and carried at a fixed interest rate of 4.5% per RVEE - HETEFERNRAIS5ELT S
annum; and 54

d.  S%$500,000 borrowings with repayment over 60 monthly d. {8 FX500,000%" M0 3 7T+ B 20204F
instalments comprising principal and interest commenced on 11A2BRD60HEREE(SEAS
2 November 2020 was secured by a corporate guarantee RFIE)  WHARBIRENRQAE
from the Company and personal guarantee from a director of REKERNB] —ZBEEHEAER
the Company and carried at a fixed interest rate of 4.5% per VEIIR  IRETEFRL45EES o
annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, upon liquidation of the HZE2022F12 A1 BIEFEE - RET MK

certain subsidiaries in Singapore, the bank borrowings have been ETHEARNERE  RITEREEAID

transferred to “disposal of subsidiaries upon discontinued RIPREHEFBEHNEENB AR > MBtmEF

operation”. And in regard of the corporate guarantee provided to MERMIMEBARIRENARIERME

the Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries, the Group is obligated for REBBEEXENAREERITER LGRS

settlement of the outstanding bank borrowings balances and F B B EREER2022F 12 A31 HiE

therefore, financial guarantee liabilities are provided as at 31 i (FftzE28) °

December 2022 (Note 28).

At 31 December 2022, borrowings represent borrowings for trading R2022F 12 A31H  (ERIERANEEH
securities purpose and carried interest at variable margin rate on FWER  REHZEET -
daily basis.
31 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY 31 EZEHEAR
Accelerated
tax
depreciation
IERFIBITE
S$°'000
T3 N4 T
At 1 January 2021 #20214%E1 818 99
Credited to profit or loss FFABR (99)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R2021F12 31 BN 2022F 1 A1 H -
Credited to profit or loss FFABR -
At 31 December 2022 R2022%F 12 A31 H -
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32 SHARE CAPITAL 32 B
Details of the share capital are disclosed as follows: BRAGFBEHEENT ¢
Number
of shares Par value Share capital
R&oEE BB
HK$’ 000
FHIT
Authorised share capital AARHEERA
of the Company:
At 1 January 2021, ©r2021F1 418 -
31 December 2021, 202112 H318 -
1 January 2022 and 2022F1 A1 X
31 December 2022 2022F 12 A31 H 10,000,000,000 0.01 100,000
Movement of the Company’s share capital is as follows: RABIMREZE T

Number
of shares Share capital

D& &N
S$°000
TR AN T

Issued and fully paid shares of the Company: RREE BT RERRKRND

At 1 January 2021 M2021F1A1H 600,000,000 1,037
Placing of shares on 12 January 2021 (Note ()) ~ 720214 1 A 12 BEE &G (FFFE() 120,000,000 206
Placing of shares on 18 October 2021 (Note (i) #2021 4F 10 A 18 HEE Mt (BiaE () 144,000,000 250
At 31 December 2021 and MN2021F12A31 AR

1 January 2022 2022%1 A1 H 864,000,000 1,493
Rights issues on 18 March 2022 (Note (iii)) 72022 4 3 A 18 B4 % (BT 5 (iii)) 432,000,000 747
Share options exercised on 2022F 11 A4H

4 November 2022 (Note (iv)) TR R AR (PMI3E (v) 18,000,000 33
At 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 1,314,000,000 2,273
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32 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

186

0

(i)

)

On 22 December 2020, the Company and Silverbricks Securities
Company Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered into a placing
agreement in respect of the placement of 120,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each (“the 2020 Placing Shares”) to independent
third parties at a price of HK$0.225 each. The placing transaction
was completed on 12 January 2021 and a total of 120,000,000
shares were issued. The gross and net proceeds were approximately
HK$27,000,000 and HK$26,595,000 respectively, of which
HK$1,200,000 (equivalent to S$207,000) was credited to share
capital and the balance of HK$25,395,000 (equivalent to
5$4,386,000) netted off the transaction costs for issuing shares was
included in share premium account.

27 September 2021, the Company and the Placing Agent entered
into a placing agreement in respect of the placement of 144,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (“the 2021 Placing Shares”) to
independent third parties at a price of HK$0.135 each. The placing
transaction was completed on 18 October 2021 and a total of
144,000,000 shares were issued. The gross and net proceeds were
approximately HK$19,440,000 and HK$19,148,000 respectively, of
which HK$1,440,000 (equivalent to S$249,000) was credited to
share capital and the balance of HK$17,708,000 (equivalent to
S$$3,036,000) netted off the transaction costs for issuing shares was
included in share premium account.

A rights issue of 1 rights share for every two existing shares held by
members on the register of member on 18 February 2022 was made,
at an issue price of HK$0.1 per rights share with a par value of
HK$0.1 each, resulting in the issue of 432,000,000 shares. The
theoretical ex-rights price calculated based on the closing price of
HK$0.142 per share as quoted on HKEX on the last trading day, i.e.
19 January 2022, was approximately HK$0.128 per share. The total
consideration amounted to HK$43,200,000 (equivalent to
S$7,469,000), of which HK$4,320,000 (equivalent to S$747,000)
was credited to share capital and remaining as deducting expenses
of HK$1,600,000 (equivalent to S$277,000) to share premium
account. The net price per right share was approximately HK$0.095.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, share options in regard of
the share options granted on 29 September 2022 (see Note 34) were
exercised to subscribe for 18,000,000 ordinary shares (2021: nil) of
the Company at a consideration of HK$1,962,000 (equivalent to
S$355,000), of which HK$180,000 (equivalent to S$33,000) was
credited to share capital, and the balances of HK$1,782,000
(equivalent to S$322,000) was included in the share premium
account. As a result of the exercise of share options, amounting of
HK$382,000 (equivalent to S$67,000) has been released from the
share option reserve to the share premium account.
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120,000,000 f% B& 15 © FT1S 5018 4858 &%
B9 BII4) & 27,000,000 7% 7T & 26,595,000
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33

34

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in both Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) in
Singapore and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong. From 1 January 2017 onwards, the
Group’s contribution rates of the eligible employees’ salaries remain
the same, with each employee’s qualifying salary capped at
S$$6,000 and HK$1,500 per month. No forfeited contributions have
been used by the Group to reduce its exiting level of contributions
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 respectively.

The total cost of S$30,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: S$30,000) from continuing operations charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents contributions paid or payable for retirement
benefit scheme by the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”),
was adopted by a resolution of all the Shareholders of the
Company passed on 22 September 2017 for the primary purpose
of attract and retain the best available personnel and to promote
the success of the business of the Group, and will expire in 10
years from the Date of Grant.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to each eligible participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme of the Company, in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further grant
of options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his close
associates abstaining from voting.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
year commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
was adopted and shall expire at the close of business on the
business day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof
unless terminated earlier by Shareholders in general mesting.
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34 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

On 29 September 2022, the board of directors announces a total
of 60,000,000 share options were granted to certain eligible
participants (“Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for shares of
HK$0.1 each of the Company, representing 4.63% of the total
1,296,000,000 shares issue under the Share Option Scheme of the
Company adopted on 22 September 2017. On 7 December 2022,
The Company announces that, with the mutual agreement between
the Company and the two independent non-executive Directors of
the Company and as approved by the Board, 12,000,000 share
options have been cancelled with effect from 7 December 2022 in
accordance with the terms of the share option scheme of the

Company.

A summary of the movements of the number of share options
under the Scheme for the year is as follows:

34

B ESTE (&)
MN2022F9 290 - EEE@EHAETA
ER2HEE(AEK2HEE])ELEH
60,000,000 17 B A% # LA SR BB AN A &) & i
BO1BITARG (AR ER2017F9
A 22 AN B ERT 8T T B 8ITRN
48 $11,296,000,000 % #J4.63% ° 142022
F12A78  ARREMERARHEARR
AMABLERTEEHRRARAELLES
2t - 12,000,000 B EE RIEA D
AIMEARE ST BBV IERGESE - §20224F 12 A
7 BRBERK o

R
W -

AR TREEEEE 2HIE R

Balance at
1 January
2021 and Granted  Exercised  Cancelled  Balance at
31 December during during during 31December  Exercise  Exercisable
Date of grant 2021 the year the year the year 2022 price  period
NN %
1A18R
0215 N2F
12A31 B R 1283188
Granted to directors on RUTRERTES
29 September 2022 202259 F 298 - 24,000,000 - (120000000 12000000  HK$0.109  29.09.2022
0.10087T  to
28.09.2032
0259R29A8
S
0359288
Granted to employess on RUTHERTES
29 September 2022 2022F9F 298 - 36,000,000  (18,000,000) - 18000000  HK$0.109  29.09.2022
0.109%L 1o
28.09.2032
02%F9R298
S
059R28A
Total &5 - 60,000,000 (18,000,000  (12,000,000) 30,000,000,
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34 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

In respect of share options exercised during the year, the weighted
average share price granted to directors and employees at the
dates of exercise is HK$0.0251 and HK$0.027. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, options were granted on 29 September
2022. The estimated fair values of the options granted on that date

were S$225,000.

These fair values were calculated based on the income approach
technique by using common option pricing models, including but
not limited to Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, Binomial Option
Pricing model, Trinomial Option Pricing Model or Monte Carlo

Simulation etc. The inputs into the model were as follows:
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B RESTE (&)
MENITEMBREMS - RNITHE BB
TESREBRNETFHRER0.0251E
T 0.027 87T - B ZE2022%F 12 31 H Ik
FE o BREN2022F9 A20 Y - B
Z AR R R (H 5 A F{E 4 225,000
T o

ZERNFETDIRBREERMERE R
HREERYGE  8RETRRANR
— SFRHMREEERS —AARETE
B ZIHA AR RER
o RAVBAENT

2022
2022 &

Weighted average share price kg E
Exercise price TE(E
Expected volatility SELENED)
Expected life TEEAF R

L B N
RS ®

Risk-free rate
Expected dividend yield

The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,

exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of S$225,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 in relation to share options granted by

the Company.

HK$0.0251 and HK$0.027
0.02517%8 7T . 0.027 7T
HK$0.109

0.1097 7T

61.37%

10 years 104

3.65%

0%

BARERNERFRERBEERENR
EREETHE A EEN  TERBIMTR
ZERZMPTEETHE -

AEEREZ2022F 12 A31HIEFEH
RN B R B AR RE RE 57 42 B 2 225,000
T -
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35 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Healthcare services segment

35 DRILEEEK
BERE D

R2022F 11 A - B AREBERITINERE
EWBAR (RIMENEBERY) T
EEA - ARFIEERA  N2022F11 A
C8HBEAEHNREZENBE LR ([ FINE
BRMBARDMESIE . Bt 2% - K
NEIE BT REIE S R T%EE - I8
AR MEEENBBERE R
8% o RIS S B 55 R EIARS
REMBLE ARBESEEIUHA G
FIEEEONESE  EE - aERESR

=
= -°

In November 2022, administrator was appointed for the Group’s
major subsidiaries in Singapore which were engaged in healthcare
service in Singapore. The directors of the Company considered that
the control over four 100% owned subsidiaries (“Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries”) as at 28 November 2022 had been lost.
Since then, the directors of the Company neither had control over
the operating and financial activities, nor any access to the
underlying accounting books and records of the Singapore Group.
Due to the lack of control and unavailability of these financial
records of the Singapore Group, the directors of the Company
considered to deconsolidate the results, assets, liabilities and cash
flows of the Singapore Group.

K BN EBUAS OF B B & B FE N

Net assets of the Singapore Group at the date of deconsolidation

were as follows: N
S$'000
F# AT
Property, plant and equipment (Note 17) W - BE MR (BRE17) 1,156

Intangible assets (Note 18) | EE (f3E18) 32
Right-of-use assets (Note 21) fFAREEE (FiE21) 2,484
Inventories EXS 735
Trade and other receivables B 5 K HAbFEWRIR 2,312
Amounts due from former fellow subsidiaries A GIIEEINEINGIE ¢ 4,768
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIIRE 251
Trade and other payables B REAMEMNFIE (3,191)
Contract liabilities aHaE (499)
Lease liabilities HEBE (2,525)
Bank borrowings H|ITER (4,456)
Net assets at deconsolidation BUBE M EEFE 1,067
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries S B AR E R (1,067)
Loss for the period from discontinued operations BRI EEFEHEIRNEE (387)
Financial guarantee provided for disposal subsidiaries gt H & B~ 5112 (L Y B 7S & (R

(Note 28) (Ft5E28) (4,076)
Loss on deconsolidation BUEA SRy E 8 (5,530)
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35 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 35 CARILKEER @)

Healthcare services segment (Continued)

Analysis of the results of the discontinued operations is set out

below:

BRI 2 8 (&)

ERIEREEBZEEDITERIINAT

From
1 January
2022 to From
28 November 1 January
2022 2021 to
(Deconsolidation 31 December
Date) 2021
12022 F
1818% 2021 F
2022 F 1A1BE
11 H28H 2021 &
(RIEEHFEH) 12A31H
$$'000 S$'000
T3 3 T T
Revenue Yeas 9,034 10,051
Other operating income Rk SN 622 401
Consumables and medical supplies used EREREMREERD (1,671) (1,809)
Other direct costs Hih EEMA (287) (382)
Employee benefits expenses BERAAZ (3,985) (4,833)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESRH (12) )
Depreciation of plant and equipment BE RS ETE (449) (621)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE (957) (1,206)
Other operating expenses Hibhic gz (2,503) (3,936)
Finance costs SIS RKAR (179) (227)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade and Z 5 REM IR
other receivables, net RREBERE 258 = 52
Loss before tax BRELRIEE (387) (2,416)
Income tax credit FrEtiEe = 86
Loss for the period/year B/ FREE (387) (2,330)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 FEEAIRS
The remuneration of executive directors of the Company and other ARRMTEEREMEZEEABRA
members of key management personnel during the year was as FEOFHMMT :
follows:
Compensation of key management personnel TEEEAS T

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 £

S$'000 S$'000
F # 03 T F #7003 TT

Salaries, performance bonus and other benefits 4+ RIFIEAL R H b1 F 1,610 2,100
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 3R {k i@ FI| 5T 2] 4 2 12 26
Share-based payment VARG AR 2 (R 5k IR 225 -

1,847 2,126
In addition to the provision of personal guarantee from directors of MRanfisE29 M 30T - KA RIEEMASE
the Company for the Group’s lease liabilities and borrowings as B Ea@ETREREEAERZIN
disclosed in notes 29 and 30, the Group has the following balances RNEBER LA T BT &8 ¢

with related parties:

2022 2021
2022 F 2021
Name of related party Relationship Nature of business S$$°000 S$'000
)kt 22RES ERME F 37 03K T T3 N4 T
Dr. Loh Director Prepayment - 315
Loh & = TERTRUIR
Dr. Loh Director Amount due to a director (Note a) - 6
Loh &8 =% FEZEEFIE (Mista)
BERAMHAEREESE  Arcated party Amount due to a related party 2,493 -
BIRAT] (Note b)
BERAHA@BEEE BEES e B8 5 7B (5 b)
BRAA
Notes: Mk
a. The amount was unsecured interest free and repayable on demand. a. ZeRARERCERRERERER -
b. The amount due to a related party is unsecured, interest-free and b. FEREE S REAERT R ERAR
repayable on 9 March 2025. The related party is under the common 20253 AOBEE - MW IR AR
control of a director of the Company. Al —REEHRFES -
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37 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

37 XARETEMBLARFHE

Place of Attributable equity
incorporation/ interests of the Group Issued and fully paid
operation and date of and the respective voting share capital as at
Name of Company incorporation right held by the Group as at date of this report Principal activities
NEAER EMRYL BB R AEBEERE REREBANSBRTR TEEH
AR B 5 REKE BRERAE
FrEHERRE
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2022 20214
12A31H 12A31H
Directly held
EERE
Unified Front Limited BVI/Singapore 8 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of Investment holding.
December 2016 US$1,542,506 (equivalent to
approximately S$2,164,000)
Unified Front Limited RERTES,/HIHK 1,642,506 % T (HHE R REER -
201612 A8 H 2,164,000 F7 N4 7L)
RMH (Hong Kong) Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of Provision of medical aesthetic
Holdings Limited 2 October 2018 HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to services and sale of skin
approximately S$1,752,000) care products and was
remained dormant during
the year.
B (B8 ER BB/ % 10,000,000 7T (FAE R4 RUBEIARBE R
BRAT 201810 A 2H 1,752,000 #7 13% 7T ) &) & Ak HEREERBNER
WERRER -
Desimei Medical Hangzhou/China 100% 100% - Inactive
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd 9 December 2021
(Note a)
BTSRRI (M) M,/ RI )
BRAA (Mita) 2021412 A9H
Indirectly held
BEEE
Dermatology & Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$900 Provision of all-round
Surgery Clinic Pte Ltd 5 September 2013 dermatology treatment
solutions, specialised in
skin cancer, skin diseases
and aesthetic procedures.
Dermatology & s Hns 900 #T AN TT 8 & @ AR REZFAUKERHARERR
Surgery Clinic Pte Ltd 201349 A5 H AE EIREER -
R ERRERTFMW -
Dermatology & Surgery  Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Provision of all-round
Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd 20 January 2014 dermatology treatment
solutions, specialised in
skin cancer, skin diseases
and aesthetic procedures.
Dermatology & Surgery ¥ IN3% /¥ hnsk 300FT N TR B RE2FUEBER AR
Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd 201441 520 A AE EIREER -
R ERRERTFMW -
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37 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

37 ARTEEMEQAFE @

Place of Attributable equity
incorporation/ interests of the Group Issued and fully paid
operation and date of and the respective voting share capital as at
Name of Company incorporation right held by the Group as at date of this report Principal activities
DREER RSB ER AEBEERE REFEBHNERTR TEEHK
A B REKE BRRA
P HERERE
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2022 2021
12A31H 124318
Indirectly held
(Continued)
B#5E ()
Dermatology & Surgery  Singapore/Singapore6 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Provision of all-round
Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd  February 2014 dermatology treatment
solutions, specialised in
skin cancer, skin diseases
and aesthetic procedures.
Dermatology & Surgery ¥ N3% /¥ hlsk 300FT N TR T B RE2FUEBERIAERR
Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd 201442 A6 H FE EIREER
K ERRERTF -
RMH Family Clinic Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Provision of community
Pte Ltd 6 March 2018 dermatology services
for less complicated
dermatological conditions
and non-invasive medical
aesthetic treatments.
RMH Family Clinic BT,/ 3% 300 7 3K 7T 8 iAk BREENREMRRRE
Pte Ltd 201843 A6H AR BT E IR %
ERAIBEEERNAR
DS Skin & Aesthetics Singapore/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Specialised Medical Services
Clinic Pte Ltd 16 July 2020 (Including Day Surgical
Centers).
DS Skin & Aesthetics Gl VI 300 7 3% T A E Ak ERBERG
Clinic Pte Ltd 20207 A 16 H (BERBEFMHL) -
RMH Imaging Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$1,000 Provision of diagnostic &
5 August 2020 (equivalent to approximately screening service offered
5$180) through imaging machines,
including but not limited to
Computed Tomography
Scanner (CT), Magnetic
Resonance Imaging (MRI),
Ultrasounds (US) and
Mammography (MG)
RMH Imaging Limited BE/BE 1,000 7T BBYERRADE R
202068 A5H (&R 47180314 TT) BHRS - 2RETRR
NERR BIEERE CT)
ik IR MR~ BEK
(US) RALBEF MG)
DS Regenerative Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$1,000 Trading of health supplement
Medicine Limited 8 June 2020 (equivalent to approximately and skin care products
5$175)
BEHBAREERLR  BE/BA 1,0007 7T ERmRmR
20206 A8H (FERL1755 A% T) KEERERES
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37 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37 ZATITEMEB LD TS @)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Attributable equity

incorporation/ interests of the Group Issued and fully paid

operation and date of and the respective voting share capital as at
Name of Company incorporation right held by the Group as at  date of this report Principal activities
NEAER EASL, B MR AEEEERE REREBANSBRTR TEEHR

AR B REKE BERAE

FrsHRRRE
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
12H31H 12A31H

Indirectly held

(Continued)

BEREE (#)

DES (Shenzhen) Shenzhen/China 100% 100% - Trading of health supplement
Enterprise 22 October 2020 and skin care products
Development Co., Ltd
(Note a)

BE ORI B EBRE Y/ HE REMREEERES
BRAF (fita) 202010 A 22 A

Zhongshan Des Zhongshan/China 100% 100% - Inactive
Enterprise 3 December 2021
Management Co., Ltd
(Note b)

Pl EER L,/ HE RIS
BRAR (f7Eb) 202112 A3H

ERREEERAR Hong Kong/Hong Kong 70% 70%  Ordinary shares of HK$10 Inactive

30 December 2021 (equivalent to approximately
S$2)
BETBYERRAR BE/BE 10787 (HERL 25T K L) RIS
2021412 4308 & B

Zhongshan Des Zhongshan/China 70% - Dental Clinic
Oral Clinic Ltd. 20 May 2022

FILTHEE AR 2 HL,/HE mpEsEs
BRAF 2022458 20H
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37

196

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Unified Front Limited, RMH (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited and
Desimei Medical (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd are directly held by the
Company. All other subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.
All entities comprising the Group are limited liability companies and
have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the year.

The non-controlling interests of the Group is not material to the
Group.

Notes:

(a) The company was incorporated as limited liability company (Taiwan,
Hong Kong and Macau legal person sole proprietorship) in the PRC.

(b) The company was incorporated as limited liability company (wholly
owned foreign enterprise) in the PRC.
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38 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38 A EM B AR R R AR R &
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the BREARNQBRHRE AR SR T RAOER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: mr

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 £

$$°000 S$'000
FHMBPET — THIET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

Non-current assets FREBEE

Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR E 3,353 3,353

Plant and equipment BB M %A 1 -
3,354 3,353

Current assets RBEE

Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE BT BB R R 5k TE 6,895 4,049

Other receivables H fth e M GRIE 42 350

Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABENEHEE

through profit or loss 1,607 616

Bank balances and cash RITEHREIR S 350 197
8,894 5,212

Current liabilities REBERE

Amounts due to subsidiaries JEASHIY B A R 5k TE = 5,940

Other payables and accruals H e R FERTROR 5,712 152

Borrowings & 182 -

Financial guarantee liabilities VB EREE 4,076 -
9,970 6,092

Net current liabilities REAETEE (1,076) (880)

Net assets FEE 2,278 2,473

EQUITY s

Capital and reserves BEAXRFE

Share capital [N 2,273 1,493

Reserves EE 5 980

Equity attributable to owners KATREEAELES

of the Company 2,278 2,473

2022 e o BB PR A T 197



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&3 o W s R A B R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

38

39

198

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The movement of the Company’s capital and reserves is as follows:

38 7T MBI AR R R AR O R

()
ARNTRARGEESBIT -

Foreign
Share currency
Share Share option Other translation Accumulated
capital T reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RA RoEE BRERE Hitfts HNEREGHE RitER @t
S$'000 $$'000 $$'000 S$'000 S$'000 $$'000 S$'000
THmEr  FEMET  FTEIMET FEMET TEET TR TR
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1 818 1,037 9,589 - 3,363 - (8,451) 5,528
Loss and total comprehensive FRABERZARY
expense for the year ek - - - - - (10,933) (10,933)
Issuing of shares by placing FREEETRN 456 7,542 - - - - 7,998
Transaction costs attributable BRREETRNE
to issue of shares by placing EERSHA - (120) - - - - (120)
At 31 December 2021 and R2021 6128318
1 January 2022 R202F1818 1,493 17,011 - 3,363 - (19,384) 2,473
Loss and total comprehensive FRABRRZARY
expense for the year ekl - - - - - (7,971) (7.971)
Issuing of shares by placing FERREETRG 747 6,722 - - - - 7,469
Transaction costs attributable BRREETRNE
toissue of shares by placing EER SRR - @r7) - - - - (277)
Share-based payment recognised BRARA R - - 225 - - - 205
Exercise of share options TR 33 393 67) - - - 359
Cancellation of share options FAEARE - - (46) - - 46 -
Effect of change of functional cunency ~ e S¥EEFE - - - - 15 (15) -
At 31 December 2022 20225128318 2,273 23,849 112 3,353 15 (27,324) 2,278
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30 BEAEBSE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
retun to owners of the Company through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged in 2022 and 2021.

The capital structure of the Group represents borrowings and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through issue of shares, payment of dividends and return of capital
to shareholders.
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40 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

40 £@T A
tMIESSE

2022 2021
2022 4 20214
S$’000 S$'000
F 50 T FHANS T
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEEXAAENEREE 5,468 7,251
Financial assets at fair value FVTPL BEAFEFABENSRMEE 1,607 616
Finance lease receivables B & FE U R IE = 18
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BN AARNERBE 11,037 7,908
Financial guarantee liabilities VBEREE 4,076 -
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,678 6,067

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (interest rate risk, other price risk and currency risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group does not have any exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk. As at 31 December 2022, the management considers the
Group’s exposure to cash-flow interest rate risk arising from
variable rate borrowings as minimal. The Group’s consolidated
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income are
not affected by the changes in interest rates as the interest-bearing
instruments carry fixed interest.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy.
However, management of the Group closely monitors its exposure
to interest rate risk as a result of change on market interest rate and
will consider hedging changes in market interest rates should the
need arise.

TRREREERBERBE

ZESTRMTANFBEREHEMERSE - 8
ZEem TABENRReET SRR (R
xR - HthERRRREERR)  EE
B MnBE SRR o TXHEHIBEZE
ﬁE’JEﬁZ ZKE@E.IEE.EE&M?E

@AdE - RRSEABUREUEE R

G Ek
FZ 7 B
AEBVEARTMARESRENEAR -
R2022F 12 A31H BEERARNEH
A2 REFREENEERARARE
WMo ARFTETANTEEMNE A%
ENGAEEMEMEmKERT TE A
RBEFTHE o

NEE B AT & R ERECR o AW - KR
SEEBEETIERAE R MISHEEE
B R @B - WP B E E RS
) % g 8
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40

200

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in
listed equity securities for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
management manages the exposure to equity price risk of
investments in listed equity securities by closely monitoring
fluctuation of these investments.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the

exposure to equity price risks relating to held-for-trading equity
instruments investments at the reporting date.

If the price of the respective equity instruments had been 5%
higher/lower, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December
2022 would decrease/increase by S$80,000 (2021: S$31,000) as a
result of the changes.

Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy,
but the management will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure as necessary. The Group manages the foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency exchange rates.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, except for the followings, the
Group does not have significant financial assets or financial liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional
currencies of the respective group companies. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary
assets at the end of each reporting period are as follows.
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40 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40 €T A @)
Financial risk management objectives and SHEREEBERBE(#E)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) Hig A ()
Currency risk (Continued) Exmpe ()

Assets
BE
2022 2021

2022 2021 £
S$’000 S$'000
F $7hn3 T F# AT

HK$S BT - 23

Liabilities
=L
2022 2021

2022 F 2021 £
S$’000 S$'000
F $7 b0 T F# AT

S$ gt (8,839) -
In regard of change of functional currency of the Company as at 31 KAAIR2022F 12 A1 HE B IHEEE
December 2022 as disclosed in Note 3, the Group is mainly (A FESHE)  NEBRFTEAZHN
exposed to the foreign currency risk of S$ (2021: HK$) against the Wt (20214 : Br) KB EEEEREHI
functional currencies of each group entity. e 2 NS R o

The following table indicates the approximate change in the T FRFRBANE B E T (20216 8
Group’s loss for the year in response to 5% (2021: 5%) increase or JC) R ESEEE 2R EEIE =R
decrease in S$ (2021: HK$) against the functional currencies of 5% (2021 4F : 5% ) (RNIREPAREAEEHE
each group entity to which the Group has significant exposure at FRERRE) MBEFNEE LR
the end of reporting period. A sensitivity rate of 5% (2021: 5%) on o FLENBIT(20214F - BIL)ME © 5%
S$ (2021: HK$) represents management’s assessment of the (2021 4F : 5%) HY B RR 3R /5 B 12 J& 360 5 AN
reasonably possible change in S$ (2021: HK$) exchange rate. $or (2021 F B [BEXR 2 5] ge iR

BIET A o
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40 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40 SEIT A @)
Financial risk management objectives and SERAMREEBEREE(HE)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) Hig R ()
Currency risk (Continued) Exmm ()

2022 2021

2022 F 20214
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)

in loss in loss
BiRE M, 7181
O 2)

S$°000 S$'000
F 7 03 T T 37003 T

Increase in foreign exchange rate HNESTE R 18 A 442 Q)
Decrease in foreign exchange rate SN TE D (442) 1
In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative BIEERE BRREHRNFTRAR

of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure at ERMEANRE  ZBRES *ﬁﬁiﬁi‘%
the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during BB INE R o

the year.

Credit risk EERE

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its EERBRIESFIEREBITEANEE
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. At MEBAEEREYHBHENRRE - R#
the end of reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to HHIR - NEBERBEF T REE TTEET
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to EERMNY BEEMAENTREER
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from ?%%Iﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁﬁ/\??éﬁﬁ%ﬁkﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ@ R
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets RIRRTEE -

as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has delegated its finance ABREERBBRERK AEEEERE
team to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to B 75 B B %‘JE&L_L$$IE’M§E%%& '
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default. NIBEHRENRROIEEHRBETS
The finance team uses publicly available financial information and o MBBERFA ARREHTBER
the Group’s own historical repayment records to rate its major DAEEEBNBEERCHUETER
customers and debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit FREBEAETHER AEESTHER
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the HEEHRBREREFHFOEETL  ME
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst TR GEEERZELZAENEFH
approved counterparties. pabar:
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40 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the

following categories:

Category

£z

Performing

Doubtful

R

In default

EH

Write-off

40 £@T H#E)
SREREEEZEREEK(®)

FERR ()
AEERBHERERRIEERSEAT

Description
1t

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not
have any past-due amounts.
HFEFHELNRBRKE B EaieE -

Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

SHEAHS308  HEERRE BRBERUKRE
A& 7+ -

Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence
indicating the asset is credit-impaired.
TRIDEHIS00R @ SAEBREREED HREEME -

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.
FBEBETEBARNREVBEE - BAREE
B I 75 B U EIFRE o

Basis for recognising ECL

BRAAHNFEBENEE

12-month ECL

T-EAEREEER

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

EREMEMEEER —

EELESIE

Lifetime ECL — credit impaired

FaBHEREERE — FEERE

Amount is written off

TR
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40

204

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

40

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial
assets as well as maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk
rating grades:

€I A @
SREAKEEEZERIEEK(®)
EERE(E)

TERHAIARESREENEEERUR
REERBRFREDOHRREERR

Gross
Internal credit carrying Loss Net carrying
rating month or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
RABEETER T-EARLEHENRBEERRE BERE{E EREE BRI HE
$000 $000 $'000
TR FAET  FEET
2022
20226
Trade receivables 24 0 Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 1,539 (70) 1,469
BHEKFE EHBERRREEEE(HERE)
Trade receivables 24 0 Ln‘etime ECL (in default) 1,584 (1,584) -
B SRR FaBBEREEEHE(ED)
Other receivables 24 @ 12-month ECL 599 (19) 580
Hiw A T EARHEESE
Other receivables 24 @ 12-month ECL (in default) 743 (743) -
Hih IR TEAEEEEEE (B1)
Amount owing from a joint 24 @ Lifetime ECL (in default) 1,757 (1,757) -
venture
—HAERABERHE EaBEBEREEEE(ED)
Deposits 24 @ 12-month ECL 3,003 - 3,003
B T AEBEEER
2021
20215
Trade receivables 24 0 Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 2,230 (779) 1,451
B SRR EnBEBEREEEE(HERE)
Other receivables 24 @ 12-month ECL 1,039 (35) 1,004
Hib R T A ARBEEER
Amount owing from a joint 24 @ Lifetime ECL 1,898 (1,898) -
venture
—HEERAERTE EnBREREEER
Finance lease receivables 19 @ Lifetime ECL 18 - 18
BABORNE EnBEREREESE
Deposits 24 @ 12-month ECL 2,658 - 2,658
ez o T EARSREEER

M The Group determines the expected credit losses on trade
receivables by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical
credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors,
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of

future economic conditions.

@ The Group determines that these receivables are not past due and
have low risk of default, apart from those receivables which credit risk
is assessed to have increased significantly since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

40 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has adopted procedures in extending credit terms to
customers and in monitoring its credit risk. The Group only grants
credit to creditworthy counterparties. Cash is held with creditworthy

institutions.

Top 3 corporate customers of the Group accounts for
approximately 58% of the trade receivables for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: 40%). Management assesses and monitors
credit risk and debt collection efforts on a regular basis. Allowance

for potential credit losses is adjusted when necessary.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach in managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group’s reputation. The Group monitors its liquidity risk and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management of the Group to finance the Group’s operations
and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Typically,
the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on hand to meet
expected operational expenses; this excludes the potential impact
of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted,

such as natural disaster.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest

date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount

is derived from interest rate at the end of each reporting period.

40

£RTI A @
SREREEEZEREEK(®)

FERRE ()

AEECRMEFEREPEREHARESR
EERR AEEEREERIORIY
TERHEE - RETHRNERRIFOKE -

REBEHN=KAREFPIGE E2022F12
A31AILLFERE FEWNRIALI58% (2021
F40%) EEETHIHEREREZER
G REFEIRTIE - BEEEBEREER
BEREERELRAE -

RBESRR

AEBEERBESNNEZEN —REE
MBERTEREREBRARDESEN
AHaE MASELABEAENELRS
BEASERE AEBFERERPES
Rfe  WHEBSAEBEERERREARN
AEELENRERSREIDFENE
ERBREEBWKF - —KRM 5 AKH
HMREFHER S BARNARKLLEH
ERBRRANFEEAE BN ER
ZEEZE -

TRALAREFTESHBBERHEE
REHMNSRT A ORBIER - ZRRIIRIE
AEBEAXNNEFZ AN B A GRS
RN REMGIE

=

FRBEABRESRSHE  HF SR
BATHNE  AKERSHEEE BEH
RIFIEISH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

40 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40 €T A @)
Financial risk management objectives and cREREEBERBE (#H)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity tables REBESR

Carrying

Weighted amount at
average Total the end of
effective Within 2to5 undiscounted the reporting
interest rate 1 year years cash flows date

REH RS R

il B RERE ERH
BRA= 15/ PELES ag REE
S$'000 $$'000 S5$'000 S$'000

THT IR THT KT THT IR T THTISTT

At 31 December 2022 R2022%F 12 A31H
Non-derivative financial {74 4REE

liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 E B[ FE N/A N A 8,362 - 8,362 8,362
Lease liabilities HEAR 2.66-3.00 1,670 1,076 2,746 2,678
Borrowings (Note 30) &3 (330 12.38-19.00 182 - - 182
Amount due toarelated  FE{J BB 5 FUE

party N/A TEE - 2,493 2,493 2,493
Financial guarantee HRERER

liabilities (Note 28) (FiE28) 3.00-4.50 4,076 - - 4,076

At 31 December 2021 202112 4318
Non-derivative financial {74 SREE

liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 Rk 2t fEfT 58 N/ATEA 2,639 277 2,916 2,916
Lease liabilties HEBRE 2.66-3.00 2,685 3,635 6,320 6,067
Borrowings =% 3.00-4.50 1,454 3,851 5,305 4,992
Fair value NEE
Management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of NREFBESEREBRAE  IREBIEKAYENS
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost MEERSBRABGEZEREREA N TER
approximate their fair values. o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

41 COMMITMENTS

42

Commitments for the software and
development cost and plant and equipment

RAEESE

Contracted but not provided BRTAVEREE

41 EiE

S R BB DA B B

2022
2022 &

2021
2021
S$'000
T3 N4 T

$$°000
TFH g T

= 5,490

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
major non-cash transactions are related to new leases for the
use of rented properties and plant and equipment as well as
sublease arrangements entered by the Group. Details are set
out in Note 21.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, in regard of early
termination of lease arrangement, S$1,700,000 lease
liabilities with S$267,000 acceleration of interest expenses
are recognised to profit or loss have transferred as other
payables.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

42

REREREBRMEE

(a)

(b)

2022 e o BB PR A T

FEHFBRERH

H F 20224 2021512 A31 8 IF
FE - FEIREXHEFEBREAD
HUARBE REEHHEHERANER
SO L AR - BN
21 o

HZE2022F 12 A31 BILFE © 5ii2
FRIEEELZHEmMs HEEE
1,700,000 ¥ hn# 7t (G2 R AR F1) . 5
267,000 %7 103 7T ) JThi B ERR
RARE PN IS E I

METHELENEBENHER

TRV ASEEREGHMELN
BENEY ERESMFREE
B-mMEIDEENEBER/ERER
ERARKRERBLEHHENES
REREXTOERBEZDRER
EMARE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

42 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 42 #ZABESHKEXRMIT @)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) AETBHELNEBENEIRGE
financing activities (Continued)

Amount
Lease due to a
Borrowings liabilities  related party Total

B HEEE EAHBAIRE #3t
$$°000 $$°000 $$°000 $$°000
T3 g o T3 Mg T T 3 3K T T3 IR T

Balance at 1 January 2022 R2022F 1 A1 B&# 4,992 6,067 = 11,059
Changes from financing cash ~ RIAR S RBE
flows:
— Interest paid - BRHME (44) (40) = (84)
— Advance from a related party — FgEE 5= - = 2,493 2,493
— Drawndown from — ERRIVER
borrowings 182 - - 182
— Prepayment of lease liabilities — FAE & EEM - (2,845) = (2,845)
— Repayment of borrowings ~ — (&8 1E3% (536) = = (536)
Total changes from financing RERSRELDET
cash flows (398) (2,885) 2,493 (790)
Non-cash changes: R
— New lease liabilties —MEHERE - 3,781 = 3,781
— Interest expense (Note 11)  — R &R (ffizE11) 44 174 = 218
— Disposal of subsidiaries — BB
through discontinued REEHHE
operation HBAR (4,456) (2,525) = (6,981)
— Reversal of provision of - RERIHE
renovation upon early HRE R ELE
termination of lease BfE
agreement - (93) = (93)
— Transfer to other payable — EAEMENTE - (1,916) = (1,916)
— Exchange alignments — [ER TR - 75 - 75
(4,412) (504) - (4,916)
Balance at 31 December 2022 A 2022 % 12 A 31 HAs 44 182 2,678 2,493 5,353
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

42 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 42 #Z4E&HRERME (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) RETBELMNEBENHERGE
financing activities (Continued)

Lease

Borrowings liabilities Total
B35 st

B TA
S$$°000 S$'000 S$'000
TSI FEIET  FEIET

Balance at 1 January 2021 7202191 A1 BEE# 5,673 6,083 11,756

Changes from financing cash flows: F&R & REES) :

— Interest paid — BRFLE (176) (164) (340)
— Prepayment of lease liabilities — HEBERNTIE - (3,040) (3,040)
— Repayment of borrowings — EEREX (681) - (681)
Total changes from financing RERSREL R
cash flows (857) (8,204) (4,061)
Non-cash changes: RSB
— New lease liabilities — FEHEAE - 2,950 2,950
— Interest expense (Note 11) — FBFZ (HFE11) 176 164 340
— Exchange alignments — [EH AR - 74 74
176 3,188 3,364
Balance at 31 December 2021 R 20214F 12 A 31 B 4,992 6,067 11,059
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

43 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 8 February 2023, the substantive hearing (the “Substantive
Hearing”) in respect of the three summons (without notice) filed by
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong with the High Court of the Republic of
Singapore (the “Singapore Court”) in relation to the three
subsidiaries of the Company in Singapore was held pursuant to

which, the Singapore Court, amongst others, ordered that:

1. Dermatology & Surgery Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd be placed
under judicial management and Mr. Cameron Lindsay
Duncan (“Mr. Cameron”) and Mr. David Dong-Won Kim (“Mr.
David”) from KordaMentha Pte Ltd be appointed as its joint

and several judicial managers (“Judicial Managers”); and

2. the affairs, business and property of Dermatology & Surgery
Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd be managed by the Judicial
Managers during the period in which the order for the

appointment of Judicial Managers is in force.

During the Substantive Hearing, the Singapore Court also granted
leave for withdrawal of the applications for judicial management
orders for Dermatology & Surgery Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd and
Dermatology & Surgery Clinic Pte Ltd (together with Dermatology &
Surgery Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd, the “Relevant Subsidiaries”). As
such, the provisional liquidation of Dermatology & Surgery Clinic
(Shenton) Pte Ltd and Dermatology & Surgery Clinic Pte Ltd will
resume and an extraordinary general meeting and a creditors
meeting will be convened to place Dermatology & Surgery Clinic
(Shenton) Pte Ltd and Dermatology & Surgery Clinic Pte Ltd into
voluntary liquidation and the appointment of liquidators will be

proposed.
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7202342 A8 H  HtlLoh Teck Hiong &
A N3 R0 B i A B (137 b3 & B 1)
RRPRARBREFIMEH =RME A A
B REEREBA) BRETEMRM(E
BMERELD - B FTINEERAES ¢

1. Dermatology & Surgery Clinic (Orchard)
Peltd’E # ¥ Al A & B~ M
KordaMentha Pte Ltd #) Cameron
Lindsay Duncan?t 4 ([ Cameronst 4 |)
¥ David Dong-Won Kim %t 4 ([David
S ) EZERE LR RERRNEE
BA(BNEEREAD : &

2. REBZERIEEEAMNGS AR
fi + Dermatology & Surgery Clinic
(Orchard) Pte Lid W) E 7% « %74 &8
ERAEEEBATHE

BB B HAR - AN IR 3t
[5] Dermatology & Surgery Clinic (Shenton)
Pte Ltd } Dermatology & Surgery Clinic
Pte Ltd (& [/ Dermatology & Surgery Clinic
(Orchard) Pte Ltd » [ 1B B A =] 1) B #
AEBIEm LR E o Bt - Dermatology
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EERESRE UTREERSIKRERE R
B AEE A # Dermatology & Surgery
Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd & Dermatology &
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z 2022 4F 12 A 31 A 1FE/E

43 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

The Company will work closely with the Judicial Managers and
provisional liquidators to resolve issues (if any) identified by them in
the Relevant Subsidiaries. As a result of the judicial management
and liquidations, the financial results of the Relevant Subsidiaries
are deconsolidated from those of the Group, by which the revenue,
performance and financial position of the Group are materially and
adversely affected.

On 283 March 2023, the Company received four letters from the
Judicial Managers (the “Judicial Managers”) and the provisional
liquidators (the “Provisional Liquidators”) of the certain subsidiaries
of the Company, namely, Dermatology & Surgery Clinic (Orchard)
Pte Ltd, Dermatology & Surgery Clinic Pte Ltd, Dermatology &
Surgery Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd and RMH Family Clinic Pte Ltd
(collectively as the “Relevant Subsidiaries”), pursuant to which the
Judicial Managers and the provisional liquidators demanded the
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong,
namely, RMH (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited, RMH Imaging Limited
and DS Regenerative Medicine Limited, to pay an aggregate
outstanding amount of approximately S$6.6 million to the
respective Relevant Subsidiaries.

43 REEE@E

RARHEADEEEARBRERARR
BF RERRER BB AR ERLY
RE(IMAE) HRADEERRBE - HH
MEBARNMEEE BN AEE NI
XEHAAR  WHAKBEHKA - X5
REBARRNERERTNEE -

202343 238  ARARIWEIRAFE
T K B 2 7 ( B Dermatology & Surgery
Clinic (Orchard) Pte Ltd * Dermatology &
Surgery Clinic Pte Ltd » Dermatology &
Surgery Clinic (Shenton) Pte Ltd &2 RMH
Family Clinic Pte Ltd (457 [ 18BN B R &) 1)
WEDEERA([GDEE R AL KGR 52
A(TERE A L) A E 14 - kS K
e AUEB B ARBRIEEAZRKAR
AIRARBIMLREEE THE R (B2
Hr (& B )R AR 2 F - RMH Imaging
Limited R 2T B =B E2FR A ) M & H
BB AR Z I REERESXLN66EE
s oT o
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Financial Summary

A B

For the year ended 31 December
BE12A1ALEE

2019 2020 2021 2022

20194 2020 FF 2021 2022 F

S$°000 S$000 S$’000 S$°000

F 37N T T3 N T TN T T N3 7T

(from

continuing

operations)

(RERFE

RESULTS E

Revenue Uz 7,225 7,809 10,289 4,241
Profit/(loss) before taxation BERDER, (E538) 379 (9,197 (8,871) (13,127)
Income tax (credit/expenses  FrER (3 E) B (221) (75) 86 -
Profit/(loss) for the year FRERF (&) 158 (9,272) (8,785) (13,127)

As at 31 December
M12H31H
2019 2020 2021 2022

20194 20204 2021 4 2022 &
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 $$°000
FH AT FH AT F# AT T 57 003 T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ER&ARE

Total assets BEE 25,654 20,490 18,907 12,396
Total liabilities waE 10,910 14,959 14,340 18,692
Total equity (deficit) @RS (B4t 14,744 5,531 4,567 (6,296)
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